HAMILTON-JACOBI THEORY IN MULTISYMPLECTIC CLASSICAL FIELD THEORIES

Manuel de León*

Instituto de Ciencias Matemáticas (CSIC-UAM-UC3M-UCM). C/ Nicolás Cabrera 15. Campus Cantoblanco UAM. 28049 Madrid. Spain

> Pedro Daniel Prieto-Martínez[†] Narciso Román-Roy[‡]

Departamento de Matemática Aplicada IV. Edificio C-3, Campus Norte UPC C/ Jordi Girona 1. 08034 Barcelona. Spain

SILVIA VILARIÑO[§]

Centro Universitario de la Defensa de Zaragoza & I.U.M.A. Academia General Militar. Carretera de Huesca s/n. 50090 Zaragoza, Spain.

April 9, 2015

Abstract

The geometric framework for the Hamilton-Jacobi theory developed in [14, 17, 39] is extended for multisymplectic first-order classical field theories. The Hamilton-Jacobi problem is stated for the Lagrangian and the Hamiltonian formalisms of these theories as a particular case of a more general problem, and the classical Hamilton-Jacobi equation for field theories is recovered from this geometrical setting. Particular and complete solutions to these problems are defined and characterized in several equivalent ways in both formalisms, and the equivalence between them is proved. The use of distributions in jet bundles that represent the solutions to the field equations is the fundamental tool in this formulation. Some examples are analyzed and, in particular, the Hamilton-Jacobi equation for non-autonomous mechanical systems is obtained as a special case of our results.

Key words: Classical field theories; Hamilton-Jacobi equations; Multisymplectic manifolds AMS s. c. (2010): 53C15, 53C80, 70S05, 35F21, 70H20

^{*} **e**-mail: mdeleon@icmat.es

 $^{^{\}dagger}\mathbf{e}\text{-}mail:$ peredaniel@ma4.upc.edu

[‡]**e**-*mail*: nrr@ma4.upc.edu

[§]e-*mail*: silviavf@unizar.es

Contents

1	Intr	roduction	2
2	Geometrical background		4
	2.1	Multisymplectic geometry	4
	2.2	First-order jet bundles	5
	2.3	Multivector fields	7
3	$\mathrm{Th}\epsilon$	e Hamilton-Jacobi problem in the Lagrangian formalism	9
	3.1	The generalized Lagrangian Hamilton-Jacobi problem $\ . \ . \ . \ . \ . \ . \ .$	10
	3.2	The Lagrangian Hamilton-Jacobi problem	15
	3.3	Complete solutions	17
4	The Hamilton-Jacobi problem in the Hamiltonian formalism		17
	4.1	The generalized Hamiltonian Hamilton-Jacobi problem	18
	4.2	The Hamiltonian Hamilton-Jacobi problem	21
	4.3	Complete solutions	23
	4.4	Equivalence with the Lagrangian formalism	23
5	Examples		26
	5.1	Non-autonomous dynamical systems	26
	5.2	Quadratic Lagrangian densities	31
	5.3	Minimal surfaces in dimension three	35
6	Cor	clusions and further research	40

1 Introduction

The Hamilton-Jacobi theory, as it is classically presented in the textbooks and works on analytical mechanics, is a way to integrate Hamilton equations (that is, a system of first-order ordinary differential equations), which consists in giving an appropriate canonical transformation leading the system to equilibrium [3, 33, 55]. This transformation is constructed from its generating function which, in this method, is obtained as the solution to a partial differential equation: the so-called Hamilton-Jacobi equation. This method is based on a famous contribution from Hamilton on geometric optics, where he showed that the propagation of wavefronts is characterized by a function (the characteristic function) which is the solution to a first-order partial differential equation called *eikonal equation*, which is related to the Hamilton-Jacobi equation. Thus, from a purely mathematical perspective, the Hamilton-Jacobi theory is a very important example showing the deep connection between systems of first-order ordinary differential equations and first-order partial differential equations [54]. The Hamilton-Jacobi equation appears also when short-wave approximations for the solutions of wave-type (hyperbolic) equations are considered. In this way, from a physical point of view, being a classical equation, it is also very close to the Schrödinger equation of quantum mechanics, since from a complete solution to the Hamilton-Jacobi equation, we are able to reconstruct an approximate solution to the Schrödinger equation [27, 48] and thus it allows to establish an approach within classical theory of the notions of wave function and state in quantum theory.

For all these reasons, Hamilton-Jacobi theory is a matter of continuous interest, and it was studied and generalized also in other classical ambients; in particular, for constrained systems arising from singular Lagrangians (gauge theories) [21] or also for higher-order dynamics [20].

Furthermore, in the last decades, great efforts have been done in understanding physical systems from a geometric perspective. Concerning to geometric mechanics, the intrinsic formulation of Hamilton-Jacobi equation is also clear and can be found in [1, 46, 47]. In addition, in [14] a generic geometric framework for the Hamilton-Jacobi theory was formulated both in the Lagrangian and the Hamiltonian formalisms, for autonomous and non-autonomous mechanics, recovering the usual Hamilton-Jacobi equation as a special case in this generalized framework. In particular, it is shown that the existence of constants of motion helps to solve the Hamilton-Jacobi problem, which can be regarded as a way to describe the dynamics on the phase space of the system in terms of a family of vector fields on a submanifold of it. The basic ideas of this generalization of the Hamilton-Jacobi formalism are similar to those outlined in [35].

These geometric frameworks have been used by other authors to develop the Hamilton-Jacobi theory in many different situations in mechanics. For instance, the statement and applications of the Hamilton-Jacobi method for non-holonomic and holonomic mechanical systems is done in [8, 16, 40, 32, 49, 50], the geometric treatment of the theory for dynamical systems described by singular Lagrangians is analyzed in [37, 42, 43], the application to control theory is given in [6, 61, 62], and the generalization for higher-order dynamical systems is established in [18, 19]. Moreover, the Hamilton-Jacobi theory has been extended for mechanical systems which are described using more general geometrical frameworks, such as Lie algebroids [4, 36], almost-Poisson manifolds [44], and fiber bundles in general [17], and the relationship between the Hamilton-Jacobi equation and some other geometric structures in mechanics are analyzed in [7, 15]. Finally, the geometric discretization of the Hamilton-Jacobi equation is also considered in [5, 51].

The extension of the Hamilton-Jacobi theory for first-order classical field theories has been developed for different covariant formulations (k-symplectic and k-cosymplectic) in the Hamiltonian formalism [41, 45] and also for the non-covariant Hamiltonian formulation (Cauchy data space) [10]. A first quick approach to state the Hamilton-Jacobi equation for the most general framework (the multisymplectic one) was outlined in [39], also in the Hamiltonian formalism. Furthermore, using a different approach involving connections, the theory has been generalized to higher-order field theories [59] and also for partial differential equations in general [60].

The aim of this paper is to complete these previous developments; that is, to use the guidelines stated in the aforementioned references on the Hamilton-Jacobi theory in geometric mechanics in order to give a complete description of this theory for the multisymplectic formalism of first-order classical field theories, both in the Lagrangian and the Hamiltonian formalisms, and showing the equivalence between them. Our standpoint is [39] and, in particular, some of our results are a development of the ideas pointed out in this reference. As a fundamental difference with these previous works, we consider the sections which are solutions of the field equations as integral sections of integrable distributions in the corresponding phase spaces (jet bundles and bundles of forms) where the equations are defined, and we represent these distributions by means of (classes of) multivector fields in general [25, 26]. This allows us to adapt the geometric models for the Hamilton-Jacobi problem in mechanics given in [14, 17] to the present case.

The paper is organized as follows: Section 2 is a short review on multisymplectic geometry, jet bundles, and multivector fields and their relation with integrable distributions, which is given in order to do the paper self-contained. The main results are presented in Sections 3 and 4, where first the generalized Hamilton-Jacobi problem, and later the standard Hamilton-Jacobi problem are stated in the Lagrangian and Hamiltonian formalisms, and the equivalence between both formalisms is analyzed. In these Sections, the particular and complete solutions of the Hamilton-Jacobi equations are introduced and interpreted geometrically. In Section 5, some examples are studied; in particular, non-autonomous dynamical systems as the particular case of a field theory with 1-dimensional base manifold, quadratic Lagrangian densities, and the problem of minimal surfaces in dimension three. Finally, the conclusions and further research are presented in Section 6, where the comparison and differences between our model and the aforementioned previous works are also discussed.

All the manifolds are real, second countable and C^{∞} . The maps and the structures are assumed to be C^{∞} . Sum over crossed repeated indices is understood.

2 Geometrical background

2.1 Multisymplectic geometry

In this section we give a short review on multisymplectic geometry and some particular submanifolds of a multisymplectic manifold (see [11, 12, 22] for details).

Let M be an *m*-dimensional smooth manifold. A multisymplectic k-form in M is a closed k-form $\omega \in \Omega^k(M)$ which, in addition, is 1-nondegenerate, that is, for every $p \in M$, $i(X_p)\omega_p = 0$ if, and only if, $X_p = 0$, where $X_p \in T_pM$. If ω is closed and 1-degenerate, it is called a premultisymplectic k-form. A manifold endowed with a (pre)multisymplectic form is called a (pre)multisymplectic manifold of order k.

Observe that a necessary condition for a k-form to be 1-nondegenerate is $1 < k \leq \dim M$.

Given a symplectic manifold, we have a natural definition of "orthogonality" in terms of the symplectic form. This definition can be generalized to multisymplectic manifolds, bearing in mind that there are several levels of orthogonality to be considered.

Definition 1. Let (M, ω) be a multisymplectic manifold of order k, and $F \subseteq TM$ a vector subbundle. The lth orthogonal complement of F, with $1 \leq l < k$ is the subbundle $F^{\perp,l} \subseteq TM$ defined as

$$F^{\perp,l} = \{(p, u_p) \in TM \mid \omega_p(u_p, v_1, \dots, v_l) = 0 \text{ for every } (p, v_i) \in F\}$$
.

Definition 2. A subbundle $F \subset TM$ is called *l*-isotropic if $F \subseteq F^{\perp,l}$, *l*-coisotropic if $F^{\perp,l} \subseteq F$, and *l*-Lagrangian if $F = F^{\perp,l}$, for $1 \leq l < k$.

Bearing in mind this last Definition, one can generalize the concepts of *l*-isotropic, *l*-coisotropic and *l*-Lagrangian subbundles to immersed submanifolds as follows.

Definition 3. Let (M, ω) be a multisymplectic manifold of order k, and $N \hookrightarrow M$ a submanifold with canonical embedding $i: N \hookrightarrow M$. Let us consider the subbundle $Ti(TN) \subseteq TM$. Then, N is a l-isotropic (immersed) submanifold (resp., l-coisotropic submanifold, l-Lagrangian submanifold) if Ti(TN) is a l-isotropic (resp., l-coisotropic, l-Lagrangian) subbundle. Finally, one has the following characterization of isotropic submanifolds of maximum order.

Lemma 1. A submanifold $i: N \hookrightarrow M$ is (k-1)-isotropic if, and only if, $i^*\omega = 0$.

2.2 First-order jet bundles

In this section we give a short review on jet bundles: definition, some canonical structures and the concept of "dual bundle" (see [57] for details).

Definition and local coordinates. Prolongation of sections. Holonomy.

Let M be an orientable m-dimensional smooth manifold with fixed volume form $\eta \in \Omega^m(M)$, and let $E \xrightarrow{\pi} M$ be a bundle with dim E = m + n. The first-order jet bundle of the projection π , $J^1\pi$, is the manifold of the 1-jets of local sections $\phi \in \Gamma(\pi)$; that is, equivalence classes of local sections of π by the relation of equality on every first-order partial derivative. A point in $J^1\pi$ is denoted by $j_x^1\phi$, where $x \in M$ and $\phi \in \Gamma(\pi)$ is a representative of the equivalence class. The manifold $J^1\pi$ is endowed with the following natural projections

The fibers $(\pi^1)^{-1}(u) \subseteq J^1\pi$, with $u \in E$, are denoted $J^1_u\pi$.

Local coordinates in $J^1\pi$ are introduced as follows: let (x^i) , $1 \leq i \leq m$, be local coordinates in M such that $\eta = d^m x = dx^1 \wedge \ldots \wedge dx^m$, and (x^i, u^{α}) , $1 \leq \alpha \leq n$, local coordinates in E adapted to the bundle structure. Let $\phi \in \Gamma(\pi)$ be a section with coordinate expression $\phi(x^i) = (x^i, \phi^{\alpha}(x^i))$. Then, local coordinates in $J^1\pi$ are $(x^i, u^{\alpha}, u^{\alpha}_i)$, with $1 \leq i \leq m$ and $1 \leq \alpha \leq n$, where

$$u^{\alpha} = \phi^{\alpha}$$
 ; $u_i^{\alpha} = \frac{\partial \phi^{\alpha}}{\partial x^i}$

Using these coordinates, the local expressions of the natural projections are

$$\pi^{1}(x^{i}, u^{\alpha}, u^{\alpha}_{i}) = (x^{i}, u^{\alpha}) \quad ; \quad \bar{\pi}^{1}(x^{i}, u^{\alpha}, u^{\alpha}_{i}) = (x^{i}) \,.$$

If $\phi \in \Gamma(\pi)$ is a section, we denote the prolongation of ϕ to $J^1\pi$ by $j^1\phi \in \Gamma(\bar{\pi}^1)$. In the natural coordinates of $J^1\pi$, if $\phi(x^i) = (x^i, \phi^{\alpha}(x^i))$, the prolongation of ϕ is given by

$$j^1\phi(x^i) = \left(x^i, \phi^{\alpha}, \frac{\partial\phi^{\alpha}}{\partial x^i}\right)$$
.

Definition 4. A section $\psi \in \Gamma(\bar{\pi}^1)$ is holonomic if $j^1(\pi^1 \circ \psi) = \psi$, that is, if there exists a section $\phi = \pi^1 \circ \psi \in \Gamma(\pi)$ such that ψ is the prolongation of ϕ to $J^1\pi$.

In natural coordinates, if $\psi \in \Gamma(\bar{\pi}^1)$ is given by $\psi(x^i) = (x^i, \psi^{\alpha}, \psi^{\alpha}_i)$, then the condition for ψ to be holonomic gives the system of partial differential equations

$$\psi_i^{\alpha} = \frac{\partial \psi^{\alpha}}{\partial x^i}, \quad 1 \leqslant i \leqslant m, \ 1 \leqslant \alpha \leqslant n, \tag{1}$$

An alternative characterization of holonomic sections is given in terms of the canonical structure form of $J^1\pi$.

Definition 5. The canonical structure form of $J^1\pi$ is the 1-form θ in $J^1\pi$ with values in $V(\pi)$ defined by

$$\theta_{j_x^1\phi}(v) = (d_{\phi(x)}^{v}\phi)(\mathbf{T}_{j_x^1\phi}\pi^1(v)),$$

where $v \in T_{j_x^1 \phi} J^1 \pi$ and $d_{\phi(x)}^{v} \phi$ is the vertical differential of ϕ at $\phi(x) \in E$, and is defined as the map $d_{\phi(x)}^{v} \phi \colon T_{\phi(x)} E \to T_{\phi(x)} E$ such that $d_{\phi(x)}^{v} \phi = T_{\phi(x)} \mathrm{Id} - T_{\phi(x)} (\phi \circ \pi)$.

Proposition 1. A section $\psi \in \Gamma(\bar{\pi}^1)$ is holonomic if, and only if, $\psi^*\theta = 0$.

Dual bundles

Let us consider the dual space of $J^1\pi$ as an affine bundle over E, which is the set of affine maps from $J^1_u\pi$ to $(\Lambda^m T^*M)_{\pi(u)}$, with $u \in E$, that is, the set

$$\bigcup_{u \in E} \operatorname{Aff}(J_u^1 \pi, (\Lambda^m(\mathrm{T}^*M))_{\pi(u)}).$$

From [13] we know that this set is a manifold diffeomorphic to the smooth vector bundle of π -semibasic *m*-forms over E, $\Lambda_2^m(\mathbf{T}^*E)$. This bundle is called the *extended dual jet bundle of* π , and we have the following canonical projections

Since $\Lambda_2^m(T^*E)$ is a bundle of forms, it is endowed with some canonical forms. First, the Liouville *m*-form, or tautological *m*-form, is the form $\Theta \in \Omega^m(\Lambda_2^m(T^*E))$ defined by

$$\Theta(\omega)(X_1,\ldots,X_m)=\omega(\mathrm{T}_{\omega}\pi_E(X_1),\ldots,\mathrm{T}_{\omega}\pi_E(X_m))\,,$$

where $\omega \in \Lambda_2^m(\mathbb{T}^*E)$, and $X_1, \ldots, X_m \in \mathbb{T}_{\omega}(\Lambda_2^m(\mathbb{T}^*E))$. As usual, this form satisfies the property $\xi^*\Theta = \xi$ for every $\xi \in \Omega^m(E)$. From this, the Liouville (m+1)-form, or canonical multisymplectic (m+1)-form, is the form $\Omega = -d\Theta \in \Omega^{m+1}(\Lambda_2^m(\mathbb{T}^*E))$.

Local coordinates in $\Lambda_2^m(\mathbf{T}^*E)$ are constructed as follows: let (x^i) be local coordinates in M, and (x^i, u^{α}) coordinates in E adapted to the bundle structure. Then, local coordinates in $\Lambda_2^m(\mathbf{T}^*E)$ are $(x^i, u^{\alpha}, p, p_{\alpha}^i)$, where $1 \leq i \leq m, 1 \leq \alpha \leq n$. In these coordinates, the canonical projections have the following local expressions

$$\pi_E(x^i, u^{\alpha}, p, p^i_{\alpha}) = (x^i, u^{\alpha}) \quad ; \quad \bar{\pi}_E(x^i, u^{\alpha}, p, p^i_{\alpha}) = (x^i) \, .$$

On the other hand, the Liouville m and (m + 1)-forms have the following local expressions

$$\Theta = p \mathrm{d}^m x + p^i_\alpha \mathrm{d} u^\alpha \wedge \mathrm{d}^{m-1} x_i \quad ; \quad \Omega = -\mathrm{d} p \wedge \mathrm{d}^m x - \mathrm{d} p^i_\alpha \wedge \mathrm{d} u^\alpha \wedge \mathrm{d}^{m-1} x_i \,, \tag{2}$$

where $d^m x = dx^1 \wedge \ldots \wedge dx^m$ and $d^{m-1}x_i = i(\partial/\partial x^i)d^m x$. It is clear from this coordinate expression that Ω is a multisymplectic form on $\Lambda_2^m(\mathbf{T}^*E)$.

As $\Lambda_2^m(\mathbf{T}^*E)$ is, in fact, a vector bundle over E, we can consider its quotient by any vector subbundle. The reduced dual jet bundle of π , denoted $J^1\pi^*$, is the quotient of the extended dual jet bundle, $\Lambda_2^m(\mathbf{T}^*E)$, by constant affine transformations along the fibers of π^1 , and is diffeomorphic to the quotient bundle $\Lambda_2^m(\mathbf{T}^*E)/\Lambda_1^m(\mathbf{T}^*E)$. The natural quotient map is $\mu: \Lambda_2^m(\mathbf{T}^*E) \to J^1\pi^*$.

It can be proved that $J^1\pi^*$ may be endowed with the structure of a smooth manifold and, moreover, $\mu \colon \Lambda_2^m(\mathbf{T}^*E) \to J^1\pi^*$ is a smooth vector bundle of rank 1. In addition, we have the canonical projections $\pi_E^r \colon J^1\pi^* \to E$ and $\bar{\pi}_E^r \colon J^1\pi^* \to M$. Finally, adapted coordinates (x^i, u^{α}) in E induce coordinates $(x^i, u^{\alpha}, p^i_{\alpha})$ in $J^1\pi^*$ such that the coordinate expression of the natural quotient map is

$$\mu(x^i, u^{\alpha}, p, p^i_{\alpha}) = (x^i, u^{\alpha}, p^i_{\alpha}),$$

where $(x^i, u^{\alpha}, p, p^i_{\alpha})$ are the induced coordinates in $\Lambda_2^m(T^*E)$. In these coordinates, the natural projections are given by

$$\pi^r_E(x^i,u^\alpha,p^i_\alpha)=(x^i,u^\alpha)\quad;\quad \bar{\pi}^r_E(x^i,u^\alpha,p^i_\alpha)=(x^i)\,.$$

2.3 Multivector fields

In this section we give a short review on multivector fields and their relation with integrable distributions (see [25] for details).

Locally decomposable multivector fields. Integrability conditions

A multivector field of degree k, or k-multivector field, on a m-dimensional smooth manifold M is a section of the bundle $\Lambda^k(\mathrm{T}M) \to M$, that is, a skew-symmetric contravariant tensor. The set of all multivector fields of degree k in M is denoted $\mathfrak{X}^k(M)$.

In general, given a k-multivector field $\mathcal{X} \in \mathfrak{X}^k(M)$, for every $p \in M$ there exists an open neighborhood $U_p \subseteq M$ and $X_1, \ldots, X_r \in \mathfrak{X}(U_p)$ such that

$$\mathcal{X} = \sum_{1 \leqslant i_1 < \ldots < i_k \leqslant r} f^{i_1 \ldots i_k} X_{i_1} \wedge \ldots \wedge X_{i_k} ,$$

with $f^{i_1...i_k} \in C^{\infty}(U_p)$ and $k \leq r \leq \dim M$. If for every p we have r = k, that is, there exists an open neighborhood $U_p \subseteq M$ and $X_1, \ldots, X_k \in \mathfrak{X}(U_p)$ such that $\mathcal{X} = X_1 \wedge \ldots \wedge X_k$ on U_p , then we say that the multivector field \mathcal{X} is *locally decomposable*.

Let \mathcal{D} be a k-dimensional distribution in M, that is, a k-dimensional subbundle of TM. It is clear that sections of $\Lambda^k \mathcal{D} \to M$ are k-multivector fields in M, and that the existence of a non-vanishing global section of $\Lambda^k \mathcal{D} \to M$ is equivalent to the orientability of the distribution \mathcal{D} . Then, we say that a non-vanishing multivector field $\mathcal{X} \in \mathfrak{X}^k(M)$ and a k-dimensional distribution $\mathcal{D} \subset TM$ are locally associated if there exists a connected open set $U \subseteq M$ such that $\mathcal{X}|_U$ is a section of $\Lambda^k \mathcal{D}|_U$.

As a consequence of this we can introduce an equivalence relation on the set of non-vanishing k-multivector fields in M as follows: two k-multivector fields $\mathcal{X}, \mathcal{X}' \in \mathfrak{X}^k(M)$ are related if, and only if, they are both locally associated, on the same connected open set $U \subseteq M$, with the same distribution \mathcal{D} . In addition, in this case there exists a non-vanishing function $f \in C^{\infty}(U)$ such that $\mathcal{X}' = f\mathcal{X}$ on U. The equivalence classes of this quotient set will be denoted by $\{\mathcal{X}\}_U$. Then, one can prove that there is a bijective correspondence between the set of k-dimensional orientable distributions $\mathcal{D} \subseteq TM$ and set of equivalence classes $\{\mathcal{X}\}_M$ of non-vanishing, locally decomposable k-multivector fields in M.

If $\mathcal{X} \in \mathfrak{X}^k(M)$ is a non-vanishing, locally decomposable k-multivector field and $U \subseteq M$ is a connected open set, then the distribution associated to the equivalence class $\{\mathcal{X}\}_U$ will be denoted by $\mathcal{D}_U(\mathcal{X})$. If U = M, then we write simply $\mathcal{D}(\mathcal{X})$.

A non-vanishing, locally decomposable multivector field $\mathcal{X} \in \mathfrak{X}^k(M)$ is said to be *integrable* (resp. *involutive*) if its associated distribution $\mathcal{D}_U(\mathcal{X})$ is integrable (resp. involutive). It is clear then that if $\mathcal{X} \in \mathfrak{X}^k(M)$ is integrable (resp. involutive), then so is every other in its equivalence

class $\{\mathcal{X}\}$, and all of them have the same integral manifolds. Moreover, Frobenius theorem allows us to state that a non-vanishing and locally decomposable multivector field is integrable if, and only if, it is involutive. Nevertheless, in many applications we have locally decomposable multivector fields $\mathcal{X} \in \mathfrak{X}^k(M)$ which are not integrable in M, but integrable in a submanifold of M. A (local) algorithm for finding this submanifold has been developed [25].

Multivector fields in fiber bundles and jet bundles. Holonomy condition

We are interested in the particular situation of a fiber bundle and, more precisely, of jet bundles.

Let $\pi: E \to M$ be a fiber bundle, with dim M = m and dim E = m + n. A multivector field $\mathcal{X} \in \mathfrak{X}^m(M)$ is said to be π -transverse if at every point $u \in E$ we have $(i(\mathcal{X})(\pi^*\omega))_y \neq 0$ for every $\omega \in \Omega^m(M)$ satisfying $\omega(\pi(y)) \neq 0$. It can be proved that if \mathcal{X} is integrable, then the π -transverse condition is equivalent to requiring the integral manifolds of \mathcal{X} to be local sections of π . In this case, if $\phi: U \subseteq M \to E$ is a local section with $\phi(x) = u$ and $\phi(U)$ is the integral manifold of \mathcal{X} , then $T_u(\operatorname{Im} \phi) = \mathcal{D}_u(\mathcal{X})$.

Now, let us consider the first-order jet bundle of π , $J^1\pi$. A multivector field $\mathcal{X} \in \mathfrak{X}^m(J^1\pi)$ is holonomic if \mathcal{X} is integrable, $\bar{\pi}^1$ -transverse, and the integral sections of \mathcal{X} are holonomic.

As in mechanics, the holonomy of a multivector field may be characterized using the geometry of $J^1\pi$. First, a π^1 -transverse and locally decomposable multivector field $\mathcal{X} \in \mathfrak{X}^m(J^1\pi)$ is said to be semi-holonomic, or a SOPDE multivector field if, and only if, $i(\theta)\mathcal{X} = 0$, where θ is the canonical structure form in $J^1\pi$. Then, the relation between integrable, holonomic and semi-holonomic multivector fields in $J^1\pi$ is given by the following result from [25].

Theorem 1. A multivector field $\mathcal{X} \in \mathfrak{X}^m(J^1\pi)$ is holonomic if, and only if, it is integrable and semi-holonomic.

In natural coordinates, let $\mathcal{X} \in \mathfrak{X}^m(J^1\pi)$ be a locally decomposable and $\bar{\pi}^1$ -transverse multivector field. From the results in [25], this multivector field \mathcal{X} may be chosen to have the following coordinate expression

$$\mathcal{X} = f \bigwedge_{j=1}^{m} X_j = f \bigwedge_{j=1}^{m} \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial x^j} + f_j^{\alpha} \frac{\partial}{\partial u^{\alpha}} + F_{j,i}^{\alpha} \frac{\partial}{\partial u_i^{\alpha}} \right) ,$$

with f being a non-vanishing local function. Then, the condition for \mathcal{X} to be semi-holonomic gives the mn equations $f_j^{\alpha} = u_j^{\alpha}$. In addition, from the results in [25], we know that the necessary and sufficient condition for a locally decomposable multivector field to be integrable is that its associated distribution is involutive, which is equivalent to requiring the m(m-1)/2conditions $[X_j, X_k] = 0$, with $1 \leq j < k \leq m$. In coordinates, these gives the following system of $nm(m^2 - 1)/2$ partial differential equations for the component functions $F_{j,i}^{\alpha}$

$$F_{j,k}^{\alpha} - F_{k,j}^{\alpha} = 0 \quad ; \quad \frac{\partial F_{k,i}^{\alpha}}{\partial x^{j}} + u_{j}^{\beta} \frac{\partial F_{k,i}^{\alpha}}{\partial u^{\beta}} + F_{j,l}^{\beta} \frac{\partial F_{k,i}^{\alpha}}{\partial u_{l}^{\beta}} - \frac{\partial F_{j,i}^{\alpha}}{\partial x^{k}} - u_{k}^{\beta} \frac{\partial F_{j,i}^{\alpha}}{\partial u^{\beta}} - F_{k,l}^{\beta} \frac{\partial F_{j,i}^{\alpha}}{\partial u_{l}^{\beta}} = 0.$$
 (3)

Remark. It is important to point out that a locally decomposable, $\bar{\pi}^1$ -transverse and semiholonomic multivector field \mathcal{X} may not be holonomic, since the SOPDE condition is not a sufficient nor necessary condition for the multivector field to be integrable. On the other hand, the integrability of a multivector field does not imply that the integral sections are holonomic: as in mechanics, a multivector field may admit integral sections through every point in $J^1\pi$, but these integral sections may not be projectable to the base manifold. \diamond

Relation with jet fields

Let $\pi: E \to M$ be a fiber bundle, with dim M = m and dim E = m + n, and $J^1 \pi$ the first-order jet bundle of π .

Definition 6. A jet field in E is a global section of the projection $\pi^1: J^1\pi \to E$.

It is proved in [57] that there is a bijective correspondence between jet fields in E and connections $\nabla \in \Lambda^1_1(T^*E) \otimes \mathfrak{X}(E)$. Therefore, there is a bijective correspondence between jet fields in E and distributions in E. We denote $\mathcal{D}(\Psi)$ the unique distribution in E associated to the jet field $\Psi \in \Gamma(\pi^1)$. This enables us to give the following definitions.

Definition 7. Let $\Psi \in \Gamma(\pi^1)$ be a jet field and $\mathcal{D}(\Psi)$ its associated distribution in E.

- 1. Ψ is said to be orientable if, and only if, $\mathcal{D}(\Psi)$ is an orientable distribution in E. In particular, if M is orientable, then every jet field is also orientable.
- 2. Ψ is said to be integrable if, and only if, $\mathcal{D}(\Psi)$ is an integrable distribution.
- 3. A section $\phi \in \Gamma(\pi)$ is an integral section of Ψ if, and only if, $\Psi \circ \phi = j^{1}\phi$. In particular, Ψ is integrable if, and only if, it admits integral sections through every point of E.

With these notations, the relation between multivector fields and jet fields is given by the following result, stated in [25].

Theorem 2. There is a bijective correspondence between the set of orientable jet fields $\Psi \in \Gamma(\pi^1)$ and the set of equivalence classes of locally decomposable and π -transverse multivector fields $\{\mathcal{X}\} \subseteq \mathfrak{X}^m(E)$. They are characterized by the fact that $\mathcal{D}(\Psi) = \mathcal{D}(\mathcal{X})$. In addition, the orientable jet field Ψ is integrable if, and only if, so is every \mathcal{X} in the equivalence class.

3 The Hamilton-Jacobi problem in the Lagrangian formalism

The geometrical setting for the Lagrangian formalism for multisymplectic field theories is the following (see, for instance, [2, 24, 25, 28, 30, 31, 38, 53] for more details). Let $\pi: E \to M$ be a fiber bundle modeling the configuration space, where M is a m-dimensional orientable smooth manifold with fixed volume form $\eta \in \Omega^m(M)$, and dim E = m + n. Let $\mathcal{L} \in \Omega^m(J^1\pi)$ be a Lagrangian density containing the physical information of the theory, that is, a $\bar{\pi}^1$ -semibasic m-form. We denote $L \in C^{\infty}(J^1\pi)$ the function satisfying $\mathcal{L} = L(\bar{\pi}^1)^*\eta$, which we call the Lagrangian function associated to \mathcal{L} and η . Using the canonical vertical endomorphism $\nu \in \Gamma(T^*J^1\pi \otimes_{J^1\pi} TM \otimes_{J^1\pi} V(\pi^1))$, the Cartan forms $\Theta_{\mathcal{L}} = i(\nu) d\mathcal{L} + \mathcal{L} \in \Omega^m(J^1\pi)$ and $\Omega_{\mathcal{L}} = -d\Theta_{\mathcal{L}} \in \Omega^{m+1}(J^1\pi)$ are constructed, with coordinate expressions

$$\Theta_{\mathcal{L}} = \frac{\partial L}{\partial u_i^{\alpha}} \mathrm{d} u^{\alpha} \wedge \mathrm{d}^{m-1} x_i - \left(\frac{\partial L}{\partial u_i^{\alpha}} u_i^{\alpha} - L\right) \mathrm{d}^m x \,, \tag{4}$$

$$\Omega_{\mathcal{L}} = \frac{\partial^2 L}{\partial u_i^{\alpha} \partial u^{\beta}} \, \mathrm{d} u^{\alpha} \wedge \mathrm{d} u^{\beta} \wedge \mathrm{d}^{m-1} x_i + \frac{\partial^2 L}{\partial u_i^{\alpha} \partial u_j^{\beta}} \, \mathrm{d} u^{\alpha} \wedge \mathrm{d} u_j^{\beta} \wedge \mathrm{d}^{m-1} x_i + \left(u_i^{\alpha} \frac{\partial^2 L}{\partial u_i^{\alpha} \partial u^{\beta}} - \frac{\partial L}{\partial u^{\beta}} \right) \mathrm{d} u^{\beta} \wedge \mathrm{d}^m x + u_i^{\alpha} \frac{\partial^2 L}{\partial u_i^{\alpha} \partial u_j^{\beta}} \, \mathrm{d} u_j^{\beta} \wedge \mathrm{d}^m x \,.$$
(5)

Then, the Lagrangian problem for first-order classical field theories is the following: to find a m-dimensional, $\bar{\pi}^1$ -transverse and integrable distribution $\mathcal{D}_{\mathcal{L}}$ in $J^1\pi$ such that the integral sections of $\mathcal{D}_{\mathcal{L}}$ are prolongations of sections $\phi \in \Gamma(\pi)$ satisfying

$$(j^1\phi)^*i(X)\Omega_{\mathcal{L}} = 0, \text{ for every } X \in \mathfrak{X}(J^1\pi).$$
 (6)

If the Lagrangian density is regular, then the Cartan (m + 1)-form $\Omega_{\mathcal{L}}$ is multisymplectic, and then there exists such a distribution, although it is not necessarily integrable. In the following we assume that the Lagrangian density \mathcal{L} is regular, and that the distribution $\mathcal{D}_{\mathcal{L}}$ is, in addition, integrable.

From the results in Section 2.3, this distribution $\mathcal{D}_{\mathcal{L}}$ is associated with a class of holonomic multivector fields $\{\mathcal{X}_{\mathcal{L}}\} \subseteq \mathfrak{X}^m(J^1\pi)$ satisfying the equation

$$i(\mathcal{X}_{\mathcal{L}})\Omega_{\mathcal{L}} = 0$$
, for every $\mathcal{X}_{\mathcal{L}} \in \{\mathcal{X}_{\mathcal{L}}\}$. (7)

The same comments apply in the regular case: if the Lagrangian density is regular, then there exists a class of multivector fields $\{\mathcal{X}_{\mathcal{L}}\} \subset \mathfrak{X}^m(J^1\pi)$ solution to equation (7) which is $\bar{\pi}^1$ -transverse and SOPDE, but not necessarily integrable. In the following we assume that the Lagrangian density is regular and that every multivector field in the class is, in addition, integrable. This class is denoted by $\{\mathcal{X}_{\mathcal{L}}\}$ along this work.

3.1 The generalized Lagrangian Hamilton-Jacobi problem

Following the patterns in [14], we first state a generalized version of the Hamilton-Jacobi problem in the Lagrangian formalism.

Definition 8. The generalized Lagrangian Hamilton-Jacobi problem consists in finding a jet field $\Psi \in \Gamma(\pi^1)$ and a m-dimensional and integrable distribution \mathcal{D} in E such that if $\gamma \in \Gamma(\pi)$ is an integral section of \mathcal{D} , then $\Psi \circ \gamma \in \Gamma(\bar{\pi}^1)$ is an integral section of $\mathcal{D}_{\mathcal{L}}$, that is,

$$T_{u}\operatorname{Im}(\gamma) = \mathcal{D}_{u} \quad \forall u \in \operatorname{Im}(\gamma) \Longrightarrow T_{\bar{u}}\operatorname{Im}(\Psi \circ \gamma) = (\mathcal{D}_{\mathcal{L}})_{\bar{u}} \quad \forall \ \bar{u} \in \operatorname{Im}(\Psi \circ \gamma).$$
(8)

From the results in Section 2.3, since both \mathcal{D} and $\mathcal{D}_{\mathcal{L}}$ are associated with their corresponding classes of multivector fields, the problem can be stated equivalently in terms of multivector fields as the search of a jet field $\Psi \in \Gamma(\pi^1)$ and a class of locally decomposable and integrable multivector fields $\{\mathcal{X}\} \subseteq \mathfrak{X}^m(E)$ such that if $\gamma \in \Gamma(\pi)$ is an integral section of every multivector field $\mathcal{X} \in \{\mathcal{X}\}$ then $\Psi \circ \gamma \in \Gamma(\bar{\pi}^1)$ is an integral section of every multivector field $\mathcal{X}_{\mathcal{L}} \in \{\mathcal{X}_{\mathcal{L}}\}$ solution to equation (7), that is,

$$\mathcal{X} \circ \gamma = \Lambda^{m} \dot{\gamma} \quad \forall \mathcal{X} \in \{\mathcal{X}\} \Longrightarrow \mathcal{X}_{\mathcal{L}} \circ (\Psi \circ \gamma) = \Lambda^{m}(\overline{\Psi \circ \gamma}) \quad \forall \mathcal{X}_{\mathcal{L}} \in \{\mathcal{X}_{\mathcal{L}}\},$$
(9)

where $\Lambda^m \dot{\gamma} \colon M \to \Lambda^m(\mathbf{T}E)$ denotes the canonical lift of γ to $\Lambda^m(\mathbf{T}E)$. In the following we denote by $\{\mathcal{X}\} \subseteq \mathfrak{X}^m(E)$ the class of locally decomposable and integrable multivector fields associated with the integable distribution \mathcal{D} in E. The diagram illustrating this equivalent formulation of the generalized Lagrangian Hamilton-Jacobi problem is the following



where the interpretation is: if the lower diagram formed by γ , \mathcal{X} and $\Lambda^m \dot{\gamma}$ is commutative for every $\mathcal{X} \in \{\mathcal{X}\}$, then the upper diagram formed by $\Psi \circ \gamma$, $\mathcal{X}_{\mathcal{L}}$ and $\Lambda^m(\overline{\Psi \circ \gamma})$ is also commutative for every $\mathcal{X}_{\mathcal{L}} \in \{\mathcal{X}_{\mathcal{L}}\}$.

Remark. Since the section $\Psi \circ \gamma \in \Gamma(\bar{\pi}^1)$ is an integral section of $\mathcal{D}_{\mathcal{L}}$ (or, equivalently, an integral section of the associated class of holonomic multivector fields), in particular it must satisfy equation (6), that is,

$$(\Psi \circ \gamma)^* i(X)\Omega_{\mathcal{L}} = 0$$
, for every $X \in \mathfrak{X}(J^1\pi)$.

Nevertheless, observe that the action of the *m*-form $(\Psi \circ \gamma)^* i(X)\Omega_{\mathcal{L}} \in \Omega^m(M)$ on *m* tangent vectors $v_i \in T_x M$, with $x \in M$, is defined as

$$\left((\Psi \circ \gamma)^* i(X)\Omega_{\mathcal{L}}\right)_x (v_1, \dots, v_m) = (\Omega_{\mathcal{L}})_{\Psi(\gamma(x))} (X(\Psi(\gamma(x))), \mathcal{T}_x(\Psi \circ \gamma)(v_1), \dots, \mathcal{T}_x(\Psi \circ \gamma)(v_m)),$$

from where we observe that $X(\Psi(\gamma(x))) \in T_{\Psi(\gamma(x))} \operatorname{Im}(\Psi \circ \gamma) \subset T_{\Psi(\gamma(x))} \operatorname{Im}(\Psi)$, that is, the vector field X is tangent to the submanifold $\operatorname{Im}(\Psi) \hookrightarrow J^1 \pi$. Therefore, in this particular situation, equation (6) is equivalent to

$$(\Psi \circ \gamma)^* i(X)\Omega_{\mathcal{L}} = 0$$
, for every $X \in \mathfrak{X}(J^1\pi)$ tangent to $\operatorname{Im}(\Psi)$. (10)

 \Diamond

Remark. Since every integral section of the distribution $\mathcal{D}_{\mathcal{L}}$ is the prolongation of a section of π , this holds, in particular, for the section $\Psi \circ \gamma$, and we have $\Psi \circ \gamma = j^1 \phi$ for some $\phi \in \Gamma(\pi)$. Now, composing this last equality with the natural projection π^1 , we obtain $\gamma = \phi$. Then, replacing ϕ by γ in the previous expression, we have $\Psi \circ \gamma = j^1 \gamma$, from where we deduce that if \mathcal{D} is an integrable distribution, then the jet field $\Psi \in \Gamma(\pi^1)$ is integrable, and every integral section of \mathcal{D} is an integral section of Ψ . Moreover, this enables us to reformulate the generalized Lagrangian Hamilton-Jacobi problem as follows:

The generalized Lagrangian Hamilton-Jacobi problem consists in finding an integrable jet field $\Psi \in \Gamma(\pi^1)$ such that if $\gamma \in \Gamma(\pi)$ is an integral section of Ψ , then $j^1 \gamma \in \Gamma(\bar{\pi}^1)$ is an integral section of $\mathcal{D}_{\mathcal{L}}$.

Nevertheless, we stick to the statement in Definition 8, or the equivalent formulation given in terms of multivector fields, in order to give several equivalent conditions to being a solution to the generalized Lagrangian Hamilton-Jacobi problem. \diamond

It is clear from this last remark that the distribution \mathcal{D} in E, the jet field $\Psi \in \Gamma(\pi^1)$ and the distribution $\mathcal{D}_{\mathcal{L}}$ in $J^1\pi$ are closely related. In fact, we have the following result.

Proposition 2. The jet field $\Psi \in \Gamma(\pi^1)$ and the distribution \mathcal{D} in E satisfy condition (8) if, and only if, \mathcal{D} and $\mathcal{D}_{\mathcal{L}}$ are Ψ -related, that is, for every $\mathcal{X}_{\mathcal{L}} \in {\mathcal{X}_{\mathcal{L}}}$ (resp., for every $\mathcal{X} \in {\mathcal{X}}$) there exists $\mathcal{X} \in {\mathcal{X}}$ (resp., $\mathcal{X}_{\mathcal{L}} \in {\mathcal{X}_{\mathcal{L}}}$) such that $\mathcal{X}_{\mathcal{L}} \circ \Psi = \Lambda^m T \Psi \circ \mathcal{X}$.

Proof. We prove this result in terms of the associated classes of multivector fields. Let $\gamma \in \Gamma(\pi)$ be an integral section of \mathcal{D} , which is equivalent to γ being an integral section of every $\mathcal{X} \in \{\mathcal{X}\}$, and let $\mathcal{X}_{\mathcal{L}} \in \{\mathcal{X}_{\mathcal{L}}\}$ be a representative of the equivalence class. Then we have

$$\mathcal{X}_{\mathcal{L}} \circ \Psi \circ \gamma = \Lambda^m (\overline{\Psi \circ \gamma}) = \Lambda^m T \Psi \circ \Lambda^m \dot{\gamma} = \Lambda^m T \Psi \circ \mathcal{X} \circ \gamma ,$$

where the multivector field $\mathcal{X} \in {\mathcal{X}}$ in the last equality exists since γ is an integral section of \mathcal{D} . Then, since \mathcal{X} is integrable, it admits integral sections through every point in E, and therefore we have proved that for every $\mathcal{X}_{\mathcal{L}} \in {\mathcal{X}_{\mathcal{L}}}$ there exists $\mathcal{X} \in {\mathcal{X}}$ such that $\mathcal{X}_{\mathcal{L}} \circ \Psi = \Lambda^m T \Psi \circ \mathcal{X}$. Reversing this reasoning we prove that for every $\mathcal{X} \in {\mathcal{X}}$ there exists $\mathcal{X}_{\mathcal{L}} \in {\mathcal{X}_{\mathcal{L}}}$ such that $\mathcal{X}_{\mathcal{L}} \circ \Psi = \Lambda^m T \Psi \circ \mathcal{X}$. Therefore, the distributions \mathcal{D} and $\mathcal{D}_{\mathcal{L}}$ are Ψ -related.

Conversely, let us suppose that \mathcal{D} and $\mathcal{D}_{\mathcal{L}}$ are Ψ -related. Then, if $\gamma \in \Gamma(\pi)$ is an integral section of \mathcal{D} and $\mathcal{X}_{\mathcal{L}} \in \{\mathcal{X}_{\mathcal{L}}\}$ is a representative of the equivalence class, we have

$$\mathcal{X}_{\mathcal{L}} \circ \Psi \circ \gamma = \Lambda^m \mathrm{T} \Psi \circ \mathcal{X} \circ \gamma = \Lambda^m \mathrm{T} \Psi \circ \Lambda^m \dot{\gamma} = \Lambda^m (\overline{\Psi \circ \gamma}) \,,$$

where $\mathcal{X} \in {\mathcal{X}}$ in the first equality is any multivector field in ${\mathcal{X}}$ which is Ψ -related to the given $\mathcal{X}_{\mathcal{L}}$. That is, the jet field Ψ and the distribution \mathcal{D} satisfy condition (8).

A straightforward consequence of this last result is the following.

Corollary 1. If the jet field $\Psi \in \Gamma(\pi^1)$ and the distribution \mathcal{D} in E satisfy condition (8), then for every $\mathcal{X} \in \{\mathcal{X}\}$ there exists a multivector field $\mathcal{X}_{\mathcal{L}} \in \{\mathcal{X}_{\mathcal{L}}\}$ such that \mathcal{X} is given by

$$\mathcal{X} = \Lambda^m \mathrm{T} \pi^1 \circ \mathcal{X}_{\mathcal{L}} \circ \Psi$$
.

Proof. Let $\mathcal{X} \in {\mathcal{X}}$ be an arbitrary representative of the equivalence class. From Proposition 2 we know that if Ψ and \mathcal{D} satisfy condition (8), then there exists a multivector field $\mathcal{X}_{\mathcal{L}} \in {\mathcal{X}_{\mathcal{L}}}$ which is Ψ -related to the given \mathcal{X} , that is, $\mathcal{X}_{\mathcal{L}} \circ \Psi = \Lambda^m T \Psi \circ \mathcal{X}$. Then, composing both sides of this last equality with the map $\Lambda^m T \pi^1 \colon \Lambda^m (TJ^1 \pi) \to \Lambda^m (TE)$, and bearing in mind that $\Psi \in \Gamma(\pi)$, we obtain

$$\Lambda^m \mathrm{T}\pi^1 \circ \mathcal{X}_{\mathcal{L}} \circ \Psi = \Lambda^m \mathrm{T}\pi^1 \circ \Lambda^m \mathrm{T}\Psi \circ \mathcal{X} = \Lambda^m \mathrm{T}(\pi^1 \circ \Psi) \circ \mathcal{X} = \mathcal{X}.$$

That is, every multivector field $\mathcal{X} \in \{\mathcal{X}\}$ is completely determinated by the jet field $\Psi \in \Gamma(\pi^1)$ and some multivector field $\mathcal{X}_{\mathcal{L}} \in \{\mathcal{X}_{\mathcal{L}}\}$, and it is called the *multivector field associated to* Ψ and $\mathcal{X}_{\mathcal{L}}$. The diagram illustrating this situation is the following:



In particular, the distribution \mathcal{D} is completely determinated by the jet field $\Psi \in \Gamma(\pi^1)$ and the distribution $\mathcal{D}_{\mathcal{L}}$ as $\mathcal{D}_{\pi^1(\bar{u})} = T_{\bar{u}}\pi^1((\mathcal{D}_{\mathcal{L}})_{\bar{u}})$ for every $\bar{u} \in \mathrm{Im}(\Psi) \hookrightarrow J^1\pi$, or $\mathcal{D} = T\pi^1(\mathcal{D}_{\mathcal{L}}|_{\mathrm{Im}(\Psi)})$, and it is called the distribution associated to Ψ .

Remark. From Corollary 1 we deduce that if the jet field Ψ is integrable, then so is every multivector field $\mathcal{X} \in \{\mathcal{X}\}$, and hence the distribution \mathcal{D} . Moreover, taking into account the remark in page 11, we deduce that the jet field Ψ is integrable if, and only if, the distribution \mathcal{D} is integrable, and they have the same integral sections. Hence, Ψ and \mathcal{D} are associated in the sense of [25] (Section 2.3), that is, they define the same horizontal subbundle of TE. \Diamond

Taking into account Corollary 1 it is clear that the search for a jet field $\Gamma(\pi^1)$ and a distribution \mathcal{D} in E satisfying condition (8) is equivalent to the search of a jet field Ψ satisfying the same condition with the associated distribution $T\pi^1(\mathcal{D}_{\mathcal{L}}|_{\mathrm{Im}(\Psi)}) \subseteq TE$. Therefore, we can give the following definition.

Definition 9. A solution to the generalized Lagrangian Hamilton-Jacobi problem is an integrable jet field $\Psi \in \Gamma(\pi^1)$ such that if $\gamma \in \Gamma(\pi)$ is an integral section of the m-dimensional and integrable distribution $T\pi^1(\mathcal{D}_{\mathcal{L}}|_{Im(\Psi)})$ in E, then $\Psi \circ \gamma \in \Gamma(\bar{\pi}^1)$ is an integral section of $\mathcal{D}_{\mathcal{L}}$.

Now we state the following characterizations for a jet field to be a solution to the generalized Lagrangian Hamilton-Jacobi problem.

Proposition 3. Let $\Psi \in \Gamma(\pi^1)$ be an integrable jet field. Then, the following statements are equivalent.

- 1. Ψ is a solution to the generalized Lagrangian Hamilton-Jacobi problem.
- 2. The distribution $\mathcal{D}_{\mathcal{L}}$ in $J^1\pi$ is tangent to the submanifold $\operatorname{Im}(\Psi) \hookrightarrow J^1\pi$, that is, $(\mathcal{D}_{\mathcal{L}})_{\bar{u}} \subseteq T_{\bar{u}} \operatorname{Im}(\Psi)$ for every $\bar{u} \in \operatorname{Im}(\Psi)$.
- 3. Ψ satisfies the equation

$$\gamma^* i(Y)(\Psi^*\Omega_{\mathcal{L}}) = 0$$
, for every $Y \in \mathfrak{X}(E)$,

where $\gamma \in \Gamma(\pi)$ is an integral section of the associated distribution $\mathrm{T}\pi^1(\mathcal{D}_{\mathcal{L}}|_{\mathrm{Im}(\Psi)})$.

Proof.

 $(1 \iff 2)$ Assume that $\Psi \in \Gamma(\pi^1)$ is a solution to the generalized Lagrangian Hamilton-Jacobi problem, and let $\gamma \in \Gamma(\pi)$ be an integral section of the integrable distribution $\mathcal{D} = T\pi^1(\mathcal{D}_{\mathcal{L}}|_{\mathrm{Im}(\Psi)})$. Then, since Ψ and \mathcal{D} satisfy condition (8) and it is clear that $T_{\bar{u}} \operatorname{Im}(\Psi \circ \gamma) \subseteq T_{\bar{u}} \operatorname{Im}(\Psi)$ for every $\bar{u} \in \mathrm{Im}(\Psi \circ \gamma)$, we have

$$(\mathcal{D}_{\mathcal{L}})_{\bar{u}} = \mathrm{T}_{\bar{u}} \operatorname{Im}(\Psi \circ \gamma) \subseteq \mathrm{T}_{\bar{u}} \operatorname{Im}(\Psi) \quad \forall \ \bar{u} \in \operatorname{Im}(\Psi \circ \gamma)$$

Finally, since Ψ is integrable, for every $\bar{u} \in \operatorname{Im}(\Psi)$ there exists an integral section $\gamma \in \Gamma(\pi)$ such that $\bar{u} \in \operatorname{Im}(\Psi \circ \gamma)$, and therefore we have proved $(\mathcal{D}_{\mathcal{L}})_{\bar{u}} \subseteq \operatorname{T}_{\bar{u}} \operatorname{Im}(\Psi)$ for every $\bar{u} \in \operatorname{Im}(\Psi)$.

For the converse, assume that the distribution $\mathcal{D}_{\mathcal{L}}$ in $J^1\pi$ is tangent to the submanifold $\operatorname{Im}(\Psi) \hookrightarrow J^1\pi$, that is, we have $(\mathcal{D}_{\mathcal{L}})_{\bar{u}} \subseteq \operatorname{T}_{\bar{u}}\operatorname{Im}(\Psi)$ for every $\bar{u} \in \operatorname{Im}(\Psi)$, which is equivalent to $(\mathcal{D}_{\mathcal{L}})_{\Psi(u)} \subseteq \operatorname{T}_{\Psi(u)}\operatorname{Im}(\Psi)$ for every $u \in E$. We deduce from this that for every $w \in (\mathcal{D}_{\mathcal{L}})_{\Psi(u)}$ there exists a $v_u \in \operatorname{T}_u E$ such that $w = \operatorname{T}_u \Psi(v_u)$. Hence, for every $u \in E$ we define a *m*-dimensional subspace $\mathcal{D}_u \subseteq \operatorname{T}_u E$ as follows

$$\mathcal{D}_u = \left\{ v \in \mathcal{T}_u E \mid w = \mathcal{T}_u \Psi(v), \ w \in (\mathcal{D}_{\mathcal{L}})_{\Psi(u)} \right\} \,.$$

Then, we define the *m*-dimensional distribution \mathcal{D} in E as $\mathcal{D} = \bigcup_{u \in E} \mathcal{D}_u$. It is clear that \mathcal{D} is a smooth and integrable distribution, since it satisfies $\mathcal{D} = \mathrm{T}\pi^1(\mathcal{D}_{\mathcal{L}}|_{\mathrm{Im}(\Psi)})$, and both $\mathcal{D}_{\mathcal{L}}$ and Ψ are smooth and integrable. Now, let $\gamma \in \Gamma(\pi)$ be an integral section of \mathcal{D} . Then, by definition of \mathcal{D} , the condition for γ to be an integral section of \mathcal{D} gives

$$T_u \operatorname{Im}(\gamma) = T_{\Psi(u)} \pi^1((\mathcal{D}_{\mathcal{L}})_{\Psi(u)}) \quad \forall u \in \operatorname{Im}(\gamma).$$

Composing this equality with the map $T_u \Psi \colon T_u E \to T_{\Psi(u)} J^1 \pi$, and bearing in mind that $\Psi \circ \pi^1 = \mathrm{Id}_{\mathrm{Im}(\Psi)}$, we have

$$(\mathcal{D}_{\mathcal{L}})_{\Psi(u)} = \mathrm{T}_{u}\Psi(\mathrm{T}_{u}\operatorname{Im}(\gamma)) = \mathrm{T}_{\Psi(u)}\operatorname{Im}(\Psi\circ\gamma) \quad \forall u\in \operatorname{Im}(\gamma),$$

which is clearly equivalent to

$$(\mathcal{D}_{\mathcal{L}})_{\bar{u}} = \mathrm{T}_{\bar{u}} \operatorname{Im}(\Psi \circ \gamma) \quad \forall \bar{u} \in \operatorname{Im}(\Psi \circ \gamma),$$

that is, to condition (8). Thus, Ψ is a solution to the generalized Lagrangian Hamilton-Jacobi problem.

 $(1 \iff 3)$ Let $\Psi \in \Gamma(\pi^1)$ be a jet field solution to the generalized Lagrangian Hamilton-Jacobi problem, and $\gamma \in \Gamma(\pi)$ an integral section of $T\pi^1(\mathcal{D}_{\mathcal{L}}|_{\mathrm{Im}(\Psi)})$. Then the section $\Psi \circ \gamma \in \Gamma(\bar{\pi}^1)$ is an integral section of $\mathcal{D}_{\mathcal{L}}$. In particular, $\Psi \circ \gamma$ is a solution to equation (6), that is,

$$(\Psi \circ \gamma)^* i(X)\Omega_{\mathcal{L}} = 0$$
, for every $X \in \mathfrak{X}(J^1\pi)$.

Calculating, we have

$$(\Psi \circ \gamma)^* i(X)\Omega_{\mathcal{L}} = \gamma^* (\Psi^* i(X)\Omega_{\mathcal{L}}) = \gamma^* i(Y)\Psi^*\Omega_{\mathcal{L}},$$

where $Y \in \mathfrak{X}(E)$ is a vector field Ψ -related with X. Nevertheless, since equation (6) holds for every vector field in $J^1\pi$, we have proved

$$\gamma^* i(Y)(\Psi^*\Omega_{\mathcal{L}}) = 0$$
, for every $Y \in \mathfrak{X}(E)$.

For the converse, let $\gamma \in \Gamma(\pi)$ be an integral section of the distribution $T\pi^1(\mathcal{D}_{\mathcal{L}}|_{\mathrm{Im}(\Psi)})$, and $\Psi \in \Gamma(\pi^1)$ an integrable jet field. By the hypothesis we have that $\gamma^* i(Y)(\Psi^*\Omega_{\mathcal{L}}) = 0$ for every $Y \in \mathfrak{X}(E)$. Then, computing, we have

$$\gamma^* i(Y)(\Psi^* \Omega_{\mathcal{L}}) = \gamma^* (\Psi^* i(X) \Omega_{\mathcal{L}} = (\Psi \circ \gamma)^* i(X) \Omega_{\mathcal{L}},$$

where $X \in \mathfrak{X}(J^1\pi)$ is a vector field Ψ -related to Y. In particular, X is tangent to $\operatorname{Im}(\Psi) \hookrightarrow J^1\pi$ by construction, and we have proved that $\Psi \circ \gamma \in \Gamma(\bar{\pi}^1)$ is a solution to equation

$$(\Psi \circ \gamma)^* i(X)\Omega_{\mathcal{L}} = 0$$
, for every $X \in \mathfrak{X}(J^1\pi)$ tangent to $\operatorname{Im}(\Psi)$,

that is, to equation (10), which is equivalent to equation (6) for a section of the form $\Psi \circ \gamma$. Therefore, the section $\Psi \circ \gamma \in \Gamma(\bar{\pi}^1)$ is an integral section of $\mathcal{D}_{\mathcal{L}}$, and therefore Ψ is a solution to the generalized Lagrangian Hamilton-Jacobi problem.

A straightforward consequence of the above result is the following.

Corollary 2. Let $\Psi \in \Gamma(\pi^1)$ be an integrable jet field solution to the generalized Lagrangian Hamilton-Jacobi problem. Then the integral sections of $\mathcal{D}_{\mathcal{L}}$ with boundary conditions in $\operatorname{Im}(\Psi)$ project to the integral sections of $\mathcal{D} = \operatorname{Tm}^1(\mathcal{D}_{\mathcal{L}}|_{\operatorname{Im}(\Psi)})$.

Proof. Let $\Psi \in \Gamma(\pi^1)$ be a solution to the generalized Lagrangian Hamilton-Jacobi problem, and $\psi_{\mathcal{L}} \in \Gamma(\bar{\pi}^1)$ an integral section of $\mathcal{D}_{\mathcal{L}}$ with boundary conditions in $\operatorname{Im}(\Psi)$. Then, since the distribution $\mathcal{D}_{\mathcal{L}}$ is tangent to $\operatorname{Im}(\Psi)$ by Proposition 3, we have that $\operatorname{Im}(\psi_{\mathcal{L}}) \subseteq \operatorname{Im}(\Psi)$, and hence

$$T_u \operatorname{Im}(\pi^1 \circ \psi_{\mathcal{L}}) = T_{\Psi(u)} \pi^1(T_{\Psi(u)} \operatorname{Im}(\psi_{\mathcal{L}})) = T_{\Psi(u)} \pi^1((\mathcal{D}_{\mathcal{L}})_{\Psi(u)}) = \mathcal{D}_u,$$

where we have used that $\operatorname{Im}(\psi_{\mathcal{L}}) \subseteq \operatorname{Im}(\Psi)$ and $\Psi \circ \pi^1 = \operatorname{Id}_{\operatorname{Im}(\Psi)}$.

Coordinate expression. Let (x^i) , $1 \leq i \leq m$, be local coordinates in M such that $\eta = d^m x = dx^1 \wedge \ldots \wedge dx^m$, and (x^i, u^α) , $1 \leq \alpha \leq n$ local coordinates in E adapted to the bundle structure. Then, the induced coordinates in $J^1\pi$ are $(x^i, u^\alpha, u^\alpha_i)$, which coincide with the local coordinates adapted to the bundle structure $\pi^1 \colon J^1\pi \to E$. In these coordinates, a jet field $\Psi \in \Gamma(\pi^1)$ is given locally by $\Psi(x^i, u^\alpha) = (x^i, u^\alpha, \psi^\alpha_i)$, where $\psi^\alpha_i(x^i, u^\alpha)$ are local smooth functions on E.

Let us compute the local condition for a jet field $\Psi \in \Gamma(\pi^1)$ to be a solution to the generalized Lagrangian Hamilton-Jacobi problem. From Proposition 3 we know that this is equivalent to require the distribution $\mathcal{D}_{\mathcal{L}}$ in $J^1\pi$ to be tangent to the submanifold $\operatorname{Im}(\Psi) \hookrightarrow J^1\pi$, or, in terms of the class of multivector fields $\{\mathcal{X}_{\mathcal{L}}\} \subseteq \mathfrak{X}^m(J^1\pi)$ associated to $\mathcal{D}_{\mathcal{L}}$, to require every multivector field in the class to be tangent to $\operatorname{Im}(\Psi)$. From [25] we know that a representative $\mathcal{X}_{\mathcal{L}} \in \{\mathcal{X}_{\mathcal{L}}\}$ which is locally decomposable, $\bar{\pi}^1$ -transverse and semi-holonomic may be chosen to have the following coordinate expression

$$\mathcal{X}_{\mathcal{L}} = \bigwedge_{j=1}^{m} \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial x^{j}} + u_{j}^{\alpha} \frac{\partial}{\partial u^{\alpha}} + F_{j,i}^{\alpha} \frac{\partial}{\partial u_{i}^{\alpha}} \right) ,$$

where the functions $F_{j,i}^{\alpha}$ are the solutions to the Euler-Lagrange equations

$$\frac{\partial L}{\partial u^{\alpha}} - \frac{\partial^2 L}{\partial u_i^{\alpha} \partial x^i} - u_i^{\beta} \frac{\partial^2 L}{\partial u_i^{\alpha} \partial u^{\beta}} - F_{j,i}^{\beta} \frac{\partial^2 L}{\partial u_i^{\alpha} \partial u_j^{\beta}} = 0, \qquad (11)$$

in addition to the integrability conditions (3) (if necessary). Observe that every multivector field in the class $\{\mathcal{X}_{\mathcal{L}}\}$ is obtained by multiplying this representative by an arbitrary non-vanishing function $f \in C^{\infty}(J^1\pi)$. Then, bearing in mind that the submanifold $\operatorname{Im}(\Psi) \hookrightarrow J^1\pi$ is locally defined by the *mn* constraints $\psi_k^{\beta} - u_k^{\beta} = 0$, the condition for this particular $\mathcal{X}_{\mathcal{L}}$ to be tangent to $\operatorname{Im}(\Psi)$ gives the following partial differential equations

$$\frac{\partial \psi_k^\beta}{\partial x^j} + u_j^\alpha \frac{\partial \psi_k^\beta}{\partial u^\alpha} - F_{j,k}^\beta \Big|_{\mathrm{Im}(\Psi)} = 0.$$
(12)

This is a system of nm^2 partial differential equations with nm unknown functions ψ_k^{β} , that is, we have more equations than unknown functions.

Remark. Recall that the *n* equations (11) do not enable us to determinate all the m^2n coefficient functions $F_{i,j}^{\alpha}$, and, in general, there are $n(m^2-1)$ arbitrary functions. Therefore, equations (12) may fix not only the coefficients ψ_k^{β} of the jet field Ψ , but also some of the remaining functions $F_{i,j}^{\alpha}$ of the Euler-Lagrange multivector fields which are solutions to the field equation (7). In this way, we have a system of m^2n partial differential equations with $n(m^2 + m - 1)$ unknown functions. Note that, even in the most favorable cases, there still are n(m-1) arbitrary functions to be determined, which may be fixed by the integrability condition (3) or not.

Remark. On time-dependent mechanics, that is, for m = 1 we obtain exactly n partial differential equations and n unknown functions, since there are no arbitrary functions on the vector field solution to the Lagrangian dynamical equation.

3.2 The Lagrangian Hamilton-Jacobi problem

As in mechanics (see [14, 18]), to solve the generalized Lagrangian Hamilton-Jacobi problem is, in general, a very difficult task, since it amounts to find (m + n)-dimensional submanifolds of $J^1\pi$ such that the *m*-dimensional distribution $\mathcal{D}_{\mathcal{L}}$ is tangent to them. Because of this, we impose an additional condition on the jet field $\Psi \in \Gamma(\pi^1)$ in order to consider a less general problem.

Definition 10. The Lagrangian Hamilton-Jacobi problem consists in finding a jet field $\Psi \in \Gamma(\pi^1)$ solution to the generalized Lagrangian Hamilton-Jacobi problem satisfying that $\Psi^*\Omega_{\mathcal{L}} = 0$. Such a jet field is called a solution to the Lagrangian Hamilton-Jacobi problem.

With this new assumption we can state the following result, which is a straightforward consequence of Proposition 3, Corollary 2 and the results in [12].

Proposition 4. Let $\Psi \in \Gamma(\pi^1)$ be an integrable jet field satisfying $\Psi^*\Omega_{\mathcal{L}} = 0$. Then the following statements are equivalent:

- 1. Ψ is a solution to the Lagrangian Hamilton-Jacobi problem.
- 2. The submanifold $\operatorname{Im}(\Psi) \hookrightarrow J^1 \pi$ is m-Lagrangian and the distribution $\mathcal{D}_{\mathcal{L}}$ is tangent to it.
- 3. The integral sections of $\mathcal{D}_{\mathcal{L}}$ with boundary conditions in $\operatorname{Im}(\Psi)$ project onto the integral sections of $\mathcal{D} = \operatorname{T}\pi^1(\mathcal{D}_{\mathcal{L}}|_{\operatorname{Im}(\Psi)})$.

Coordinate expression. In coordinates, we have

$$\begin{split} \Psi^*\Omega_{\mathcal{L}} &= \left(\frac{\partial^2 L}{\partial u_i^{\alpha} \partial u^{\beta}} + \frac{\partial^2 L}{\partial u_i^{\alpha} \partial u_k^{\delta}} \frac{\partial \psi_k^{\delta}}{\partial u^{\beta}}\right) \mathrm{d} u^{\alpha} \wedge \mathrm{d} u^{\beta} \wedge \mathrm{d}^{m-1} x_i \\ &+ \left(\frac{\partial^2 L}{\partial u_i^{\alpha} \partial u_k^{\beta}} \frac{\partial \psi_k^{\beta}}{\partial x^i} + \psi_i^{\beta} \frac{\partial^2 L}{\partial u_i^{\beta} \partial u^{\alpha}} - \frac{\partial L}{\partial u^{\alpha}} + \psi_i^{\delta} \frac{\partial^2 L}{\partial u_i^{\delta} \partial u_k^{\beta}} \frac{\partial \psi_k^{\beta}}{\partial u^{\alpha}}\right) \mathrm{d} u^{\alpha} \wedge \mathrm{d}^m x \,. \end{split}$$

Hence, the condition $\Psi^*\Omega_{\mathcal{L}} = 0$ gives the following system of n(1 + m(n-1)) partial differential equations

$$\frac{\partial^2 L}{\partial u_i^\alpha \partial u^\beta} + \frac{\partial^2 L}{\partial u_i^\alpha \partial u_k^\delta} \frac{\partial \psi_k^\delta}{\partial u^\beta} = 0 \quad ; \quad \frac{\partial^2 L}{\partial u_i^\alpha \partial u_k^\beta} \frac{\partial \psi_k^\beta}{\partial x^i} + \psi_i^\beta \frac{\partial^2 L}{\partial u_i^\beta \partial u^\alpha} - \frac{\partial L}{\partial u^\alpha} + \psi_i^\delta \frac{\partial^2 L}{\partial u_i^\delta \partial u_k^\beta} \frac{\partial \psi_k^\beta}{\partial u^\alpha} = 0 \,,$$

where $1 \leq i \leq m$, $1 \leq \alpha < \beta \leq n$ in the first set, and $1 \leq \alpha \leq n$ in the second. These two sets of equations may be combined to obtain the following system

$$\frac{\partial^2 L}{\partial u_i^{\alpha} \partial u^{\beta}} + \frac{\partial^2 L}{\partial u_i^{\alpha} \partial u_k^{\delta}} \frac{\partial \psi_k^{\delta}}{\partial u^{\beta}} = 0 \quad ; \quad \frac{\partial^2 L}{\partial u_i^{\alpha} \partial u_k^{\beta}} \frac{\partial \psi_k^{\beta}}{\partial x^i} - \frac{\partial L}{\partial u^{\alpha}} = 0.$$
(13)

On the other hand, observe that since $\Psi^*\Omega_{\mathcal{L}} = -d(\Psi^*\Theta_{\mathcal{L}})$, the condition $\Psi^*\Omega_{\mathcal{L}} = 0$ is equivalent to requiring the *m*-form $\Psi^*\Theta_{\mathcal{L}} \in \Omega^m(E)$ to be closed. In particular, using Poincaré's Lemma, the *m*-form $\Psi^*\Theta_{\mathcal{L}}$ is locally exact, that is, there exists a (m-1)-form $\omega \in \Omega^{m-1}(U)$, with $U \subseteq E$ an open set, such that $d\omega = \Psi^*\Theta_{\mathcal{L}}$. Moreover, since $\Theta_{\mathcal{L}}$ is π^1 -semibasic, so is $\Psi^*\Theta_{\mathcal{L}}$, and therefore ω must be π -semibasic. In coordinates, bearing in mind the coordinate expression (4) of the Cartan *m*-form, we obtain

$$\Psi^* \Theta_{\mathcal{L}} = \frac{\partial L}{\partial u_i^{\alpha}} \mathrm{d} u^{\alpha} \wedge \mathrm{d}^{m-1} x_i - \left(\frac{\partial L}{\partial u_i^{\alpha}} \psi_i^{\alpha} - L\right) \mathrm{d}^m x \,.$$

In addition, the coordinate expression for a generic π -semibasic local (m-1)-form ω in E is

$$\omega = W^i \mathrm{d}^{m-1} x_i \,,$$

where $W^i \in C^{\infty}(E)$ are local functions. From this we deduce the local expression of the *m*-form $d\omega$, which is

$$\mathrm{d}\omega = \sum_{i=1}^{m} \frac{\partial W^{i}}{\partial x^{i}} \,\mathrm{d}^{m}x + \frac{\partial W^{i}}{\partial u^{\alpha}} \,\mathrm{d}u^{\alpha} \wedge \mathrm{d}^{m-1}x_{i}$$

Finally, requiring $d\omega = \Psi^* \Theta_{\mathcal{L}}$, we obtain

$$\sum_{i=1}^{m} \frac{\partial W^{i}}{\partial x^{i}} + \psi_{i}^{\alpha} \left. \frac{\partial L}{\partial u_{i}^{\alpha}} \right|_{\mathrm{Im}(\Psi)} - L(x^{i}, u^{\alpha}, \psi_{i}^{\alpha}) = 0 \quad ; \quad \frac{\partial W^{i}}{\partial u^{\alpha}} = \left. \frac{\partial L}{\partial u_{i}^{\alpha}} \right|_{\mathrm{Im}(\Psi)}$$

which may be combined to give the equation

$$\sum_{i=1}^{m} \frac{\partial W^{i}}{\partial x^{i}} + \psi_{i}^{\alpha} \frac{\partial W^{i}}{\partial u^{\alpha}} - L(x^{i}, u^{\alpha}, \psi_{i}^{\alpha}) = 0, \qquad (14)$$

which is the Hamilton-Jacobi equation in the Lagrangian formalism.

3.3 Complete solutions

In the above Sections we stated the Hamilton-Jacobi problem in the Lagrangian formalism, and a jet field $\Psi \in \Gamma(\pi^1)$ solution to this problem gives a particular solution to the Lagrangian problem in the form of a submanifold the phase space $J^1\pi$. Nevertheless, this is not a complete solution to the Lagrangian problem, since only the integral sections of the distribution $\mathcal{D}_{\mathcal{L}}$ with boundary conditions in $\operatorname{Im}(\Psi)$ can be recovered from the solution to the Hamilton-Jacobi problem.

Hence, in order to obtain a complete solution to the problem, we need to endow the phase space $J^1\pi$ with a foliation such that every leaf is the image set of a jet field solution to the Lagrangian Hamilton-Jacobi problem. The precise definition is:

Definition 11. A complete solution to the Lagrangian Hamilton-Jacobi problem is a local diffeomorphism $\Phi: U \times E \to J^1 \pi$, with $U \subseteq \mathbb{R}^{mn}$ an open set, such that for every $\lambda \in U$, the map $\Psi_{\lambda}(\bullet) \equiv \Phi(\lambda, \bullet): E \to J^1 \pi$ is a jet field in E solution to the Lagrangian Hamilton-Jacobi problem.

Remark. An alternative, but equivalent, definition of a complete solution consists in giving the full set of jet fields $\{\Psi_{\lambda} \in \Gamma(\pi^1) \mid \lambda \in U \subseteq \mathbb{R}^{mn}\}$ depending on mn parameters, instead of the local diffeomorphism Φ .

From the definition we deduce that a complete solution endows the Lagrangian phase space $J^1\pi$ with a foliation transverse to the fibers such that every leaf has dimension m + n and the distribution $\mathcal{D}_{\mathcal{L}}$ is tangent to it.

It follows from this last comment that a complete solution to the Lagrangian Hamilton-Jacobi problem enables us to recover every integral section of the distribution $\mathcal{D}_{\mathcal{L}}$ solution to the Lagrangian problem, that is, we can recover every section solution to the Euler-Lagrange equations for classical field theories. In particular, let Φ be a complete solution, and let us consider the following set of distributions in E:

$$\left\{ \mathcal{D}_{\lambda} = \mathrm{T}\pi^{1}(\mathcal{D}_{\mathcal{L}}|_{\mathrm{Im}(\Psi_{\lambda})}) \subseteq \mathrm{T}E \mid \lambda \in U \subseteq \mathbb{R}^{mn} \right\} \,,$$

where $\Psi_{\lambda}(\bullet) \equiv \Phi(\lambda, \bullet)$. Then, the integral sections of \mathcal{D}_{λ} , for different values of the parameter $\lambda \in U$, provide all the integral sections of the distribution $\mathcal{D}_{\mathcal{L}}$ solution to the Lagrangian problem. Indeed, let $j_x^1 \phi \in J^1 \pi$ be a point, and let us denote $u = \phi(x) = \pi^1(j_x^1 \phi)$. Then, since Φ is a complete solution, there exists $\lambda_o \in U$ such that $\Phi(\lambda_o, u) \equiv \Psi_{\lambda_o}(u) = j_x^1 \phi$, and the integral sections of \mathcal{D}_{λ_o} through u, composed with Ψ_{λ_o} , give the integral sections of $\mathcal{D}_{\mathcal{L}}$ through $j_x^1 \phi$.

4 The Hamilton-Jacobi problem in the Hamiltonian formalism

As in the Lagrangian formalism, the configuration bundle in the Hamiltonian formulation for multisymplectic classical field theories is a bundle $\pi: E \to M$, where M is a *m*-dimensional orientable manifold with fixed volume form $\eta \in \Omega^m(M)$, and dim E = m + n. Two phase spaces are considered in this formulation: the extended multimomentum bundle $\Lambda_2^m(T^*E)$ and the restricted multimomentum bundle $J^1\pi^*$ introduced in Section 2.2.

The physical information is given in terms of a Hamiltonian section $h \in \Gamma(\mu)$, which is specified by a local Hamiltonian function $H \in C^{\infty}(J^{1}\pi^{*})$, that is, we have $h(x^{i}, u^{\alpha}, p_{\alpha}^{i}) = (x^{i}, u^{\alpha}, -H, p_{\alpha}^{i})$. Then, from the canonical forms in $\Lambda_{2}^{m}(T^{*}E)$, and using this Hamiltonian section, the Hamilton-Cartan forms $\Theta_{h} = h^{*}\Theta \in \Omega^{m}(J^{1}\pi^{*})$ and $\Omega_{h} = h^{*}\Omega = -\mathrm{d}\Theta_{h} \in \Omega^{m+1}(J^{1}\pi^{*})$ are constructed, with coordinate expressions

$$\Theta_h = p^i_{\alpha} \mathrm{d} u^{\alpha} \wedge \mathrm{d}^{m-1} x_i - H \mathrm{d}^m x \quad ; \quad \Omega_h = -\mathrm{d} p^i_{\alpha} \wedge \mathrm{d} u^{\alpha} \wedge \mathrm{d}^{m-1} x_i + \mathrm{d} H \wedge \mathrm{d}^m x \; .$$

Then, the Hamiltonian problem for a first-order classical field theory is the following: to find m-dimensional, $\bar{\pi}_E^r$ -transverse and integrable distribution \mathcal{D}_h in $J^1\pi^*$ such that the integral sections $\psi_h \in \Gamma(\bar{\pi}_E^r)$ of \mathcal{D}_h are solutions to the field equation

$$\psi_h^* i(X)\Omega_h = 0, \text{ for every } X \in \mathfrak{X}(J^1\pi^*).$$
 (15)

Contrary to the Lagrangian formalism for classical field theories, the (m + 1)-form $\Omega_h \in \Omega^{m+1}(J^1\pi^*)$ is multisymplectic regardless of the Hamiltonian section $h \in \Gamma(\mu)$ provided, in the same way that it occurs in Classical Mechanics in the Lagrangian and Hamiltonian formalisms. Therefore, there exists such a distribution \mathcal{D}_h , although it is not necessarily integrable. In the following we assume that the distribution \mathcal{D}_h is integrable.

From the results in Section 2.3, this distribution \mathcal{D}_h is associated with a class of integrable and $\bar{\pi}_E^r$ -transverse multivector fields $\{\mathcal{X}_h\} \subseteq \mathfrak{X}^m(J^1\pi^*)$ satisfying

$$i(\mathcal{X}_h)\Omega_h = 0$$
, for every $\mathcal{X}_h \in \{\mathcal{X}_h\}$. (16)

Same comments apply: since the (m + 1)-form Ω_h is 1-nondegenerate a $\bar{\pi}_E^r$ -transverse solution to equation (16) does exist, but it may not be integrable. In the following we assume that every multivector field in the class $\{\mathcal{X}_h\}$ is integrable.

(For more details on the Hamiltonian formalism of field theories see, for instance, [13, 26, 31, 34, 38, 53]).

4.1 The generalized Hamiltonian Hamilton-Jacobi problem

Following the patterns in [14] and in previous Sections, we first state a generalized version of the Hamilton-Jacobi problem in the Hamiltonian formalism.

Definition 12. The generalized Hamiltonian Hamilton-Jacobi problem consists in finding a section $s \in \Gamma(\pi_E^r)$ and a m-dimensional and integrable distribution \mathcal{D} in E such that if $\gamma \in \Gamma(\pi)$ is an integral section of \mathcal{D} , then $s \circ \gamma \in \Gamma(\overline{\pi}_E^r)$ is an integral section of \mathcal{D}_h , that is,

$$T_{u}\operatorname{Im}(\gamma) = \mathcal{D}_{u} \quad \forall u \in \operatorname{Im}(\gamma) \Longrightarrow T_{[\omega]}\operatorname{Im}(s \circ \gamma) = (\mathcal{D}_{h})_{[\omega]} \quad \forall \ [\omega] \in \operatorname{Im}(s \circ \gamma) .$$
(17)

As in the Lagrangian formulation stated in Section 3, from the results in Section 2.3 we know that both \mathcal{D} and \mathcal{D}_h are associated with their corresponding classes of multivector fields. Thus, we can state the generalized Hamiltonian Hamilton-Jacobi problem in an equivalent way in terms of multivector fields as the search of a section $s \in \Gamma(\pi_E^r)$ and a class of locally decomposable and integrable multivector fields $\{\mathcal{X}\} \subseteq \mathfrak{X}^m(E)$ such that if $\gamma \in \Gamma(\pi)$ is an integral section of every multivector field $\mathcal{X} \in \{\mathcal{X}\}$, then $s \circ \gamma \in \Gamma(\overline{\pi}_E^r)$ is an integral section of every multivector field $\mathcal{X}_h \in \{\mathcal{X}_h\}$ solution to equation (16), that is,

$$\mathcal{X} \circ \gamma = \Lambda^m \dot{\gamma} \quad \forall \mathcal{X} \in \{\mathcal{X}\} \Longrightarrow \mathcal{X}_h \circ s \circ \gamma = \Lambda^m (\overline{s \circ \gamma}) \quad \forall \mathcal{X}_h \in \{\mathcal{X}_h\}.$$
(18)

Again, as in the Lagrangian formalism we have the following diagram illustrating this equivalent formulation of the generalized Hamiltonian Hamilton-Jacobi problem



where the interpretation is the same as in the corresponding diagram for the Lagrangian formalism: if the lower diagram formed by γ , \mathcal{X} and $\Lambda^m \dot{\gamma}$ is commutative for every $\mathcal{X} \in \{\mathcal{X}\}$, then the upper diagram formed by $s \circ \gamma$, \mathcal{X}_h and $\Lambda^m(\overline{s \circ \gamma})$ is also commutative for every $\mathcal{X}_h \in \{\mathcal{X}_h\}$.

Remark. Analogously to the Lagrangian formulation, the section $s \circ \gamma \in \Gamma(\bar{\pi}_E^r)$ is an integral section of the distribution \mathcal{D}_h solution to the Hamiltonian problem and, therefore, it is a solution to the equation (15), that is,

$$(s \circ \gamma)^* i(X)\Omega_h = 0$$
, for every $X \in \mathfrak{X}(J^1\pi^*)$.

Then, bearing in mind that the action of the *m*-form $(s \circ \gamma)^* i(X)\Omega_h \in \Omega^m(M)$ on *m* tangent vectors $v_i \in T_x M$ ($x \in M$) is defined as

$$\left((s\circ\gamma)^* i(X)\Omega_h\right)_x (v_1,\ldots,v_m) = (\Omega_h)_{s(\gamma(x))} (X(s(\gamma(x))), \mathcal{T}_x(s\circ\gamma)(v_1),\ldots,\mathcal{T}_x(s\circ\gamma)(v_m)),$$

from where we observe that $X(s(\gamma(x))) \in T_{s(\gamma(x))} \operatorname{Im}(s \circ \gamma) \subset T_{s(\gamma(x))} \operatorname{Im}(s)$, that is, the vector field X is tangent to the submanifold $\operatorname{Im}(s) \hookrightarrow J^1 \pi^*$. Hence, we conclude that in this case equation (15) is equivalent to

$$(s \circ \gamma)^* i(X)\Omega_h = 0$$
, for every $X \in \mathfrak{X}(J^1\pi^*)$ tangent to $\operatorname{Im}(s)$.

It is clear from the Definition that the distribution \mathcal{D} in E, the section $s \in \Gamma(\pi_E^r)$ and the Hamiltonian distribution \mathcal{D}_h in $J^1\pi^*$ are closely related. In fact, we have the following result, which is the analogous to Proposition 2 in the Hamiltonian formalism.

Proposition 5. The section $s \in \Gamma(\pi_E^r)$ and the distribution \mathcal{D} in E satisfy condition (17) if, and only if, \mathcal{D} and \mathcal{D}_h are s-related.

Proof. This proof follows exactly the same patterns as the proof of Proposition 5.

As in the Lagrangian formalism, a straightforward consequence of this last result is the following.

Corollary 3. If the section $s \in \Gamma(\pi_E^r)$ and the distribution \mathcal{D} in E satisfy condition (17), then for every $\mathcal{X} \in \{\mathcal{X}\}$ there exists a multivector field $\mathcal{X}_h \in \{\mathcal{X}_h\}$ such that \mathcal{X} is given by

$$\mathcal{X} = \Lambda^m \mathrm{T} \pi_E^r \circ \mathcal{X}_h \circ s \,.$$

Proof. The proof follows the same patterns as in the proof of Corollary 1.

That is, the class of integrable multivector fields $\{\mathcal{X}\} \subseteq \mathfrak{X}^m(E)$ is completely determinated by the section $s \in \Gamma(\pi_E^r)$ and the class of multivector fields $\{\mathcal{X}_h\} \subseteq \mathfrak{X}^m(J^1\pi^*)$ solution to the equation (16), and every multivector field $\mathcal{X} = \Lambda^m T\pi_E^r \circ \mathcal{X}_h \circ s \in \{\mathcal{X}\}$ is called the *multivector* field associated to s and \mathcal{X}_h . The diagram which illustrates this situation is the following:

$$J^{1}\pi^{*} \xrightarrow{\chi_{h}} \Lambda^{m}(\mathrm{T}J^{1}\pi^{*})$$

$$s \left(\left| \begin{array}{c} \pi_{E}^{r} & \Lambda^{m}\mathrm{T}\pi_{E}^{r} \\ \end{array} \right| \right) \Lambda^{m}\mathrm{T}s$$

$$E \xrightarrow{\chi} \Lambda^{m}(\mathrm{T}E)$$

 \Diamond

As a consequence, the integrable distribution \mathcal{D} in E is completely determinated by the section $s \in \Gamma(\pi_E^r)$ and the distribution \mathcal{D}_h solution to the Hamiltonian problem as $\mathcal{D}_{\pi_E^r([\omega])} = T_{[\omega]}\pi_E^r((\mathcal{D}_h)_{[\omega]})$ for every $[\omega] \in J^1\pi^*$, or $\mathcal{D} = T\pi_E^r(\mathcal{D}_h|_{\mathrm{Im}(s)})$, and it is called the distribution associated to s.

From Corollary 3 we deduce that the search for a section $s \in \Gamma(\pi_E^r)$ and a distribution \mathcal{D} in E satisfying condition (17) is equivalent to the search of a section $s \in \Gamma(\pi_E^r)$ such that condition (17) is satisfied with the associated distribution $T\pi_E^r(\mathcal{D}_h|_{\mathrm{Im}(s)})$. Therefore, we can give the following definition.

Definition 13. A solution to the generalized Hamiltonian Hamilton-Jacobi problem is a section $s \in \Gamma(\pi_E^r)$ such that if $\gamma \in \Gamma(\pi)$ is an integral section of the m-dimensional and integrable distribution $\mathrm{T}\pi_E^r(\mathcal{D}_h|_{\mathrm{Im}(s)})$ in E, then $s \circ \gamma \in \Gamma(\bar{\pi}_E^r)$ is an integral section of \mathcal{D}_h .

Proposition 6. Let $s \in \Gamma(\pi_E^r)$ be a section. Then, the following conditions are equivalent.

- 1. s is a solution to the generalized Hamiltonian Hamilton-Jacobi problem.
- 2. The distribution \mathcal{D}_h in $J^1\pi^*$ is tangent to the submanifold $\operatorname{Im}(s) \hookrightarrow J^1\pi^*$, that is, $(\mathcal{D}_h)_{[\omega]} \subseteq \operatorname{T}_{[\omega]}\operatorname{Im}(s)$ for every $[\omega] \in \operatorname{Im}(s)$.
- 3. s satisfies the equation

$$\gamma^* i(Y) d(h \circ s) = 0$$
, for every $Y \in \mathfrak{X}(E)$

where $\gamma \in \Gamma(\pi)$ is an integral section of the associated distribution $\mathrm{T}\pi_E^r(\mathcal{D}_h|_{\mathrm{Im}(s)})$.

Proof. This proof follows the same patterns as the proof of Proposition 3, bearing in mind the properties of the tautological *m*-form $\Theta \in \Omega^m(\Lambda_2^m(T^*E))$, that is, we have $\omega^*\Theta = \omega$ for every $\omega \in \Omega^m(E)$. Because of this, we have

$$s^*\Omega_h = s^*(h^*\Omega) = (h \circ s)^*\Omega = (h \circ s)^*(-\mathrm{d}\Theta) = -\mathrm{d}(h \circ s)^*\Theta = -\mathrm{d}(h \circ s)\,,\tag{19}$$

and therefore the equation

$$(s \circ \gamma)^* i(X)\Omega_h = 0$$
, for every $X \in \mathfrak{X}(J^1\pi^*)$,

gives rise to equation

 $\gamma^* i(Y) d(h \circ s) = 0$, for every $Y \in \mathfrak{X}(E)$.

As in the Lagrangian formalism, a consequence of Proposition 6 is the following result.

Corollary 4. Let $s \in \Gamma(\pi_E^r)$ be a section solution to the generalized Hamiltonian Hamilton-Jacobi problem. Then the integral sections of \mathcal{D}_h with boundary conditions in Im(s) project to the integral sections of $\mathcal{D} = T\pi_E^r(\mathcal{D}_h|_{\text{Im}(s)})$.

Proof. This proof is analogous to the proof of Corollary 2.

Coordinate expression. Let (x^i) , $1 \le i \le m$, be local coordinates in M such that $\eta = d^m x = dx^1 \land \ldots \land dx^m$, and (x^i, u^α) , $1 \le \alpha \le n$ local coordinates in E adapted to the bundle structure. Then, the induced coordinates in $J^1\pi^*$ are $(x^i, u^\alpha, p^i_\alpha)$, which coincide with the local coordinates adapted to the bundle structure $\pi^r_E: J^1\pi^* \to E$. In these coordinates, a section $s \in \Gamma(\pi^r_E)$ is given locally by $s(x^i, u^\alpha) = (x^i, u^\alpha, s^i_\alpha)$, where $s^i_\alpha(x^i, u^\alpha)$ are local smooth functions on E.

Let us compute the local condition for a section $s \in \Gamma(\pi_E^r)$ to be a solution to the generalized Hamiltonian Hamilton-Jacobi problem. From Proposition 6 we know that this is equivalent to require the distribution \mathcal{D}_h solution to the Hamiltonian problem to be tangent to the submanifold $\operatorname{Im}(s) \hookrightarrow J^1\pi^*$, or, in terms of the associated class of multivector fields $\{\mathcal{X}_h\} \subseteq \mathfrak{X}^m(J^1\pi^*)$, to require every multivector field in the class to be tangent to $\operatorname{Im}(s)$. From [53] we know that a representative $\mathcal{X}_h \in \{\mathcal{X}_h\}$ which is locally decomposable and $\overline{\pi}_E^r$ -transverse may be chosen to have the following coordinate expression

$$\mathcal{X}_{h} = \bigwedge_{j=1}^{m} \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial x^{j}} + \frac{\partial H}{\partial p_{\alpha}^{j}} \frac{\partial}{\partial u^{\alpha}} + G_{\alpha,j}^{i} \frac{\partial}{\partial p_{\alpha}^{i}} \right) \,,$$

where the functions $G^i_{\alpha,j}$ are the solutions to the equations

$$\sum_{i=1}^{m} G_{\alpha,i}^{i} = -\frac{\partial H}{\partial u^{\alpha}}, \qquad (20)$$

in addition to the integrability conditions (if necessary), which in this case give the following system of $nm(m^2-1)/2$ partial differential equations for the component functions $G^i_{\alpha,j}$

$$\frac{\partial^{2}H}{\partial x^{j}\partial p_{\alpha}^{k}} + \frac{\partial H}{\partial p_{\beta}^{j}} \frac{\partial^{2}H}{\partial u^{\beta}\partial p_{\alpha}^{k}} + G_{\beta,j}^{l} \frac{\partial^{2}H}{\partial p_{\beta}^{l}\partial p_{\alpha}^{k}} - \frac{\partial^{2}H}{\partial x^{k}\partial p_{\alpha}^{j}} - \frac{\partial H}{\partial p_{\beta}^{k}} \frac{\partial^{2}H}{\partial u^{\beta}\partial p_{\alpha}^{j}} - G_{\beta,k}^{l} \frac{\partial^{2}H}{\partial p_{\beta}^{l}\partial p_{\alpha}^{j}} = 0,$$

$$\frac{\partial G_{\alpha,k}^{i}}{\partial x^{j}} + \frac{\partial H}{\partial p_{\beta}^{j}} \frac{\partial G_{\alpha,k}^{i}}{\partial u^{\beta}} + G_{\beta,j}^{l} \frac{\partial G_{\alpha,k}^{i}}{\partial p_{\beta}^{l}} - \frac{\partial G_{\alpha,j}^{i}}{\partial x^{k}} - \frac{\partial H}{\partial p_{\beta}^{k}} \frac{\partial G_{\alpha,j}^{i}}{\partial u^{\beta}} - G_{\beta,k}^{l} \frac{\partial G_{\alpha,j}^{i}}{\partial p_{\beta}^{l}} = 0.$$
(21)

Then, bearing in mind that the submanifold $\text{Im}(s) \hookrightarrow J^1 \pi^*$ is locally defined by the mn constraints $s^k_\beta - p^k_\beta = 0$, the condition for this representative of the class to be tangent to Im(s) gives the following partial differential equations

$$\frac{\partial s^k_{\beta}}{\partial x^j} + \frac{\partial H}{\partial p^j_{\alpha}} \frac{\partial s^k_{\beta}}{\partial u^{\alpha}} - G^k_{\beta,j} \bigg|_{\mathrm{Im}(s)} = 0.$$
(22)

This is a system of nm^2 partial differential equations with nm unknown functions s^k_β , that is, we have more equations than unknown functions.

Remark. Recall that equations (20) do not determinate uniquely all the coefficient functions $G_{\alpha,j}^i$, since there are m^2n unknown functions $G_{\alpha,j}^i$ and we have only n equations, which implies that, in general, there are $n(m^2-1)$ arbitrary functions. Therefore, equations (22) could enable us to fix some of the arbitrary functions $G_{\alpha,j}^i$ of the Hamiltonian multivector fields solution to the field equation (16). From this point of view, equations (22) are a system of m^2n partial differential equations with $n(m^2 + m - 1)$ unknown functions. Note that in the most favorable cases there still are n(m-1) arbitrary functions to be determined, which may be fixed by the integrability condition (21) or not.

Remark. On time-dependent mechanics, that is, for m = 1 we obtain exactly n partial differential equations and n unknown functions, since there are no arbitrary functions on the vector field solution to the Hamiltonian dynamical equation.

4.2 The Hamiltonian Hamilton-Jacobi problem

As in mechanics (see [14, 18]), to solve the generalized Hamiltonian Hamilton-Jacobi problem is, in general, a very difficult task, since it amounts to find mn-codimensional submanifolds of $J^1\pi^*$ such that the *m*-dimensional distribution \mathcal{D}_h is tangent to them. For this reason we require an additional condition to the section $s \in \Gamma(\pi_E^r)$, and thus we consider a more particular problem. **Definition 14.** The Hamiltonian Hamilton-Jacobi problem consists in finding a section $s \in \Gamma(\pi_E^r)$ solution to the generalized Hamiltonian Hamilton-Jacobi problem such that $s^*\Omega_h = 0$. Such a section is called a solution to the Hamiltonian Hamilton-Jacobi problem.

Remark. Bearing in mind the properties of the tautological *m*-form $\Theta \in \Omega^m(\Lambda_2^m(\mathbf{T}^*E))$, and the calculations in (19), the condition $s^*\Omega_h = 0$ is equivalent to the closedness of the *m*-form $h \circ s \in \Omega^m(E)$.

With this new assumption we can state the following result, which is a straightforward consequence of Proposition 6, Corollary 4 and the results on isotropic submanifold of multisymplectic manifolds in [12].

Proposition 7. Let $s \in \Gamma(\pi_E^r)$ be a section satisfying $s^*\Omega_h = 0$. Then the following statements are equivalent:

- 1. s is a solution to the Hamiltonian Hamilton-Jacobi problem.
- 2. The submanifold $\text{Im}(s) \hookrightarrow J^1 \pi^*$ is m-Lagrangian and the distribution \mathcal{D}_h solution to the Hamiltonian problem is tangent to it.
- 3. The integral sections of \mathcal{D}_h with boundary conditions in $\operatorname{Im}(s)$ project onto the integral sections of $\mathcal{D} = \operatorname{T\pi}_E^r(\mathcal{D}_h|_{\operatorname{Im}(s)})$.

Coordinate expression. In coordinates, we have

$$s^*\Omega_h = -\mathrm{d}(h \circ s) = \left(\frac{\partial H}{\partial u^{\alpha}} + \frac{\partial H}{\partial p^j_{\beta}}\frac{\partial s^j_{\beta}}{\partial u^{\alpha}} + \sum_{i=1}^m \frac{\partial s^i_{\alpha}}{\partial x^i}\right)\mathrm{d}u^{\alpha} \wedge \mathrm{d}^m x + \frac{\partial s^i_{\alpha}}{\partial u^{\beta}}\mathrm{d}u^{\alpha} \wedge \mathrm{d}u^{\beta} \wedge \mathrm{d}^{m-1}x_i \,.$$

Hence, the condition $s^*\Omega_h = 0$ or, equivalently, $d(h \circ s) = 0$, gives the following n(1 + m(n-1)) partial differential equations

$$\frac{\partial H}{\partial u^{\alpha}} + \frac{\partial H}{\partial p^{j}_{\beta}} \frac{\partial s^{j}_{\beta}}{\partial u^{\alpha}} + \sum_{i=1}^{m} \frac{\partial s^{i}_{\alpha}}{\partial x^{i}} = 0 \quad ; \quad \frac{\partial s^{i}_{\alpha}}{\partial u^{\beta}} - \frac{\partial s^{i}_{\beta}}{\partial u^{\alpha}} = 0 ,$$
(23)

where $1 \leq \alpha \leq n$ in the first set, and $1 \leq \alpha < \beta \leq n$ in the second. Therefore, a section $s \in \Gamma(\pi_E^r)$ solution to the Hamiltonian Hamilton-Jacobi problem must satisfy the $m^2n + mn(n-1) + n$ partial differential equations (22) and (23).

Remark. Since equations (23) are the analogous to equations (13) in the Hamiltonian formalism we deduce that, in general, equations (23) may not be locally linear independent among themselves or together with (22). In particular, we may have less equations than the $m^2n + mn(n-1) + n$ given by (22) and (23).

Now we recover the classic Hamilton-Jacobi equation for first-order classical field theories. Since the π_E^r -semibasic *m*-form $h \circ s$ is closed, by Poincaré's Lemma it is locally exact, that is, there exists a π -semibasic (m-1)-form $\omega \in \Omega^{m-1}(U)$, with $U \subseteq E$ an open set, such that $d\omega = h \circ s$. In coordinates, a semibasic (m-1)-form defined in an open set of E is given by

$$\omega = W^i \mathrm{d}^{m-1} x_i$$

with $W^i \in C^{\infty}(E)$ being local functions. From this, the *m*-form $d\omega$ is given by

$$\mathrm{d}\omega = \sum_{i=1}^{m} \frac{\partial W^{i}}{\partial x^{i}} \,\mathrm{d}^{m}x + \frac{\partial W^{i}}{\partial u^{\alpha}} \,\mathrm{d}u^{\alpha} \wedge \mathrm{d}^{m-1}x_{i} \,.$$

Hence, requiring the identity $d\omega = h \circ s$ to hold, we obtain

$$-H(x^{i}, u^{\alpha}, s^{i}_{\alpha}) = \sum_{i=1}^{m} \frac{\partial W^{i}}{\partial x^{i}} \quad ; \quad \frac{\partial W^{i}}{\partial u^{\alpha}} = s^{i}_{\alpha} \,,$$

from where the classic Hamilton-Jacobi equation is deduced

$$\sum_{i=1}^{m} \frac{\partial W^{i}}{\partial x^{i}} + H\left(x^{i}, u^{\alpha}, \frac{\partial W^{i}}{\partial u^{\alpha}}\right) = 0.$$
(24)

4.3 Complete solutions

As in the Lagrangian formalism stated in Section 3, in the previous Sections we stated the Hamiltonian formulation of the Hamilton-Jacobi problem for first-order classical field theories. As we have proved previously, a section $s \in \Gamma(\pi_E^r)$ solution to the Hamilton-Jacobi problem gives rise to a particular set of solutions to the Hamiltonian problem in terms of a submanifold of phase space $J^1\pi^*$. Observe, however, that this section of the bundle $J^1\pi^* \to E$ is not a complete solution to the Hamiltonian problem, since only the integral sections of \mathcal{D}_h with boundary conditions in $\mathrm{Im}(s)$ can be recovered from the solution to the Hamilton-Jacobi problem.

Therefore, a complete solution to the problem is given in terms of a foliation of the phase space $J^1\pi^*$ such that every leaf is the image set of a section solution to the Hamiltonian Hamilton-Jacobi problem.

Definition 15. A complete solution to the Hamiltonian Hamilton-Jacobi problem is a local diffeomorphism $\Phi: U \times E \to J^1\pi^*$, with $U \subseteq \mathbb{R}^{mn}$ an open set, such that for every $\lambda \in U$, the map $s_{\lambda}(\bullet) \equiv \Phi(\lambda, \bullet): E \to J^1\pi^*$ is a section of the projection π_E^r which is a solution to the Hamiltonian Hamilton-Jacobi problem.

As in the Lagrangian formalism, it follows from the definition that a complete solution provides the manifold $J^1\pi^*$ with a foliation transverse to the fibers satisfying that every leaf is (m+n)-dimensional and the distribution \mathcal{D}_h is tangent to it.

Moreover, from a complete solution to the Hamiltonian Hamilton-Jacobi problem we can recover every section solution to the Hamilton-De Donder-Weyl equations. In particular, let Φ be a complete solution, and let us consider the following set of distributions in E

$$\left\{ \mathcal{D}_{\lambda} = \mathrm{T}\pi_{E}^{r}(\mathcal{D}_{h}|_{\mathrm{Im}(s_{\lambda})}) \subset \mathrm{T}E \mid \lambda \in U \subseteq \mathbb{R}^{mn} \right\} \,,$$

where $s_{\lambda}(\bullet) \equiv \Phi(\lambda, \bullet)$. Then, the integral sections of \mathcal{D}_{λ} , for different values of $\lambda \in U$, provide all the integral sections of the distribution \mathcal{D}_h solution to the Hamiltonian problem. Indeed, let $[\omega] \in J^1 \pi^*$ be a point, and let $u = \pi_E^r([\omega])$ be its projection to E. Then, since Φ is a complete solution, there exists $\lambda_o \in U$ such that $\Phi(\lambda_o, u) \equiv s_{\lambda_o}(u) = [\omega]$, and the integral sections of \mathcal{D}_{λ_o} through u, lifted to $J^1 \pi^*$ by s_{λ_o} , give the integral sections of \mathcal{D}_h through $[\omega]$.

4.4 Equivalence with the Lagrangian formalism

In previous Sections we have stated the (generalized) Hamilton-Jacobi problem for multisymplectic classical field theories in both the Lagrangian and Hamiltonian formalisms. In the following we establish a bijective relation between the solution of the Hamilton-Jacobi problem in both formulations in terms of the restricted Legendre map.

First of all, recall that since the Cartan *m*-form $\Theta_{\mathcal{L}} \in \Omega^m(J^1\pi)$ is π^1 -semibasic, we can give the following definition.

Definition 16. The extended Legendre map associated with the Lagrangian $\mathcal{L} \in \Omega^m(J^1\pi)$ is the bundle map $\widetilde{\mathcal{FL}}: J^1\pi \to \Lambda_2^m(\mathrm{T}^*E)$ over E defined as follows:

$$(\Theta_{\mathcal{L}}(j_x^1\phi))(Y_1(j_x^1\phi),\dots,Y_m(j_x^1\phi)) = (\mathcal{F}\mathcal{L}(j_x^1\phi))((T_{j_x^1\phi}\pi^1Y_1)(\phi(x)),\dots,(T_{j_x^1\phi}\pi^1Y_m)(\phi(x))) + (\mathcal{F}\mathcal{L}(j_x^1\phi))((T_{j_x^1\phi}\pi^1Y_1)(\phi(x)),\dots,(T_{j_x^1\phi}\pi^1Y_m)(\phi(x))) + (\mathcal{F}\mathcal{L}(j_x^1\phi))((T_{j_x^1\phi}\pi^1Y_1)(\phi(x)),\dots,(T_{j_x^1\phi}\pi^1Y_m)(\phi(x))) + (\mathcal{F}\mathcal{L}(j_x^1\phi))((T_{j_x^1\phi}\pi^1Y_1)(\phi(x)),\dots,(T_{j_x^1\phi}\pi^1Y_m)(\phi(x))) + (\mathcal{F}\mathcal{L}(j_x^1\phi))((T_{j_x^1\phi}\pi^1Y_1)(\phi(x)),\dots,(T_{j_x^1\phi}\pi^1Y_m)(\phi(x))) + (\mathcal{F}\mathcal{L}(j_x^1\phi))((T_{j_x^1\phi}\pi^1Y_1)(\phi(x)),\dots,(T_{j_x^1\phi}\pi^1Y_m)(\phi(x)))) + (\mathcal{F}\mathcal{L}(j_x^1\phi))((T_{j_x^1\phi}\pi^1Y_1)(\phi(x)),\dots,(T_{j_x^1\phi}\pi^1Y_m)(\phi(x)))) + (\mathcal{F}\mathcal{L}(j_x^1\phi))((T_{j_x^1\phi}\pi^1Y_1)(\phi(x)),\dots,(T_{j_x^1\phi}\pi^1Y_m)(\phi(x)))) + (\mathcal{F}\mathcal{L}(j_x^1\phi))((T_{j_x^1\phi}\pi^1Y_1)(\phi(x)),\dots,(T_{j_x^1\phi}\pi^1Y_m)(\phi(x)))) + (\mathcal{F}\mathcal{L}(j_x^1\phi))((T_{j_x^1\phi}\pi^1Y_1)(\phi(x))) + (\mathcal{F}\mathcal{L}(j_x^1\phi))((T_{j_x^1\phi}\pi^1Y_m)(\phi(x)))) + (\mathcal{F}\mathcal{L}(j_x^1\phi))((T_{j_x^1\phi}\pi^1Y_m)(\phi(x))) + (\mathcal{F}\mathcal{L}(j_x^1\phi))((T_{j_x^1\phi}\pi^1Y_m)(\phi(x)))) + (\mathcal{F}\mathcal{L}(j_x^1\phi))((T_{j_x^1\phi}\pi^$$

where $Y_i \in \mathfrak{X}(J^1\pi)$, and therefore $T\pi^1 Y_i \in \mathfrak{X}(E)$.

This map verifies $\pi_E \circ \widetilde{\mathcal{FL}} = \pi^1$, that is, $\widetilde{\mathcal{FL}}$ is a bundle morphism over E. Furthermore, we have that $\widetilde{\mathcal{FL}}^* \Theta = \Theta_{\mathcal{L}}$ and $\widetilde{\mathcal{FL}}^* \Omega = \Omega_{\mathcal{L}}$. Then, bearing in mind the coordinate expressions (2) of the tautological *m*-form $\Theta \in \Omega^m(\Lambda_2^m(\mathbb{T}^*E))$, and (4) of the Cartan *m*-form $\Theta_{\mathcal{L}} \in \Omega^m(J^1\pi)$, the coordinate expression of the extended Legendre map is

$$\widetilde{\mathcal{FL}}^* x^i = x^i \quad ; \quad \widetilde{\mathcal{FL}}^* u^\alpha = u^\alpha \quad ; \quad \widetilde{\mathcal{FL}}^* p^i_\alpha = \frac{\partial L}{\partial u^\alpha_i} \quad ; \quad \widetilde{\mathcal{FL}}^* p = L - u^\alpha_i \frac{\partial L}{\partial u^\alpha_i}.$$
(25)

The composition of the extended Legendre map $\widetilde{\mathcal{FL}}: J^1\pi \to \Lambda_2^m(\mathbb{T}^*E)$ with the natural quotient map $\mu: \Lambda_2^m(\mathbb{T}^*E) \to J^1\pi^*$ gives rise to a bundle morphism $\mu \circ \widetilde{\mathcal{FL}}: J^1\pi \to J^1\pi^*$, which leads to the following definition.

Definition 17. The restricted Legendre map associated to the Lagrangian density $\mathcal{L} \in \Omega^m(J^1\pi)$ is the bundle morphism $\mathcal{FL}: J^1\pi \to J^1\pi^*$ over E defined as $\mathcal{FL} = \mu \circ \widetilde{\mathcal{FL}}$.

In the natural coordinates of $J^1\pi^*$, the local expression of the restricted Legendre map is

$$\mathcal{FL}^* x^i = x^i \quad ; \quad \mathcal{FL}^* u^\alpha = u^\alpha \quad ; \quad \mathcal{FL}^* p^i_\alpha = \frac{\partial L}{\partial u^\alpha_i}$$

As for the extended Legendre map, the map $\mathcal{FL}: J^1\pi \to J^1\pi^*$ satisfies $\pi_E^r \circ \mathcal{FL} = \pi^1$, $\mathcal{FL}^*\Theta_h = \Theta_{\mathcal{L}}$ and $\mathcal{FL}^*\Omega_h = \Omega_{\mathcal{L}}$. Moreover, the Lagrangian density $\mathcal{L} \in \Omega^m(J^1\pi)$ is regular if, and only if, the restricted Legendre map is a local diffeomorphism, and \mathcal{L} is said to be hyperregular if \mathcal{FL} is a global diffeomorphism. Furthermore, in the hyperregular case the Hamiltonian section $h \in \Gamma(\mu)$ is defined by $h = \widehat{\mathcal{FL}} \circ \mathcal{FL}^{-1}$ (or by restriction on the corresponding open sets where \mathcal{FL} is a diffeomorphism in the regular case).

Finally, to close the review on the properties of the Legendre maps, we have the following fundamental result from [53].

Theorem 3. Let $(J^1\pi, \mathcal{L})$ be a Lagrangian field theory with $\mathcal{L} \in \Omega^m(J^1\pi)$ a hyperregular Lagrangian density, and $(J^1\pi^*, \Omega_h)$ the associated Hamiltonian field theory.

- 1. If $\phi \in \Gamma(\pi)$ is a solution to equation (6), then the section $\psi_h = \mathcal{FL} \circ j^1 \phi \in \Gamma(\bar{\pi}_E^r)$ is a solution to equation (15).
- 2. Conversely, if $\psi_h \in \Gamma(\bar{\pi}_E^r)$ is a solution to equation (15), then the section $\phi = \pi_E^r \circ \psi_h \in \Gamma(\pi)$ is a solution to equation (6).

In particular, Theorem 3 states that the distributions $\mathcal{D}_{\mathcal{L}}$ and \mathcal{D}_h solutions to the Lagrangian and Hamiltonian problems, respectively, are \mathcal{FL} -related and, moreover, it establishes a bijective correspondence between the integral sections of both distributions.

Now we can state the equivalence between the solutions of the (generalized) Lagrangian and Hamiltonian Hamilton-Jacobi problems in terms of the restricted Legendre map. First we need the following technical results. **Lemma 2.** Let $E_1 \xrightarrow{\pi_1} M$ and $E_2 \xrightarrow{\pi_2} M$ be two fiber bundles, $F: E_1 \to E_2$ a fiber bundle morphism, and two F-related k-multivector fields $\mathcal{X}_1 \in \mathfrak{X}^k(E_1)$ and $\mathcal{X}_2 \in \mathfrak{X}^k(E_2)$. If $s_1 \in \Gamma(\pi_1)$ is a section of π_1 and we define a section of π_2 as $s_2 = F \circ s_1 \in \Gamma(\pi_2)$, then

$$\Lambda^{k} \mathrm{T}\pi_{1} \circ \mathcal{X}_{1} \circ s_{1} = \Lambda^{k} \mathrm{T}\pi_{2} \circ \mathcal{X}_{2} \circ s_{2} \in \mathfrak{X}^{k}(M) \,.$$

Proof. As $F: E_1 \to E_2$ is a fiber bundle morphism (that is, $\pi_1 = \pi_2 \circ F$), and \mathcal{X}_1 and \mathcal{X}_2 are F-related (that is, $\Lambda^k \mathrm{T} F \circ \mathcal{X}_1 = \mathcal{X}_2 \circ F$), we have the following commutative diagram



Then we have

$$\Lambda^{k} \mathrm{T}\pi_{1} \circ \mathcal{X}_{1} \circ s_{1} = \Lambda^{k} \mathrm{T}(\pi_{2} \circ F) \circ \mathcal{X}_{1} \circ s_{1} = \Lambda^{k} \mathrm{T}\pi_{2} \circ \Lambda^{k} \mathrm{T}F \circ \mathcal{X}_{1} \circ s_{1}$$
$$= \Lambda^{k} \mathrm{T}\pi_{2} \circ \mathcal{X}_{2} \circ F \circ s_{1} = \Lambda^{k} \mathrm{T}\pi_{2} \circ \mathcal{X}_{2} \circ s_{2} \,.$$

Lemma 3. Let $E_1 \xrightarrow{\pi_1} M$ and $E_2 \xrightarrow{\pi_2} M$ be two fiber bundles, $F: E_1 \to E_2$ a fiber bundle morphism, and two F-related k-dimensional distributions \mathcal{D}_1 in E_1 and \mathcal{D}_2 in E_2 . If $s_1 \in \Gamma(\pi_1)$ is a section of π_1 and we define a section of π_2 as $s_2 = F \circ s_1 \in \Gamma(\pi_2)$, then

$$\mathrm{T}\pi_1(\mathcal{D}_1|_{\mathrm{Im}(s_1)}) = \mathrm{T}\pi_2(\mathcal{D}_2|_{\mathrm{Im}(s_2)}).$$

Proof. Since \mathcal{D}_1 and \mathcal{D}_2 are *F*-related, it suffices to apply Lemma 2 to every pair of *F*-related multivector fields in the classes of multivector fields associated to \mathcal{D}_1 and \mathcal{D}_2 .

Finally, the equivalence Theorem is the following.

Theorem 4. Let $(J^1\pi, \mathcal{L})$ be a Lagrangian field theory with $\mathcal{L} \in \Omega^m(J^1\pi)$ a hyperregular Lagrangian density, and $(J^1\pi^*, \Omega_h)$ its associated Hamiltonian field theory.

- 1. If $\Psi \in \Gamma(\pi^1)$ is an integrable jet field solution to the (generalized) Lagrangian Hamilton-Jacobi problem, then the section $s = \mathcal{FL} \circ \Psi \in \Gamma(\pi_E^r)$ is a solution to the (generalized) Hamiltonian Hamilton-Jacobi problem.
- 2. Conversely, if $s \in \Gamma(\pi_E^r)$ is a solution to the (generalized) Hamiltonian Hamilton-Jacobi problem, then the jet field $\Psi = \mathcal{FL}^{-1} \circ s \in \Gamma(\pi^1)$ is a solution to the (generalized) Lagrangian Hamilton-Jacobi problem.

Proof. This proof follows the patterns of Theorem 3 in [14] and Theorem 1 in [18], now in terms of distributions.

In particular, assume that $\Psi \in \Gamma(\pi^1)$ is a solution to the generalized Lagrangian Hamilton-Jacobi problem. First, if $\mathcal{D} = T\pi^1(\mathcal{D}_{\mathcal{L}}|_{\mathrm{Im}(\Psi)})$, $\bar{\mathcal{D}} = T\pi^r_E(\mathcal{D}_h|_{\mathrm{Im}(s)})$ are the integrable distributions associated to Ψ and $s = \mathcal{FL} \circ \Psi \in \Gamma(\pi^r_E)$, respectively, then by Lemma 3 we have $\mathcal{D} = \bar{\mathcal{D}}$. Hence, both distributions are denoted by \mathcal{D} . Now we prove that $s = \mathcal{FL} \circ \Psi \in \Gamma(\pi_E^r)$ is a solution to the generalized Hamiltonian Hamilton-Jacobi problem. Let $\gamma \in \Gamma(\pi)$ be an integral section of \mathcal{D} . Computing, we have

$$\gamma^* i(Y) d(h \circ s) = \gamma^* i(Y) d(h \circ s) = \gamma^* i(Y) (s^* \Omega_h)$$

= $\gamma^* i(Y) ((\mathcal{FL} \circ \Psi)^* \Omega_h) = \gamma^* i(Y) \Psi^* (\mathcal{FL}^* \Omega_h)$
= $\gamma^* i(Y) (\Psi^* \Omega_{\mathcal{L}}).$

Hence, since this last expression vanishes for every $Y \in \mathfrak{X}(E)$ by the hypothesis and Proposition 3, we have proved

$$\gamma^* i(Y) d(h \circ s) = 0$$
, for every $Y \in \mathfrak{X}(E)$,

which, using Proposition 6, is equivalent to $s = \mathcal{FL} \circ \Psi$ being a solution to the generalized Hamiltonian Hamilton-Jacobi problem.

Now we require, in addition, $\Psi^*\Omega_{\mathcal{L}} = 0$, that is, Ψ is a solution to the Lagrangian Hamilton-Jacobi problem. Then we have

$$s^*\Omega_h = (\mathcal{FL} \circ \Psi)^*\Omega_h = \Psi^*(\mathcal{FL}^*\Omega_h) = \Psi^*\Omega_{\mathcal{L}} = 0,$$

and therefore $s = \mathcal{FL} \circ \Psi$ is a solution to the Hamiltonian Hamilton-Jacobi problem.

The converse is proved analogously, but using \mathcal{FL}^{-1} instead of \mathcal{FL} .

5 Examples

5.1 Non-autonomous dynamical systems

Let us consider the case of non-autonomous dynamical systems, that is, the base manifold M is 1-dimensional, and in particular we assume that $M = \mathbb{R}$ with the canonical volume form $\eta \in \Omega^1(\mathbb{R})$. Let us consider a first-order non-autonomous dynamical system with n degrees of freedom, and let $\pi: E \to \mathbb{R}$ be the configuration bundle for this system, with dim E = n+1. The dynamical information is enclosed on a Lagrangian density $\mathcal{L} \in \Omega^1(J^1\pi)$, which is a $\bar{\pi}^1$ -semibasic 1-form. Because of this, let us denote by $L \in C^{\infty}(J^1\pi)$ the function satisfying $\mathcal{L} = L \cdot (\bar{\pi}^1)^* \eta$.

Remark. Observe that since M is 1-dimensional, it is either diffeomorphic to the real line \mathbb{R} or the unit circle \mathbb{S}^1 . The only difference for our calculations is that, contrary to the case of the unit circle, \mathbb{R} has a canonical global atlas with a distinguished coordinate. Nevertheless, both manifolds are orientable and parallelizable, and therefore all the calculations remain the same in the unit circle despite the absence of a global atlas.

Local coordinates along this Section are denoted in the usual way for non-autonomous dynamical systems. In particular, let (t) denote the global coordinate in \mathbb{R} , and let (t, q^A) , $1 \leq A \leq n$, be local coordinates in E adapted to the bundle structure. Then, the induced local coordinates in $J^1\pi$, T^{*}E and $J^1\pi^*$ are denoted (t, q^A, v^A) , (t, q^A, p, p_A) and (t, q^A, p_A) , respectively.

Lagrangian formalism

The Lagrangian problem for first-order non-autonomous dynamical systems consists in finding a class of $\bar{\pi}^1$ -transverse and semi-holonomic vector fields $\{X_{\mathcal{L}}\} \subseteq \mathfrak{X}(J^1\pi)$ satisfying the field equation (7), that is,

$$i(X_{\mathcal{L}})\Omega_{\mathcal{L}} = 0$$
, for every $X_{\mathcal{L}} \in \{X_{\mathcal{L}}\}$.

If the Lagrangian density is regular, the Cartan 2-form $\Omega \in \Omega^2(J^1\pi)$ has maximal rank 2n on $J^1\pi$, and therefore there exists a class of vector fields $\{X_{\mathcal{L}}\}$ solution to the above equation which is holonomic. Hence, in the following we assume that the Lagrangian density is regular.

Remark. Note that the integrability is assured without further assumptions in this setting, since every vector field defined on a manifold is always integrable. \diamond

The local expressions of the Cartan 1-form $\Theta_{\mathcal{L}} \in \Omega^1(J^1\pi)$ is

$$\Theta_{\mathcal{L}} = \frac{\partial L}{\partial v^A} \mathrm{d}q^A - \left(v^A \frac{\partial L}{\partial v^A} - L \right) \mathrm{d}t \,, \tag{26}$$

from where we deduce the coordinate expression of the Cartan 2-form, which is

$$\Omega_{\mathcal{L}} = \frac{\partial^{2} L}{\partial v^{A} \partial q^{B}} dq^{A} \wedge dq^{B} + \frac{\partial^{2} L}{\partial v^{A} \partial v^{B}} dq^{A} \wedge dv^{B} + \left(v^{A} \frac{\partial^{2} L}{\partial v^{A} \partial q^{B}} - \frac{\partial L}{\partial q^{B}} \right) dq^{B} \wedge dt + v^{A} \frac{\partial^{2} L}{\partial v^{A} \partial v^{B}} dv^{B} \wedge dt .$$
(27)

Thus, a representative of the equivalence class $\{X_{\mathcal{L}}\} \subseteq \mathfrak{X}(J^1\pi)$ of $\bar{\pi}^1$ -transverse vector fields solution to the above dynamical equation is given in coordinates by

$$X_{\mathcal{L}} = f\left(\frac{\partial}{\partial t} + v^A \frac{\partial}{\partial q^A} + F^A \frac{\partial}{\partial v^A}\right), \qquad (28)$$

where f is a non-vanishing local function, and the n functions F^A are the unique solutions to the Euler-Lagrange equations

$$\frac{\partial L}{\partial q^B} - \frac{\partial^2 L}{\partial t \partial v^B} - v^A \frac{\partial^2 L}{\partial q^A \partial v^B} - F^A \frac{\partial^2 L}{\partial v^A \partial v^B} = 0.$$

Observe that the vector fields in the class $\{X_{\mathcal{L}}\} \subseteq \mathfrak{X}(J^1\pi)$ are completely determinated (except for the non-vanishing function f). In the following we take f = 1 as a representative of the equivalence class to state the Lagrangian Hamilton-Jacobi problem.

For the generalized Lagrangian Hamilton-Jacobi problem, all the Definitions and results stated in Section 3.1 remain without changes, except for Corollary 2, where "boundary conditions" should be replaced by "initial conditions". Note that every mention to the integrability of the jet field is redundant, since the associated distribution in this case is 1-dimensional, and therefore integrable without further assumptions.

In coordinates, let $\Psi \in \Gamma(\pi^1)$ be a jet field locally given by $\Psi(t, q^A) = (t, q^A, \psi^A(t, q^A))$, with $\psi^A \in C^{\infty}(E)$ being local functions. Then, from Proposition 3 we know that Ψ is a solution to the generalized Lagrangian Hamilton-Jacobi problem if, and only if, every vector field in the class $\{X_{\mathcal{L}}\}$ is tangent to the submanifold $\operatorname{Im}(\Psi) \hookrightarrow J^1\pi$, which is locally defined by the constraints $v^A - \psi^A = 0, 1 \leq A \leq n$. Then, the conditions $L(X_{\mathcal{L}})(v^A - \psi^A) = 0$ give rise to the following system of n partial differential equations

$$F^A\big|_{\mathrm{Im}(\Psi)} - \frac{\partial \psi^A}{\partial t} - \psi^B \frac{\partial \psi^A}{\partial q^B} = 0 \,.$$

Now, in order to state the Lagrangian Hamilton-Jacobi problem, we must require in addition the jet field $\Psi \in \Gamma(\pi^1)$ to satisfy the condition $\Psi^* \Omega_{\mathcal{L}} = 0$. In this situation, Definition 10 remains unchanged, but the statement of Proposition 4 must be changed as follows. **Proposition 8.** Let $\Psi \in \Gamma(\pi^1)$ be a jet field satisfying $\Psi^*\Omega_{\mathcal{L}} = 0$. Then the following statements are equivalent:

- 1. Ψ is a solution to the Lagrangian Hamilton-Jacobi problem.
- 2. The submanifold $\operatorname{Im}(\Psi) \hookrightarrow J^1 \pi$ is Lagrangian with respect to the presymplectic form $\Omega_{\mathcal{L}}$ and every vector field $X_{\mathcal{L}} \in \{X_{\mathcal{L}}\}$ is tangent to it.
- 3. The integral curves of $X_{\mathcal{L}} \in \{X_{\mathcal{L}}\}$ with initial conditions in $\operatorname{Im}(\Psi)$ project onto the integral curves of $X = \operatorname{T} \pi^1 \circ X_{\mathcal{L}} \circ \Psi$.

Bearing in mind the coordinate expression (27) of the Cartan 2-form, the pull-back $\Psi^*\Omega_{\mathcal{L}} \in \Omega^2(E)$ has the following coordinate expression

$$\Psi^* \Omega_{\mathcal{L}} = \left(\frac{\partial^2 L}{\partial v^A \partial q^B} + \frac{\partial^2 L}{\partial v^A \partial v^C} \frac{\partial \psi^C}{\partial q^B} \right) \mathrm{d}q^A \wedge \mathrm{d}q^B \\ + \left(\frac{\partial^2 L}{\partial v^B \partial v^A} \frac{\partial \psi^A}{\partial t} + \psi^A \frac{\partial^2 L}{\partial v^A \partial q^B} - \frac{\partial L}{\partial q^B} + \psi^A \frac{\partial^2 L}{\partial v^A \partial v^C} \frac{\partial \psi^C}{\partial q^B} \right) \mathrm{d}q^B \wedge \mathrm{d}t \,.$$

Hence, the condition $\Psi^*\Omega_{\mathcal{L}} = 0$ gives the following system of partial differential equations

$$\frac{\partial^2 L}{\partial v^A \partial q^B} + \frac{\partial^2 L}{\partial v^A \partial v^C} \frac{\partial \psi^C}{\partial q^B} = 0 \quad ; \quad \frac{\partial^2 L}{\partial v^B \partial v^A} \frac{\partial \psi^A}{\partial t} + \psi^A \frac{\partial^2 L}{\partial v^A \partial q^B} - \frac{\partial L}{\partial q^B} + \psi^A \frac{\partial^2 L}{\partial v^A \partial v^C} \frac{\partial \psi^C}{\partial q^B} = 0$$

which may be combined to obtain equations (13) in this setting, that is, the following system of n^2 partial differential equations

$$\frac{\partial^2 L}{\partial v^A \partial q^B} + \frac{\partial \psi^C}{\partial q^B} \frac{\partial^2 L}{\partial v^A \partial v^C} = 0 \quad ; \quad \frac{\partial^2 L}{\partial v^B \partial v^A} \frac{\partial \psi^A}{\partial t} - \frac{\partial L}{\partial q^B} = 0 \, .$$

Finally, we state the Hamilton-Jacobi equation in the Lagrangian formalism. Since the jet field $\Psi \in \Gamma(\pi^1)$ is a solution to the Lagrangian Hamilton-Jacobi problem, we have that $d(\Psi^*\Theta_{\mathcal{L}}) = 0$. Thus, there exists a local function $W \in C^{\infty}(E)$ such that $dW = \Psi^*\Theta_{\mathcal{L}}$. In coordinates, the 1-form $\Psi^*\Theta_{\mathcal{L}}$ is given by

$$\Psi^* \Theta_{\mathcal{L}} = \frac{\partial L}{\partial v^A} \mathrm{d}q^A - \left(\psi^A \frac{\partial L}{\partial v^A} - L(t, q^A, \psi^A) \right) \mathrm{d}t \,.$$

Hence, requiring $\Psi^* \Theta_{\mathcal{L}} = \mathrm{d} W$, we obtain

$$\frac{\partial W}{\partial t} = -\psi^A \frac{\partial L}{\partial v^A} + L(t, q^A, \psi^A) \quad ; \quad \frac{\partial W}{\partial q^A} = \frac{\partial L}{\partial v^A}$$

which may be combined in the following single equation

$$\frac{\partial W}{\partial t} + \psi^A \frac{\partial W}{\partial q^A} - L(t, q^A, \psi^A) = 0.$$

This is the usual Hamilton-Jacobi equation for a first-order non-autonomous Lagrangian dynamical system.

Hamiltonian formalism

Now we state the Hamiltonian formulation of the Hamilton-Jacobi problem in this setting. In the natural coordinates of $J^1\pi^*$, the coordinate expression of the restricted Legendre map $\mathcal{FL}: J^1\pi \to J^1\pi^*$ in this setting is the following

$$\mathcal{FL}^* p_A = \frac{\partial L}{\partial v^A}$$

from where we deduce the coordinate expression of the extended Legendre map, which is

$$\widetilde{\mathcal{FL}}^* p_A = \frac{\partial L}{\partial v^A} \quad ; \quad \widetilde{\mathcal{FL}}^* p = L - v^A \frac{\partial L}{\partial v^A}$$

Recall that since $\mathcal{L} \in \Omega^1(J^1\pi)$ is assumed to be regular, the restricted Legendre map is a local diffeomorphism. For simplicity, in the following we assume that \mathcal{L} is hyperregular, and thus \mathcal{FL} is a global diffeomorphism (the regular but not hyperregular case is recovered by restriction on the open sets where the restricted Legendre map is a diffeomorphism). Let $h = \widetilde{\mathcal{FL}} \circ \mathcal{FL}^{-1} \in \Gamma(\mu)$ be the Hamiltonian section associated to the Lagrangian density \mathcal{L} , and $H \in C^{\infty}(J^1\pi)$ a local Hamiltonian function which specifies this Hamiltonian section h.

Using the Hamiltonian section $h \in \Gamma(\mu)$ we define the Hamilton-Cartan forms $\Theta_h = h^* \Theta \in \Omega^1(J^1\pi^*)$ and $\Omega_h = h^*\Omega \in \Omega^2(J^1\pi^*)$, with coordinate expressions

$$\Theta_h = p_A dq^A - H dt \quad ; \quad \Omega_h = dq^A \wedge dp_A + dH \wedge dt \,. \tag{29}$$

The Hamiltonian problem for first-order non-autonomous dynamical systems consists in finding a class of $\bar{\pi}_E^r$ -transverse vector fields $\{X_h\} \subseteq \mathfrak{X}(J^1\pi^*)$ satisfying equation (16), that is,

$$i(X_h)\Omega_h = 0$$
, for every $X_h \in \{X_h\}$.

As in the general setting described at the beginning of Section 4, in this formulation the 2-form Ω_h in $J^1\pi^*$ has maximal rank 2n regardless of the Hamiltonian section $h \in \Gamma(\mu)$. Therefore, there always exists such a class of vector fields.

Remark. As in the Lagrangian formulation described previously, the integrability is assured without further assumptions in this setting. \diamond

Then, a representative of the equivalence class $\{X_h\} \subseteq \mathfrak{X}(J^1\pi^*)$ of $\bar{\pi}_E^r$ -transverse vector fields solution to the above dynamical equation is given in coordinates by

$$X_{h} = f\left(\frac{\partial}{\partial t} + \frac{\partial H}{\partial p_{A}}\frac{\partial}{\partial q^{A}} - \frac{\partial H}{\partial q^{A}}\frac{\partial}{\partial p_{A}}\right) \,.$$

As in the Lagrangian formulation, note that the vector fields in the class $\{X_h\} \subseteq \mathfrak{X}(J^1\pi^*)$ are completely determinated (again, except for the non-vanishing function f). In the following we take f = 1 as a representative of the equivalence class to state the Hamiltonian Hamilton-Jacobi problem.

For the generalized Hamiltonian Hamilton-Jacobi problem, all the Definitions and results stated in Section 4.1 remain unchanged, except for Corollary 4, where "boundary conditions" should be replaced by "initial conditions".

In coordinates, let $s \in \Gamma(\pi_E^r)$ be a section locally given by $s(t, q^A) = (t, q^A, s_A(t, q^A))$, where $s_A \in C^{\infty}(E)$ are local functions. Then, from Proposition 6 we know that s is a solution to the generalized Hamiltonian Hamilton-Jacobi problem if, and only if, every vector field in the class

 $\{X_h\}$ is tangent to the submanifold $\operatorname{Im}(s) \hookrightarrow J^1 \pi^*$. Since this submanifold is defined locally by the constraints $p_A - s_A = 0$, $1 \leq A \leq n$, we must check if the conditions $\operatorname{L}(X_h)(p_A - s_A) = 0$ hold, which give rise the following system of n partial differential equations

$$\frac{\partial H}{\partial q^A} + \frac{\partial s_A}{\partial t} + \frac{\partial H}{\partial p_B} \frac{\partial s_A}{\partial q^B} = 0, \quad (\text{on Im}(s)) \in \mathbb{R}$$

Now, in order to state the Hamiltonian Hamilton-Jacobi problem, we must require in addition the section $s \in \Gamma(\pi_E^r)$ to satisfy the condition $s^*\Omega_h = 0$. In this case, the statement in Definition 14 and the remark that follows remain unchanged, but the statement of Proposition 7 must be changed as follows

Proposition 9. Let $s \in \Gamma(\pi_E^r)$ be a section satisfying $s^*\Omega_h = 0$. Then the following statements are equivalent:

- 1. s is a solution to the Hamiltonian Hamilton-Jacobi problem.
- 2. The submanifold $\operatorname{Im}(s) \hookrightarrow J^1 \pi^*$ is Lagrangian with respect to the presymplectic form Ω_h and every vector field $X_h \in \{X_h\}$ is tangent to it.
- 3. The integral curves of $X_h \in \{X_h\}$ with initial conditions in Im(s) project onto the integral curves of $X = \text{T}\pi_E^r \circ X_h \circ s$.

In coordinates, bearing in mind the coordinate expression (29) of the Hamilton-Cartan 2form Ω_h , the pull-back $s^*\Omega_h \in \Omega^2(E)$ has the following local expression

$$s^*\Omega_h = \left(\frac{\partial s_A}{\partial t} + \frac{\partial H}{\partial q^A} + \frac{\partial H}{\partial p_B}\frac{\partial s_B}{\partial q^A}\right) \mathrm{d}q^A \wedge \mathrm{d}t + \frac{\partial s_A}{\partial q^B}\mathrm{d}q^A \wedge \mathrm{d}q^B \,.$$

Hence, the condition $s^*\Omega_h = 0$ gives equations (23), which in this case correspond to the following system of n^2 partial differential equations

$$\frac{\partial s_A}{\partial t} + \frac{\partial H}{\partial q^A} + \frac{\partial H}{\partial p_B} \frac{\partial s_B}{\partial q^A} \quad ; \quad \frac{\partial s_A}{\partial q^B} - \frac{\partial s_B}{\partial q^A} = 0 \,.$$

Finally, we state the Hamilton-Jacobi equation in the Hamiltonian formalism. Since the section $s \in \Gamma(\pi_E^r)$ is a solution to the Lagrangian Hamilton-Jacobi problem, we have that $h \circ s \in \Omega^1(E)$ is a closed form. Therefore, using Poincaré's Lemma, there exists a local function $W \in C^{\infty}(E)$ such that $dW = h \circ s$. Bearing in mind that the 1-form $h \circ s \in \Omega^1(E)$ is given in coordinates by

$$h \circ s = s_A \mathrm{d}q^A - (H \circ s) \mathrm{d}t \,,$$

the condition $h \circ s = dW$ gives the following partial differential equations

$$\frac{\partial W}{\partial t} = -H(t, q^A, s_A) \quad ; \quad \frac{\partial W}{\partial q^A} = s_A \,,$$

which may combined to obtain the following single equation

$$\frac{\partial W}{\partial t} + H\left(t,q^A,\frac{\partial W}{\partial q^A}\right) = 0\,.$$

This is the classic Hamilton-Jacobi equation for a first-order non-autonomous dynamical system with n degrees of freedom and Hamiltonian function H.

5.2 Quadratic Lagrangian densities

Let us consider a classical field theory with n fields depending on m independent variables given in terms of a quadratic Lagrangian density, and let $\pi: E \to M$ be the configuration bundle, with M being a m-dimensional orientable smooth manifold with fixed volume form $\eta \in \Omega^m(M)$, and dim E = m + n. Most of the quadratic Lagrangian field theories can be modeled as follows [56, 29]: let us assume that the bundle $\pi: E \to M$ is trivial (that is, $E = M \times Q$, with dim Q = n), so that $\pi^1: J^1\pi \to E$ is a vector bundle. Let g be a pseudo-Riemannian metric in this vector bundle, Γ a connection of the projection π^1 and $V \in C^{\infty}(E)$ a potential function. Then a quadratic Lagrangian density $\mathcal{L} \in \Omega^1(J^1\pi)$ is given by

$$\mathcal{L}(j_x^1\phi) = \left(\frac{1}{2}g(j_x^1\phi - (\Gamma \circ \pi^1)(j_x^1\phi)), j_x^1\phi - (\Gamma \circ \pi^1)(j_x^1\phi))\right) + ((\pi^1)^*V)(j_x^1\phi)\right)(\bar{\pi}^1)^*\eta$$

In the natural coordinates $(x^i, u^{\alpha}, u^{\alpha}_i)$ of $J^1\pi$, the *m*-form \mathcal{L} has the following local expression

$$\mathcal{L}(x^{i}, u^{\alpha}, u^{\alpha}_{i}) = \left(\frac{1}{2}g^{ij}_{\alpha\beta}(u^{\alpha}_{i} - \Gamma^{\alpha}_{i})(u^{\beta}_{j} - \Gamma^{\beta}_{j}) + V(x^{i}, u^{\alpha})\right) \mathrm{d}^{m}x\,,$$

where $g_{\alpha\beta}^{ij} = g_{\alpha\beta}^{ij}(x^i, u^{\alpha})$ are the coefficients of the metric, which moreover satisfy $g_{\alpha\beta}^{ij} = g_{\beta\alpha}^{ji}$ due to the symmetry assumption, and $\Gamma_i^{\alpha} = \Gamma_i^{\alpha}(x^i)$ are the component functions of the connection.

In order to simplify the problem, we assume that the connection Γ is integrable. As a consequence, there exist natural charts of coordinates in $J^1\pi$ such that $\Gamma_i^{\alpha} = 0$, which implies that the coordinate expression of the Lagrangian density \mathcal{L} reduces to

$$\mathcal{L}(x^{i}, u^{\alpha}, u^{\alpha}_{i}) = \left(\frac{1}{2}g^{ij}_{\alpha\beta}u^{\alpha}_{i}u^{\beta}_{j} + V(x^{i}, u^{\alpha})\right)d^{m}x \equiv L \cdot d^{m}x.$$
(30)

Observe that the Hessian matrix of the Lagrangian function L associated with \mathcal{L} and η coincides with the matrix of the coefficients of g, that is,

$$\left(\frac{\partial^2 L}{\partial u_i^\alpha \partial u_j^\beta}\right) = \left(g_{\alpha\beta}^{ij}\right) \,,$$

and therefore the Lagrangian density \mathcal{L} is regular since g is a pseudo-Riemannian metric, and in particular non-degenerate.

Lagrangian formalism

The local expression of the Cartan *m*-form $\Theta_{\mathcal{L}} \in \Omega^m(J^1\pi)$ obtained from the Lagrangian density given locally by (30) is

$$\Theta_{\mathcal{L}} = g_{\alpha\beta}^{ij} u_j^{\beta} \mathrm{d} u^{\alpha} \wedge \mathrm{d}^{m-1} x_i - \left(\frac{1}{2} g_{\alpha\beta}^{ij} u_i^{\alpha} u_j^{\beta} - V(x^i, u^{\alpha})\right) \mathrm{d}^m x \,, \tag{31}$$

from where we obtain the coordinate expression of the Cartan (m + 1)-form, which is

$$\Omega_{\mathcal{L}} = -\frac{\partial g_{\alpha\beta}^{ij}}{\partial u^{\delta}} u_{j}^{\beta} \mathrm{d}u^{\delta} \wedge \mathrm{d}u^{\alpha} \wedge \mathrm{d}^{m-1}x_{i} - g_{\alpha\beta}^{ij} \mathrm{d}u_{j}^{\beta} \wedge \mathrm{d}u^{\alpha} \wedge \mathrm{d}^{m-1}x_{i} + g_{\alpha\beta}^{ij} u_{i}^{\alpha} \mathrm{d}u_{j}^{\beta} \wedge \mathrm{d}^{m}x + \left(\frac{\partial g_{\delta\beta}^{ij}}{\partial x^{i}} u_{j}^{\beta} + \frac{1}{2} \frac{\partial g_{\alpha\beta}^{ij}}{\partial u^{\delta}} u_{i}^{\alpha} u_{j}^{\beta} - \frac{\partial V}{\partial u^{\delta}}\right) \mathrm{d}u^{\delta} \wedge \mathrm{d}^{m}x \,.$$

$$(32)$$

Hence, a representative of the class of holonomic multivector fields $\{\mathcal{X}_{\mathcal{L}}\} \subseteq \mathfrak{X}^m(J^1\pi)$ solution to the Lagrangian field equation (7) is given in coordinates by

$$\mathcal{X}_{\mathcal{L}} = \bigwedge_{j=1}^{m} \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial x^{j}} + u_{j}^{\alpha} \frac{\partial}{\partial u^{\alpha}} + F_{j,i}^{\alpha} \frac{\partial}{\partial u_{i}^{\alpha}} \right) \,,$$

where the functions $F_{j,i}^{\alpha}$ are solutions to the Euler-Lagrange equations for multivector fields (11), which in this case are

$$\frac{1}{2}\frac{\partial g_{\delta\beta}^{ij}}{\partial u^{\alpha}}u_{i}^{\delta}u_{j}^{\beta} + \frac{\partial V}{\partial u^{\alpha}} - \sum_{i=1}^{m}\frac{\partial g_{\alpha\beta}^{ij}}{\partial x^{i}}u_{j}^{\beta} - \frac{\partial g_{\alpha\delta}^{ij}}{\partial u^{\beta}}u_{i}^{\beta}u_{j}^{\delta} - F_{j,i}^{\beta}g_{\alpha\beta}^{ij} = 0, \qquad (33)$$

in addition to the integrability conditions (3) (if necessary).

First we state the generalized version of the Hamilton-Jacobi problem. Let $\Psi \in \Gamma(\pi^1)$ be a jet field locally given by $\Psi(x^i, u^\alpha) = (x^i, u^\alpha, \psi_i^\alpha(x^i, u^\alpha))$, where $\psi_i^\alpha \in C^\infty(E)$ are local functions. Then, from Proposition 3 we know that Ψ is a solution to the generalized Lagrangian Hamilton-Jacobi problem if, and only if, every multivector field $\mathcal{X}_{\mathcal{L}} \in \{\mathcal{X}_{\mathcal{L}}\}$ is tangent to the submanifold $\operatorname{Im}(\Psi) \hookrightarrow J^1 \pi$. Bearing in mind that $\operatorname{Im}(\Psi)$ is defined locally by the constraints $u_k^\alpha - \psi_k^\alpha = 0$, the tangency condition gives rise to equations (12), where now the component functions $F_{j,i}^\alpha$ are solutions to the *n* equations (33).

In order to state the equations of the Lagrangian Hamilton-Jacobi problem, we must require in addition the jet field $\Psi \in \Gamma(\pi^1)$ to satisfy the condition $\Psi^*\Omega_{\mathcal{L}} = 0$. Bearing in mind the coordinate expression (32) of the Cartan (m+1)-form $\Omega_{\mathcal{L}}$, the pull-back $\Psi^*\Omega_{\mathcal{L}} \in \Omega^{m+1}(E)$ is given in coordinates by

$$\begin{split} \Psi^* \Omega_{\mathcal{L}} &= -\left(\frac{\partial g_{\alpha\beta}^{ij}}{\partial u^{\delta}} \psi_j^{\beta} + g_{\alpha\beta}^{ij} \frac{\partial \psi_j^{\beta}}{\partial u^{\delta}}\right) \mathrm{d} u^{\delta} \wedge \mathrm{d}^{\alpha} \wedge \mathrm{d}^{m-1} x_i \\ &+ \left(g_{\delta\beta}^{ij} \frac{\partial \psi_j^{\beta}}{\partial x^i} + g_{\alpha\beta}^{ij} \psi_i^{\alpha} \frac{\partial \psi_j^{\beta}}{\partial u^{\delta}} + \frac{\partial g_{\delta\beta}^{ij}}{\partial x^i} \psi_j^{\beta} + \frac{1}{2} \frac{\partial g_{\alpha\beta}^{ij}}{\partial u^{\delta}} \psi_i^{\alpha} \psi_j^{\beta} - \frac{\partial V}{\partial u^{\delta}}\right) \mathrm{d} u^{\delta} \wedge \mathrm{d}^m x \,. \end{split}$$

Hence, the condition $\Psi^*\Omega_{\mathcal{L}} = 0$ gives the following system of partial differential equations

$$\frac{\partial g_{\alpha\beta}^{ij}}{\partial u^{\delta}}\psi_{j}^{\beta} + g_{\alpha\beta}^{ij}\frac{\partial \psi_{j}^{\beta}}{\partial u^{\delta}} = 0 \quad ; \quad g_{\delta\beta}^{ij}\frac{\partial \psi_{j}^{\beta}}{\partial x^{i}} + g_{\alpha\beta}^{ij}\psi_{i}^{\alpha}\frac{\partial \psi_{j}^{\beta}}{\partial u^{\delta}} + \frac{\partial g_{\delta\beta}^{ij}}{\partial x^{i}}\psi_{j}^{\beta} + \frac{1}{2}\frac{\partial g_{\alpha\beta}^{ij}}{\partial u^{\delta}}\psi_{i}^{\alpha}\psi_{j}^{\beta} - \frac{\partial V}{\partial u^{\delta}} = 0 \; ,$$

which may be combined to obtain equations (13), that is, the following system of n(1+m(n-1)) partial differential equations

$$\frac{\partial g_{\alpha\beta}^{ij}}{\partial u^{\delta}}\psi_{j}^{\beta} + g_{\alpha\beta}^{ij}\frac{\partial \psi_{j}^{\beta}}{\partial u^{\delta}} = 0 \quad ; \quad g_{\delta\beta}^{ij}\frac{\partial \psi_{j}^{\beta}}{\partial x^{i}} + \frac{\partial g_{\delta\beta}^{ij}}{\partial x^{i}}\psi_{j}^{\beta} - \frac{1}{2}\frac{\partial g_{\alpha\beta}^{ij}}{\partial u^{\delta}}\psi_{i}^{\alpha}\psi_{j}^{\beta} - \frac{\partial V}{\partial u^{\delta}} = 0 \, .$$

Finally, we deduce the Lagrangian Hamilton-Jacobi equation. Since the jet field $\Psi \in \Gamma(\pi^1)$ is a solution to the Lagrangian Hamilton-Jacobi problem, we have that $\Psi^*\Theta_{\mathcal{L}} \in \Omega^m(E)$ is a closed form, and thus there exists a local π -semibasic (m-1)-form $\omega \in \Omega^{m-1}(E)$ such that $d\omega = \Psi^*\Theta_{\mathcal{L}}$. In coordinates, bearing in mind the coordinate expression (31) of the Cartan *m*-form, we obtain

$$\Psi^*\Theta_{\mathcal{L}} = g^{ij}_{\alpha\beta}\psi^{\beta}_{j}\mathrm{d}u^{\alpha}\wedge\mathrm{d}^{m-1}x_{i} - \left(\frac{1}{2}g^{ij}_{\alpha\beta}\psi^{\alpha}_{i}\psi^{\beta}_{j} - V(x^{i},u^{\alpha})\right)\mathrm{d}^{m}x\,.$$

Then, if the (m-1)-form ω is given locally by $\omega = W^i d^{m-1} x_i$, the condition $d\omega = \Psi^* \Theta_{\mathcal{L}}$ gives rise to the following equations

$$\sum_{i=1}^{m} \frac{\partial W^{i}}{\partial x^{i}} + \frac{1}{2} g^{ij}_{\alpha\beta} \psi^{\alpha}_{i} \psi^{\beta}_{j} - V(x^{i}, u^{\alpha}) = 0 \quad ; \quad \frac{\partial W^{i}}{\partial u^{\alpha}} = g^{ij}_{\alpha\beta} \psi^{\beta}_{j} ,$$

which may be combined to give the classic Hamilton-Jacobi equation in the Lagrangian formalism (14), which in this example is

$$\sum_{i=1}^{m} \frac{\partial W^{i}}{\partial x^{i}} + \frac{1}{2} \tilde{g}_{ij}^{\alpha\beta} \frac{\partial W^{i}}{\partial u^{\alpha}} \frac{\partial W^{j}}{\partial u^{\beta}} - V(x^{i}, u^{\alpha}) = 0.$$
(34)

where $\tilde{g}_{ij}^{\alpha\beta}$ denote the coefficients of the inverse matrix of $(g_{\alpha\beta}^{ij})$, which exists since we assume g to be non-degenerate.

Hamiltonian formalism

Now we state the Hamiltonian formalism for the Hamilton-Jacobi problem. First, let us compute the coordinate expression of the Legendre maps associated to the Lagrangian density given by (30). In the natural coordinates $(x^i, u^{\alpha}, p_{\alpha}^i)$ of $J^1\pi^*$, the restricted Legendre map $\mathcal{FL}: J^1\pi \to J^1\pi^*$ has the following coordinate expression

$$\mathcal{FL}^* p^i_\alpha = g^{ij}_{\alpha\beta} u^\beta_j \,,$$

from where the local expression of the extended Legendre map is straightforwardly deduced as

$$\widetilde{\mathcal{FL}}^* p^i_{\alpha} = g^{ij}_{\alpha\beta} u^{\beta}_j \quad ; \quad \widetilde{\mathcal{FL}}^* p = V(x^i, u^{\alpha}) - \frac{1}{2} g^{ij}_{\alpha\beta} u^{\alpha}_i u^{\beta}_j ,$$

Using the coordinate expression of both Legendre maps we obtain a local Hamiltonian function associated to the Lagrangian density \mathcal{L} , whose coordinate expression is

$$H(x^i, u^{\alpha}, p^{\alpha}_i) = \frac{1}{2} \,\tilde{g}^{\alpha\beta}_{ij} p^i_{\alpha} p^j_{\beta} - V(x^i, u^{\alpha}) \,,$$

where, as before, $\left(\tilde{g}_{ij}^{\alpha\beta}\right)$ is the inverse matrix of $\left(g_{\alpha\beta}^{ij}\right)$.

Using the Hamiltonian section $h \in \Gamma(\mu)$ specified by this local Hamiltonian function we define the Hamilton-Cartan forms $\Theta_h = h^* \Theta \in \Omega^m(J^1\pi^*)$, $\Omega_h = -\mathrm{d}\Theta_h \in \Omega^{m+1}(J^1\pi^*)$, whose coordinate expressions are

$$\Theta_h = p^i_{\alpha} \mathrm{d}u^{\alpha} \wedge \mathrm{d}^{m-1} x_i - \left(\frac{1}{2} \,\tilde{g}^{\alpha\beta}_{ij} p^i_{\alpha} p^j_{\beta} - V(x^i, u^{\alpha})\right) \mathrm{d}^m x\,,\tag{35}$$

$$\Omega_h = -\mathrm{d}p^i_{\alpha} \wedge \mathrm{d}u^{\alpha} \wedge \mathrm{d}^{m-1}x_i + \left(\frac{1}{2}\frac{\partial \tilde{g}^{\alpha\beta}_{ij}}{\partial u^{\delta}}p^i_{\alpha}p^j_{\beta} - \frac{\partial V}{\partial u^{\delta}}\right)\mathrm{d}u^{\delta} \wedge \mathrm{d}^m x + \tilde{g}^{\alpha\beta}_{ij}p^i_{\alpha}\mathrm{d}p^j_{\beta} \wedge \mathrm{d}^m x \,. \tag{36}$$

Then, a representative of the class of $\bar{\pi}_E^r$ -transverse multivector fields $\{\mathcal{X}_h\} \subseteq \mathfrak{X}^m(J^1\pi^*)$ which are solutions to the Hamiltonian field equation (16) is given in coordinates by

$$\mathcal{X}_{h} = \bigwedge_{j=1}^{m} \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial x^{j}} + \tilde{g}_{ij}^{\alpha\beta} p_{\alpha}^{i} \frac{\partial}{\partial u^{\beta}} + G_{\alpha,j}^{j} \frac{\partial}{\partial p_{\alpha}^{i}} \right) , \qquad (37)$$

with the functions $G^i_{\alpha,j}$ satisfying the Hamilton-De Donder-Weyl equations (20), which in this case are

$$\sum_{i=1}^{m} G_{\delta,i}^{i} = -\left(\frac{1}{2} \frac{\partial \tilde{g}_{ij}^{\alpha\beta}}{\partial u^{\delta}} p_{\alpha}^{i} p_{\beta}^{j} - \frac{\partial V}{\partial u^{\delta}}\right), \qquad (38)$$

in addition to the integrability conditions (21) (if necessary).

Let us state the generalized Hamiltonian Hamilton-Jacobi problem for this field theory. Let $s \in \Gamma(\pi_E^r)$ be a section given locally by $s(x^i, u^\alpha) = (x^i, u^\alpha, s^i_\alpha(x^i, u^\alpha))$, where $s^i_\alpha \in C^\infty(E)$ are local functions. By Proposition 6, the section s is a solution to the generalized Hamiltonian Hamilton-Jacobi problem if, and only if, the multivector field \mathcal{X}_h given in coordinates by (37) is tangent to the submanifold $\operatorname{Im}(s) \hookrightarrow J^1\pi^*$ defined locally by the constraints $p^i_\alpha - s^i_\alpha = 0$. Computing, the tangency condition gives rise to equations (22), that is,

$$\frac{\partial s_{\delta}^{k}}{\partial x^{j}} + \tilde{g}_{ij}^{\alpha\beta} p_{\alpha}^{i} \frac{\partial s_{\delta}^{k}}{\partial u^{\beta}} - \left. G_{\delta,j}^{k} \right|_{\mathrm{Im}(s)} = 0 \,.$$

Now, in order to state the Hamiltonian Hamilton-Jacobi problem, we must require in addition the section $s \in \Gamma(\pi_E^r)$ to satisfy the condition $s^*\Omega_h = 0$ or, equivalently, $d(h \circ s) = 0$. Bearing in mind the coordinate expression (35) of the Hamilton-Cartan (m+1)-form Ω_h , the pull-back $s^*\Omega_h \in \Omega^{m+1}(E)$ is given locally by

$$s^*\Omega_h = \left(\frac{\partial s^i_{\delta}}{\partial x^i} + \frac{1}{2} \frac{\partial \tilde{g}^{\alpha\beta}_{ij}}{\partial u^{\delta}} s^i_{\alpha} s^j_{\beta} - \frac{\partial V}{\partial u^{\delta}} + \tilde{g}^{\alpha\beta}_{ij} s^i_{\alpha} \frac{\partial s^j_{\beta}}{\partial u^{\delta}}\right) \mathrm{d}u^{\delta} \wedge \mathrm{d}^m x - \frac{\partial s^i_{\alpha}}{\partial u^{\beta}} \mathrm{d}u^{\beta} \wedge \mathrm{d}u^{\alpha} \wedge \mathrm{d}^{m-1} x_i \,.$$

Hence, the condition $s^*\Omega_h = 0$ gives equations (23) for this problem, that is,

$$\frac{\partial s^i_{\delta}}{\partial x^i} + \frac{1}{2} \frac{\partial \tilde{g}^{\alpha\beta}_{ij}}{\partial u^{\delta}} s^i_{\alpha} s^j_{\beta} - \frac{\partial V}{\partial u^{\delta}} + \tilde{g}^{\alpha\beta}_{ij} s^i_{\alpha} \frac{\partial s^j_{\beta}}{\partial u^{\delta}} = 0 \quad ; \quad \frac{\partial s^i_{\alpha}}{\partial u^{\beta}} - \frac{\partial s^i_{\beta}}{\partial u^{\alpha}} = 0$$

Finally, we compute the Hamilton-Jacobi equation in the Hamiltonian formalism. Since the section $s \in \Gamma(\pi_E^r)$ is a solution to the Hamiltonian Hamilton-Jacobi problem, we have that $h \circ s \in \Omega^m(E)$ is a closed form. Hence, there exists a local π -semibasic (m-1)-form $\omega \in \Omega^{m-1}(E)$ such that $d\omega = h \circ s$. In coordinates, the local expression of the *m*-form $h \circ s$ is

$$h \circ s = s^i_{\alpha} \mathrm{d} u^{\alpha} \wedge \mathrm{d}^{m-1} x_i - \left(\frac{1}{2} \,\tilde{g}^{\alpha\beta}_{ij} s^i_{\alpha} s^j_{\beta} - V(x^i, u^{\alpha})\right) \mathrm{d}^m x \,,$$

Then, if the (m-1)-form ω is given locally by $\omega = W^i d^{m-1} x_i$, the condition $d\omega = h \circ s$ gives rise to the following equations

$$\sum_{i=1}^{m} \frac{\partial W^{i}}{\partial x^{i}} + \frac{1}{2} \, \tilde{g}_{ij}^{\alpha\beta} s^{i}_{\alpha} s^{j}_{\beta} - V(x^{i}, u^{\alpha}) = 0 \quad ; \quad \frac{\partial W^{i}}{\partial u^{\alpha}} = s^{i}_{\alpha} \, ,$$

which may be combined to give the classic Hamilton-Jacobi equation in the Hamiltonian formalism (24), and it coincides with the equation (34) obtained in the Lagrangian formulation, that is,

$$\sum_{i=1}^{m} \frac{\partial W^{i}}{\partial x^{i}} + \frac{1}{2} \,\tilde{g}_{ij}^{\alpha\beta} \frac{\partial W^{i}}{\partial u^{\alpha}} \frac{\partial W^{j}}{\partial u^{\beta}} - V(x^{i}, u^{\alpha}) = 0 \,.$$

5.3 Minimal surfaces in dimension three

Let us consider the following problem: we look for smooth maps $\phi \colon \mathbb{R}^2 \to \mathbb{R}$ such that the set graph $(\phi) \subseteq \mathbb{R}^3$, which is a surface in \mathbb{R}^3 , has minimal area and satisfies certain boundary conditions. This problem can be modeled as a first-order classical field theory with base manifold $M = \mathbb{R}^2$ and 1-dimensional fibers, that is, $E = \mathbb{R}^2 \times \mathbb{R}$. Let (x, y) be the global coordinates in $M = \mathbb{R}^2$, and (x, y, u) the global coordinates in $E = \mathbb{R}^3$. In these coordinates, the canonical volume form $\eta \in \Omega^2(\mathbb{R}^2)$ is given by $\eta = dx \wedge dy$. Then, in the natural coordinates (x, y, u, u_1, u_2) of $J^1\pi$, the Lagrangian density $\mathcal{L} \in \Omega^2(J^1\pi)$ for this field theory is

$$\mathcal{L} = \sqrt{1 + u_1^2 + u_2^2} \,\mathrm{d}x \wedge \mathrm{d}y \,. \tag{39}$$

Observe that \mathcal{L} is a regular Lagrangian density, since the Hessian matrix of the Lagrangian function $L = \sqrt{1 + u_1^2 + u_2^2}$ associated with \mathcal{L} and η is

$$\left(\frac{\partial^2 L}{\partial u_i \partial u_j}\right) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{(1+u_1^2+u_2^2)^3}} \begin{pmatrix} u_2^2 + 1 & -u_1 u_2 \\ -u_1 u_2 & u_1^2 + 1 \end{pmatrix}$$

which has determinant

$$\det\left(\frac{\partial^2 L}{\partial u_i \partial u_j}\right) = \frac{1}{(1+u_1^2+u_2^2)^2} \neq 0.$$

Lagrangian formalism

The local expression of the Cartan 2-form $\Theta_{\mathcal{L}} \in \Omega^2(J^1\pi)$ is

$$\Theta_{\mathcal{L}} = \frac{u_1}{\sqrt{1 + u_1^2 + u_2^2}} \mathrm{d}u \wedge \mathrm{d}y - \frac{u_2}{\sqrt{1 + u_1^2 + u_2^2}} \mathrm{d}u \wedge \mathrm{d}x + \frac{1}{\sqrt{1 + u_1^2 + u_2^2}} \mathrm{d}x \wedge \mathrm{d}y \,, \qquad (40)$$

from where we deduce the following coordinate expression for the Cartan 3-form $\Omega_{\mathcal{L}} \in \Omega^3(J^1\pi)$

$$\Omega_{\mathcal{L}} = -\frac{u_2^2 + 1}{\sqrt{(1 + u_1^2 + u_2^2)^3}} du_1 \wedge du \wedge dy + \frac{u_1 u_2}{\sqrt{(1 + u_1^2 + u_2^2)^3}} du_2 \wedge du \wedge dy$$

$$-\frac{u_1 u_2}{\sqrt{(1 + u_1^2 + u_2^2)^3}} du_1 \wedge du \wedge dx + \frac{u_1^2 + 1}{\sqrt{(1 + u_1^2 + u_2^2)^3}} du_2 \wedge du \wedge dx \qquad (41)$$

$$+\frac{u_1}{\sqrt{(1 + u_1^2 + u_2^2)^3}} du_1 \wedge dx \wedge dy + \frac{u_2}{\sqrt{(1 + u_1^2 + u_2^2)^3}} du_2 \wedge dx \wedge dy.$$

Thus, a multivector field $\mathcal{X}_{\mathcal{L}} \in \mathfrak{X}^2(J^1\pi)$ solution to the Lagrangian field equation (7) is given in coordinates by

$$\mathcal{X}_{\mathcal{L}} = fX_1 \wedge X_2 = f\left(\frac{\partial}{\partial x} + u_1\frac{\partial}{\partial u} + F_{1,1}\frac{\partial}{\partial u_1} + F_{1,2}\frac{\partial}{\partial u_2}\right) \wedge \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial y} + u_2\frac{\partial}{\partial u} + F_{2,1}\frac{\partial}{\partial u_1} + F_{2,2}\frac{\partial}{\partial u_2}\right)$$

where $f \in C^{\infty}(J^{1}\pi)$ is a non-vanishing function, and the functions $F_{i,j}$ satisfy the Euler-Lagrange equations for multivector fields (11), which in this case reduce to the following single equation

$$(1+u_2^2)F_{1,1} - u_1u_2(F_{1,2} + F_{2,1}) + (1+u_1^2)F_{2,2} = 0.$$
(42)

In addition, since we need the multivector fields solution to the field equation to be integrable in order to give a suitable Hamilton-Jacobi formulation, we must require equations (3) to hold. In our case, since $\mathcal{X}_{\mathcal{L}} = X_1 \wedge X_2$, we must require $[X_1, X_2] = 0$. Computing, we have

$$\begin{split} [X_1, X_2] &= (F_{1,2} - F_{2,1}) \frac{\partial}{\partial u} \\ &+ \left(\frac{\partial F_{2,1}}{\partial x} + u_1 \frac{\partial F_{2,1}}{\partial u} + F_{1,1} \frac{\partial F_{2,1}}{\partial u_1} + F_{1,2} \frac{\partial F_{2,1}}{\partial u_2} \right. \\ &- \frac{\partial F_{1,1}}{\partial y} - u_2 \frac{\partial F_{1,1}}{\partial u} - F_{2,1} \frac{\partial F_{1,1}}{\partial u_1} - F_{2,2} \frac{\partial F_{1,1}}{\partial u_2} \right) \frac{\partial}{\partial u_1} \\ &+ \left(\frac{\partial F_{2,2}}{\partial x} + u_1 \frac{\partial F_{2,2}}{\partial u} + F_{1,1} \frac{\partial F_{2,2}}{\partial u_1} + F_{1,2} \frac{\partial F_{2,2}}{\partial u_2} \right. \\ &- \frac{\partial F_{1,2}}{\partial y} - u_2 \frac{\partial F_{1,2}}{\partial u} - F_{2,1} \frac{\partial F_{1,2}}{\partial u_1} - F_{2,2} \frac{\partial F_{1,2}}{\partial u_2} \right) \frac{\partial}{\partial u_2} \end{split}$$

Then, requiring this last expression to vanish, we have that the multivector fields $\mathcal{X}_{\mathcal{L}}$ which are solutions to the field equation are integrable if, and only if, the following 3 equations hold

$$F_{1,2} - F_{2,1} = 0,$$

$$\frac{\partial F_{2,1}}{\partial x} + u_1 \frac{\partial F_{2,1}}{\partial u} + F_{1,1} \frac{\partial F_{2,1}}{\partial u_1} + F_{1,2} \frac{\partial F_{2,1}}{\partial u_2} - \frac{\partial F_{1,1}}{\partial y} - u_2 \frac{\partial F_{1,1}}{\partial u} - F_{2,1} \frac{\partial F_{1,1}}{\partial u_1} - F_{2,2} \frac{\partial F_{1,1}}{\partial u_2} = 0,$$
(43)
$$\frac{\partial F_{2,2}}{\partial x} + u_1 \frac{\partial F_{2,2}}{\partial u} + F_{1,1} \frac{\partial F_{2,2}}{\partial u_1} + F_{1,2} \frac{\partial F_{2,2}}{\partial u_2} - \frac{\partial F_{1,2}}{\partial y} - u_2 \frac{\partial F_{1,2}}{\partial u} - F_{2,1} \frac{\partial F_{1,2}}{\partial u_1} - F_{2,2} \frac{\partial F_{1,2}}{\partial u_1} = 0.$$

A particular solution to equations (43) is given by

$$F_{1,1} = \frac{\partial u_1}{\partial x}$$
; $F_{1,2} = F_{2,1} = \frac{\partial u_1}{\partial y} = \frac{\partial u_2}{\partial x}$; $F_{2,2} = \frac{\partial u_2}{\partial y}$

Moreover, one can easily check that these functions are also a solution to the Euler-Lagrange equation (42). Therefore, a particular holonomic multivector field solution to the field equation is given in coordinates by

$$\mathcal{X}_{\mathcal{L}} = f\left(\frac{\partial}{\partial x} + u_1\frac{\partial}{\partial u} + \frac{\partial u_1}{\partial x}\frac{\partial}{\partial u_1} + \frac{\partial u_2}{\partial x}\frac{\partial}{\partial u_2}\right) \wedge \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial y} + u_2\frac{\partial}{\partial u} + \frac{\partial u_1}{\partial y}\frac{\partial}{\partial u_1} + \frac{\partial u_2}{\partial y}\frac{\partial}{\partial u_2}\right).$$
(44)

In the following we use the particular solution given by (44) with f = 1 to state the Lagrangian Hamilton-Jacobi problem.

First we state the generalized version of the Hamilton-Jacobi problem. Let $\Psi \in \Gamma(\pi^1)$ be a jet field locally given by $\Psi(x, y, u) = (x, y, u, \psi_1(x, y, u), \psi_2(x, y, u))$, with $\psi_1, \psi_2 \in C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^3)$ being local functions. Then, from Proposition 3 we know that Ψ is a solution to the generalized Lagrangian Hamilton-Jacobi problem if, and only if, the Euler-Lagrange multivector field $\mathcal{X}_{\mathcal{L}}$ given locally by (44) is tangent to the submanifold $\operatorname{Im}(\Psi) \hookrightarrow J^1\pi$, which is locally defined by the constraints $u_j - \psi_j = 0$, j = 1, 2. Then, from the conditions $\operatorname{L}(X_i)(u_j - \psi_j) = 0$ we obtain the following systems of 4 partial differential equations

$$\psi_1 \frac{\partial \psi_1}{\partial u} = 0 \quad ; \quad \psi_1 \frac{\partial \psi_2}{\partial u} = 0 \quad ; \quad \psi_2 \frac{\partial \psi_1}{\partial u} = 0 \quad ; \quad \psi_2 \frac{\partial \psi_2}{\partial u} = 0 ,$$

which admits the following set of solutions

$$\{\psi_1(x, y, u) = f_1(x, y), \psi_2(x, y, u) = f_2(x, y)\},$$
(45)

where $f_1, f_2 \in C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^3)$ are functions depending only on the coordinates of the base manifold $M = \mathbb{R}^2$, that is, they are constant along the fibers of the bundle $\mathbb{R}^3 \to \mathbb{R}^2$. Observe that both functions may be constant, and even vanish everywhere.

In order to obtain the equations of the Lagrangian Hamilton-Jacobi problem, we require in addition the jet field $\Psi \in \Gamma(\pi^1)$ to satisfy the condition $\Psi^*\Omega_{\mathcal{L}} = 0$. Bearing in mind the coordinate expression of the Cartan 3-form $\Omega_{\mathcal{L}} \in \Omega^3(J^1\pi)$ given in (41), the pull-back $\Psi^*\Omega_{\mathcal{L}} \in$ $\Omega^3(\mathbb{R}^3)$ by a jet field $\Psi(x, y, u) = (x, y, u, \psi_1, \psi_2)$ gives

$$\Psi^*\Omega_{\mathcal{L}} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{(1+\psi_1^2+\psi_2^2)^3}} \left((\psi_2^2+1)\frac{\partial\psi_1}{\partial x} - \psi_1\psi_2 \left(\frac{\partial\psi_2}{\partial x} + \frac{\partial\psi_1}{\partial y}\right) + (\psi_1^2+1)\frac{\partial\psi_2}{\partial y} \right) \mathrm{d}u \wedge \mathrm{d}x \wedge \mathrm{d}y$$

Therefore, $\Psi^*\Omega_{\mathcal{L}} = 0$ if, and only if, the following partial differential equation holds

$$(\psi_2^2+1)\frac{\partial\psi_1}{\partial x} - \psi_1\psi_2\left(\frac{\partial\psi_2}{\partial x} + \frac{\partial\psi_1}{\partial y}\right) + (\psi_1^2+1)\frac{\partial\psi_2}{\partial y} = 0.$$

It is easy to check that, from the functions in the set (45) of solutions to the generalized Lagrangian Hamilton-Jacobi problem, the following functions are solutions to the Lagrangian Hamilton-Jacobi problem:

$$\{\psi_1 = \bar{f}(y), \psi_2 = f(x)\}$$

with $f, \bar{f} \in C^{\infty}(E)$ being functions depending only on the coordinate x and y, respectively (with possibly one or both of them vanishing). In addition, when $\psi_i = g(x, y)$, we do not obtain a closed formula for ψ_j in terms of the function g, but there may be functions satisfying the arising partial differential equation.

Finally, we state the Hamilton-Jacobi equation in the Lagrangian formalism. Since the jet field $\Psi \in \Gamma(\pi^1)$ is a solution to the Lagrangian Hamilton-Jacobi problem, we have that $d(\Psi^*\Theta_{\mathcal{L}}) = 0$. Thus, there exists a 1-form $\omega \in \Omega^1(E)$ given locally by $\omega = W^1 dy - W^2 dx$ such that $d\omega = \Psi^*\Theta_{\mathcal{L}}$. The pull-back of the Cartan 2-form $\Theta_{\mathcal{L}}$ by Ψ gives in coordinates

$$\Psi^*\Theta_{\mathcal{L}} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{1+\psi_1^2+\psi_2^2}} \left(\psi_1 \mathrm{d} u \wedge \mathrm{d} y - \psi_2 \mathrm{d} u \wedge \mathrm{d} x + \mathrm{d} x \wedge \mathrm{d} y\right) \,.$$

Hence, requiring $\Psi^*\Theta_{\mathcal{L}} = d\omega$, we obtain

$$\frac{\partial W^1}{\partial x} + \frac{\partial W^2}{\partial y} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{1 + \psi_1^2 + \psi_2^2}} \quad ; \quad \frac{\partial W^1}{\partial u} = \frac{\psi_1}{\sqrt{1 + \psi_1^2 + \psi_2^2}} \quad ; \quad \frac{\partial W^2}{\partial u} = \frac{\psi_2}{\sqrt{1 + \psi_1^2 + \psi_2^2}},$$

which may be combined in the following single equation

$$\frac{\partial W^1}{\partial x} + \frac{\partial W^2}{\partial y} = \sqrt{1 - \left(\frac{\partial W^1}{\partial u}\right)^2 - \left(\frac{\partial W^2}{\partial u}\right)^2}.$$
(46)

This is the Hamilton-Jacobi equation for this field theory.

Hamiltonian formalism

Now we state the Hamiltonian formulation of the Hamilton-Jacobi problem for this field theory. In the natural coordinates (x, y, u, p^1, p^2) of $J^1\pi^*$, the restricted Legendre map $\mathcal{FL}: J^1\pi \to J^1\pi^*$ associated to the Lagrangian density \mathcal{L} given by (39) has the following coordinate expression

$$\mathcal{FL}^* p^1 = \frac{u_1}{\sqrt{1+u_1^2+u_2^2}}$$
; $\mathcal{FL}^* p^2 = \frac{u_2}{\sqrt{1+u_1^2+u_2^2}}$.

From this last expression we deduce the coordinate expression of the extended Legendre map, which is

$$\widetilde{\mathcal{FL}}^* p^1 = \frac{u_1}{\sqrt{1 + u_1^2 + u_2^2}} \quad ; \quad \widetilde{\mathcal{FL}}^* p^2 = \frac{u_2}{\sqrt{1 + u_1^2 + u_2^2}} \quad ; \quad \widetilde{\mathcal{FL}}^* p = -\frac{1}{\sqrt{1 + u_1^2 + u_2^2}} \quad ; \quad \widetilde{\mathcal{FL}}^* p = -\frac{1}{\sqrt{1 + u_1^2 + u_2^2}} \quad ; \quad \widetilde{\mathcal{FL}}^* p = -\frac{1}{\sqrt{1 + u_1^2 + u_2^2}} \quad ; \quad \widetilde{\mathcal{FL}}^* p = -\frac{1}{\sqrt{1 + u_1^2 + u_2^2}} \quad ; \quad \widetilde{\mathcal{FL}}^* p = -\frac{1}{\sqrt{1 + u_1^2 + u_2^2}} \quad ; \quad \widetilde{\mathcal{FL}}^* p = -\frac{1}{\sqrt{1 + u_1^2 + u_2^2}} \quad ; \quad \widetilde{\mathcal{FL}}^* p = -\frac{1}{\sqrt{1 + u_1^2 + u_2^2}} \quad ; \quad \widetilde{\mathcal{FL}}^* p = -\frac{1}{\sqrt{1 + u_1^2 + u_2^2}} \quad ; \quad \widetilde{\mathcal{FL}}^* p = -\frac{1}{\sqrt{1 + u_1^2 + u_2^2}} \quad ; \quad \widetilde{\mathcal{FL}}^* p = -\frac{1}{\sqrt{1 + u_1^2 + u_2^2}} \quad ; \quad \widetilde{\mathcal{FL}}^* p = -\frac{1}{\sqrt{1 + u_1^2 + u_2^2}} \quad ; \quad \widetilde{\mathcal{FL}}^* p = -\frac{1}{\sqrt{1 + u_1^2 + u_2^2}} \quad ; \quad \widetilde{\mathcal{FL}}^* p = -\frac{1}{\sqrt{1 + u_1^2 + u_2^2}} \quad ; \quad \widetilde{\mathcal{FL}}^* p = -\frac{1}{\sqrt{1 + u_1^2 + u_2^2}} \quad ; \quad \widetilde{\mathcal{FL}}^* p = -\frac{1}{\sqrt{1 + u_1^2 + u_2^2}} \quad ; \quad \widetilde{\mathcal{FL}}^* p = -\frac{1}{\sqrt{1 + u_1^2 + u_2^2}} \quad ; \quad \widetilde{\mathcal{FL}}^* p = -\frac{1}{\sqrt{1 + u_1^2 + u_2^2}} \quad ; \quad \widetilde{\mathcal{FL}}^* p = -\frac{1}{\sqrt{1 + u_1^2 + u_2^2}} \quad ; \quad \widetilde{\mathcal{FL}}^* p = -\frac{1}{\sqrt{1 + u_1^2 + u_2^2}} \quad ; \quad \widetilde{\mathcal{FL}}^* p = -\frac{1}{\sqrt{1 + u_1^2 + u_2^2}} \quad ; \quad \widetilde{\mathcal{FL}}^* p = -\frac{1}{\sqrt{1 + u_1^2 + u_2^2}} \quad ; \quad \widetilde{\mathcal{FL}}^* p = -\frac{1}{\sqrt{1 + u_1^2 + u_2^2}} \quad ; \quad \widetilde{\mathcal{FL}}^* p = -\frac{1}{\sqrt{1 + u_1^2 + u_2^2}} \quad ; \quad \widetilde{\mathcal{FL}}^* p = -\frac{1}{\sqrt{1 + u_1^2 + u_2^2}} \quad ; \quad \widetilde{\mathcal{FL}}^* p = -\frac{1}{\sqrt{1 + u_1^2 + u_2^2}} \quad ; \quad \widetilde{\mathcal{FL}}^* p = -\frac{1}{\sqrt{1 + u_1^2 + u_2^2}} \quad ; \quad \widetilde{\mathcal{FL}}^* p = -\frac{1}{\sqrt{1 + u_1^2 + u_2^2}} \quad ; \quad \widetilde{\mathcal{FL}}^* p = -\frac{1}{\sqrt{1 + u_1^2 + u_2^2}} \quad ; \quad \widetilde{\mathcal{FL}}^* p = -\frac{1}{\sqrt{1 + u_1^2 + u_2^2}} \quad ; \quad \widetilde{\mathcal{FL}}^* p = -\frac{1}{\sqrt{1 + u_1^2 + u_2^2}} \quad ; \quad \widetilde{\mathcal{FL}}^* p = -\frac{1}{\sqrt{1 + u_1^2 + u_2^2}} \quad ; \quad \widetilde{\mathcal{FL}}^* p = -\frac{1}{\sqrt{1 + u_1^2 + u_2^2}} \quad ; \quad \widetilde{\mathcal{FL}}^* p = -\frac{1}{\sqrt{1 + u_1^2 + u_2^2}} \quad ; \quad \widetilde{\mathcal{FL}}^* p = -\frac{1}{\sqrt{1 + u_1^2 + u_2^2}} \quad ; \quad \widetilde{\mathcal{FL}}^* p = -\frac{1}{\sqrt{1 + u_1^2 + u_2^2}} \quad ; \quad \widetilde{\mathcal{FL}}^* p = -\frac{1}{\sqrt{1 + u_1^2 + u_2^2}} \quad ; \quad \widetilde{\mathcal{FL}}^* p = -\frac{1}{\sqrt{1 + u_1^2 + u_2^2}} \quad ; \quad \widetilde{\mathcal{FL}}^* p = -\frac{1}{\sqrt{1 + u_1^2 + u_2^2}} \quad ; \quad \widetilde{\mathcal{FL}}^* p = -\frac{1}{\sqrt{1 + u_1^2 + u_2^2}} \quad ; \quad \widetilde{\mathcal{FL}}^* p = -\frac{1}{\sqrt{1 + u_$$

as well as the coordinate expression of the (local) inverse map $\mathcal{FL}^{-1}: J^1\pi^* \to J^1\pi$

$$(\mathcal{FL}^{-1})^* u_1 = \frac{p^1}{\sqrt{1 - (p^1)^2 - (p^2)^2}} \quad ; \quad (\mathcal{FL}^{-1})^* u_2 = \frac{p^2}{\sqrt{1 - (p^1)^2 - (p^2)^2}} \,.$$

Observe that the inverse Legendre map is not defined on the points of $J^1\pi^*$ satisfying $(p^1)^2 + (p^2)^2 = 1$.

The local Hamiltonian function associated to the Lagrangian formulation is then given by

$$H(x, y, u, p^{1}, p^{2}) = -\sqrt{1 - (p^{1})^{2} - (p^{2})^{2}}.$$

Using the Hamiltonian section $h \in \Gamma(\mu)$ specified by this local Hamiltonian function we define the Hamilton-Cartan forms $\Theta_h = h^* \Theta \in \Omega^2(J^1\pi^*)$, $\Omega_h = h^* \Omega \in \Omega^3(J^1\pi^*)$, whose coordinate expressions are

$$\Theta_h = p^1 \mathrm{d}u \wedge \mathrm{d}y - p^2 \mathrm{d}u \wedge \mathrm{d}x + \sqrt{1 - (p^1)^2 - (p^2)^2} \,\mathrm{d}x \wedge \mathrm{d}y\,,\tag{47}$$

$$\Omega_h = -\mathrm{d}p^1 \wedge \mathrm{d}u \wedge \mathrm{d}y + \mathrm{d}p^2 \wedge \mathrm{d}u \wedge \mathrm{d}x + \frac{1}{\sqrt{1 - (p^1)^2 - (p^2)^2}} \left(p^1 \mathrm{d}p^1 \wedge \mathrm{d}x \wedge \mathrm{d}y + p^2 \mathrm{d}p^2 \wedge \mathrm{d}x \wedge \mathrm{d}y \right) \,. \tag{48}$$

Then, a locally decomposable 2-vector field $\mathcal{X}_h \in \mathfrak{X}^2(J^1\pi^*)$ solution to the field equation $i(\mathcal{X}_h)\Omega_h = 0$ is locally given by

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{X}_{h} &= f\left(\frac{\partial}{\partial x} + \frac{p^{1}}{\sqrt{1 - (p^{1})^{2} - (p^{2})^{2}}} \frac{\partial}{\partial u} + G_{1}^{1} \frac{\partial}{\partial p^{1}} + G_{1}^{2} \frac{\partial}{\partial p^{2}}\right) \\ &\wedge \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial y} + \frac{p^{2}}{\sqrt{1 - (p^{1})^{2} - (p^{2})^{2}}} \frac{\partial}{\partial u} + G_{2}^{1} \frac{\partial}{\partial p^{1}} + G_{2}^{2} \frac{\partial}{\partial p^{2}}\right), \end{aligned}$$

with the functions G_i^j satisfying the Hamilton-De Donder-Weyl equations (20), which in this case reduce to the following single equation

$$G_1^1 + G_2^2 = 0. (49)$$

Following the same procedure given in the Lagrangian formalism, an integrability condition must be required to this multivector field. From [23] we know that a particular choice of a locally decomposable and integrable multivector field solution to the field equation is given in coordinates by

$$X_{h} = f\left(\frac{\partial}{\partial x} + \frac{p^{1}}{\sqrt{1 - (p^{1})^{2} - (p^{2})^{2}}}\frac{\partial}{\partial u} + \frac{\partial p^{1}}{\partial x}\frac{\partial}{\partial p^{1}} + \frac{\partial p^{2}}{\partial x}\frac{\partial}{\partial p^{2}}\right)$$

$$\wedge \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial y} + \frac{p^{2}}{\sqrt{1 - (p^{1})^{2} - (p^{2})^{2}}}\frac{\partial}{\partial u} + \frac{\partial p^{1}}{\partial y}\frac{\partial}{\partial p^{1}} + \frac{\partial p^{2}}{\partial y}\frac{\partial}{\partial p^{2}}\right),$$
(50)

As in the Lagrangian formalism, in the following we use the particular solution given by (50) with f = 1 to state the Hamiltonian Hamilton-Jacobi problem.

In order to state the generalized Hamiltonian Hamilton-Jacobi problem, let $s \in \Gamma(\pi_{\mathbb{R}^3}^r)$ be a section given in coordinates by $s(x, y, u) = (x, y, u, s^1(x, y, u), s^2(x, y, u))$, where $s^1, s^2 \in \mathbb{C}^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^3)$ are local functions. By Proposition 6, the section s is a solution to the generalized Hamiltonian Hamilton-Jacobi problem if, and only if, the multivector field \mathcal{X}_h given in coordinates by (50) is tangent to the submanifold $\text{Im}(s) \hookrightarrow J^1 \pi^*$ defined locally by the constraints $p^j - s^j = 0$, j = 1, 2. Then the tangency of \mathcal{X}_h along the submanifold Im(s) gives the following system of 4 partial differential equations.

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{s^1}{\sqrt{1 - (s^1)^2 - (s^2)^2}} \frac{\partial s^1}{\partial u} &= 0 \quad ; \quad \frac{s^1}{\sqrt{1 - (s^1)^2 - (s^2)^2}} \frac{\partial s^2}{\partial u} &= 0 \,, \\ \frac{s^2}{\sqrt{1 - (s^1)^2 - (s^2)^2}} \frac{\partial s^1}{\partial u} &= 0 \quad ; \quad \frac{s^2}{\sqrt{1 - (s^1)^2 - (s^2)^2}} \frac{\partial s^2}{\partial u} &= 0 \,. \end{aligned}$$

This system of partial differential equations admits the following set of local solutions

$$\{s^{1}(x, y, u) = f^{1}(x, y), s^{2}(x, y, u) = f^{2}(x, y)\},$$
(51)

where $f^1, f^2 \in C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^3)$ are functions depending only on the coordinates (x, y) of the base manifold $M = \mathbb{R}^2$, and satisfying $(f^1)^2 + (f^2)^2 \neq 1$.

Now, to obtain the equation of the Hamiltonian Hamilton-Jacobi problem, we require in addition that the section $s \in \Gamma(\pi_{\mathbb{R}^3}^r)$ satisfies the condition $s^*\Omega_h = 0$ or, equivalently, we require the 2-form $h \circ s \in \Omega^2(E)$ to be closed. In coordinates, bearing in mind the coordinate expression (48) of the Hamilton-Cartan 3-form $\Omega_h \in \Omega^3(J^1\pi^*)$, we have

$$s^*\Omega_h = \left(\frac{\partial s^1}{\partial x} + \frac{\partial s^2}{\partial y}\right) \mathrm{d}u \wedge \mathrm{d}x \wedge \mathrm{d}y,$$

from where the condition $s^*\Omega_h = 0$ is locally equivalent to the equation:

$$\frac{\partial s^1}{\partial x} + \frac{\partial s^2}{\partial y} = 0$$

This additional equation restricts the set of solutions (51) to the following:

$$\{s^1 = \bar{f}(y), s^2 = f(x)\}.$$

As in the Lagrangian Hamilton-Jacobi problem, $f, \bar{f} \in C^{\infty}(E)$ are functions depending only on the coordinate x and y, respectively, and they may vanish. In addition, when $s^i = g(x, y)$, we do not obtain a closed formula for s^j in terms of the function g, but there may be functions satisfying the arising partial differential equation. Recall that both f, \bar{f} must satisfy $f^2 + \bar{f}^2 \neq 1$.

Finally, we state the Hamilton-Jacobi equation in the Hamiltonian formalism. Since the section $s \in \Gamma(\pi_{\mathbb{R}^3}^r)$ is a solution to the Hamiltonian Hamilton-Jacobi problem, the form $h \circ s \in \Omega^2(E)$ is closed. Thus, there exists a 1-form $\omega \in \Omega^1(E)$ given locally by $\omega = W^1 dy - W^2 dx$ such that $d\omega = h \circ s$. In coordinates, the form $h \circ s = s^* \Theta_h$ is given by

$$h \circ s = s^{1} \mathrm{d}u \wedge \mathrm{d}y - s^{2} \mathrm{d}u \wedge \mathrm{d}x + \sqrt{1 - (s^{1})^{2} - (s^{2})^{2}} \,\mathrm{d}x \wedge \mathrm{d}y.$$

Thus, requiring $h \circ s = d\omega$, we obtain

$$\frac{\partial W^1}{\partial x} + \frac{\partial W^2}{\partial y} = \sqrt{1 - (s^1)^2 - (s^2)^2} \quad ; \quad \frac{\partial W^1}{\partial u} = s^1 \quad ; \quad \frac{\partial W^2}{\partial u} = s^2 \, ,$$

which may be combined to obtain equation (46), that is,

$$\frac{\partial W^1}{\partial x} + \frac{\partial W^2}{\partial y} = \sqrt{1 - \left(\frac{\partial W^1}{\partial u}\right)^2 - \left(\frac{\partial W^2}{\partial u}\right)^2}.$$

6 Conclusions and further research

Starting from the geometric Hamilton-Jacobi theory developed mainly in [14, 17] for mechanical systems and using the results given in [39] as standpoint, we have stated a geometric framework for first-order classical field theories described in the multisymplectic setting.

The theory has been developed for the Lagrangian and the Hamiltonian formalisms. In both cases, first we have stated the so-called generalized Hamilton-Jacobi problem, which is the most natural one in this geometrical ambient, and hence we have defined from it the standard Hamilton-Jacobi problem. Particular solutions to these problems are defined and characterized in several equivalent ways and, in particular, one of these characterizations for the standard case in the Hamiltonian formalism, when written in natural coordinates, leads the classical Hamilton-Jacobi equation for field theories. After that, the definition and geometric characterization of complete solutions is also given and different features about them are discussed. Finally, the equivalence between the Lagrangian and the Hamiltonian Hamilton-Jacobi problems is also proved.

It is important to point out that this generalization of the theory has been achieved using distributions in the jet bundles and multimomentum bundles where the Lagrangian and Hamiltonian formalisms of multisymplectic classical field theories are developed. These are integrable distributions whose integral sections are the solutions to the Lagrangian and Hamiltonian field equations, and they are represented, in general, by means of equivalence classes of multivector fields. This choice has enabled us to give a construction of the Hamilton-Jacobi theory in a very natural way. Thus, our model is different from that given by L. Vitagliano in [59] for higherorder field theories, who uses connections as the main geometrical tool and a unified formalism to describe the Lagrangian and Hamiltonian formulations at once.

We have analyzed several examples. First, non-autonomous mechanical systems can be considered as a special situation of field theories, and hence the Hamilton-Jacobi equation for these systems has been recovered from our model as a particular case. Second, we have applied our results to obtain the Hamilton-Jacobi equation for field theories described by quadratic affine Lagrangians. Finally, we have written this equation for a more particular example: minimal surfaces in dimension three.

As further research, we believe that our geometric framework for the Hamilton-Jacobi theory can be extended to higher-order field theories using the formulations in [9, 52], thus generalizing the results of [18, 19] for higher-order mechanics and giving a different but equivalent perspective to that of [59] for this kind of theories.

A very relevant application of the Hamilton-Jacobi theory for first-order field theories would be to the Palatini approach of General Relativity and, once the extension to higher-order field theory is made, also to the Einstein-Hilbert Lagrangian approach, as well as to other gravitational theories. As a previous step, a suitable multisymplectic description of these gravitational models must be done and, although there are some recent attempts to do it [58], more work in this way is necessary and research in this way is in progress.

Another interesting question in the ambient of the Hamilton-Jacobi theory is the existence of conserved quantities (or conservation laws), and the integrability of the system. It is known (see [14] for more details) that, in the case of mechanics, for a dynamical system with n degrees of freedom, the existence of complete solutions to the generalized Hamilton-Jacobi problem is associated with the local existence of families of n functions which are constants of motion. From a geometrical perspective, a complete solution is a foliation in the fiber bundle which represents the phase space of the system, which is transverse to the fibers, and such that the dynamical vector field is tangent to the leaves of this foliation. Then, these leaves are locally the level sets of the functions which are constants of motion. In addition, a complete solution to the Hamilton-Jacobi problem corresponds to a Lagrangian foliation (with respect to the symplectic structure, canonical or not, which the phase space is endowed with), and thus the constants of motion are in involution and the system is completely integrable.

In the case of field theories, from a geometrical point of view, the situation is quite similar: as it is defined in Sections 3.3 and 4.3, complete solutions to the generalized Hamilton-Jacobi problem endow the jet and multimomentum bundles with foliations which are transverse to the fibers and such that their leaves contain the image of the sections solution to the field equations. When we consider just the Hamilton-Jacobi problem, these are *m*-Lagrangian foliations (with respect to the corresponding multisymplectic structures, in the sense defined in [12]). Nevertheless, up to our knowledge, the notion of "integrability" is not clearly stated in these cases. Furthermore, although the leaves of these foliations can be also locally defined as level sets of families of functions, how to associate these functions with conservation laws in field theories must be investigated and, even if the foliation is *m*-Lagrangian, these functions are not said "to be in involution" because, although there are several attempts to define unambiguously a Poisson bracket (for functions) in covariant field theories (that is, in multisymplectic geometry), this problem is not solved in a completely satisfactory way. The discussion on all these topics is also under research.

Acknowledgments

We acknowledge the financial support of the *Ministerio de Ciencia e Innovación* (Spain), projects MTM2011-22585 and MTM2011-15725-E, *Ministerio de Economía y Competividad* (Spain) project MTM2013-42870-P, the European project IRSES-project "Geomech-246981", the IC-MAT Severo Ochoa project SEV-2011-0087, the AGAUR project 2009 SGR:1338, and the project E24/1 (Gobierno de Aragón). P.D. Prieto-Martínez wants to thank the UPC for a Ph.D grant.

References

- R. Abraham and J.E. Marsden, Foundations of Mechanics, 2nd ed., Benjamin–Cummings, New York 1978.
- [2] V. Aldaya and J.A. de Azcárraga, "Geometric formulation of classical mechanics and field theory", *Riv. Nuovo Cimento (3)* 3(10) (1980) 66pp.
- [3] V.I. Arnol'd, Mathematical methods of classical mechanics, Graduate Texts in Mathematics 60, Springer-Verlag, NY, 1989.
- [4] P. Balseiro, J.C. Marrero, D. Martín de Diego and E. Padrón, "A unified framework for mechanics: Hamilton-Jacobi equation and applications", *Nonlinearity* 23(8) (2010) 1887–1918.
- [5] M. Barbero-Liñán, M. Delgado-Téllez and D. Martín de Diego, "A geometric framework for discrete Hamilton-Jacobi equation", Proceedings of the XX International Fall Workshop on Geometry and Physics. Madrid. AIP Conference Proceedings 1460 (2012) 164–168.
- [6] M. Barbero-Liñán, M. de León, D. Martín de Diego, J.C. Marrero and M.C. Muñoz-Lecanda, "Kinematic reduction and the Hamilton-Jacobi equation", J. Geom. Mech. 4(3) (2012) 207–237.
- [7] M. Barbero-Liñán, M. de León and D. Martín de Diego, "Lagrangian submanifolds and Hamilton-Jacobi equation", Monatshefte für Mathematik 171(3-4) (2013) 269–290.
- [8] L.M. Bates, F. Fassò and N. Sansonetto, "The Hamilton-Jacobi equation, integrability, and nonholonomic systems", J. Geom. Mechs. 6(4) (2014) 441–449.
- [9] C.M. Campos, M. de León, D. Martín de Diego and J. Vankerschaver, "Unambigous formalism for higher-order Lagrangian field theories", J. Phys. A: Math Theor. 42(47) (2009) 475207.

- [10] C.M. Campos, M. de León, D. Martín de Diego and M. Vaquero, "Hamilton-Jacobi theory in Cauchy data space", arXiv:1411.3959 [math-ph], (2014).
- [11] F. Cantrijn, A. Ibort and M. de León, "Hamiltonian structures on multisymplectic manifolds", Rend. Sem. Mat. Univ. Politec. Torino 54(3) (1996) 225–236.
- [12] F. Cantrijn, A. Ibort and M. de León, "On the geometry of multisymplectic manifolds", J. Austral. Math. Soc. Ser. A 66(3) (1999) 303–330.
- [13] J.F. Cariñena, M. Crampin and L.A. Ibort, "On the multisymplectic formalism for first order field theories", *Differential Geom. Appl.* 1(4) (1991) 345–374.
- [14] J.F. Cariñena, X. Gràcia, G. Marmo, E. Martínez, M.C. Muñoz-Lecanda and N. Román-Roy, "Geometric Hamilton-Jacobi Theory", Int. J. Geom. Methods Mod. Phys. 3(7) (2006) 1417–1458.
- [15] J.F. Cariñena, X. Gràcia, G. Marmo, E. Martínez, M.C. Muñoz-Lecanda and N. Román-Roy, "Geometric Hamilton-Jacobi theory and the evolution operator", *Mathematical Physics and Field Theory*. *Julio Abad in memoriam*, 177-186. Eds. M. Asorey et al. Prensas Univ. Zaragoza, Zaragoza, 2009.
- [16] J.F. Cariñena, X. Gràcia, G. Marmo, E. Martínez, M.C. Muñoz-Lecanda and N. Román-Roy, "Geometric Hamilton-Jacobi theory for nonholonomic dynamical systems", Int. J. Geom. Methods Mod. Phys. 7(3) (2010) 431–454.
- [17] J.F. Cariñena, X. Gràcia, G. Marmo, E. Martínez, M.C. Muñoz-Lecanda and N. Román-Roy, "Slicing Vector Fields and Generalized Hamilton-Jacobi Theory", Preprint (2015).
- [18] L. Colombo, M. de León, P.D. Prieto-Martínez and N. Román-Roy, "Geometric Hamilton-Jacobi theory for higher-order autonomous systems", J. Phys. A: Math. Teor. 47(23) (2014) 235203.
- [19] L. Colombo, M. de León, P.D. Prieto-Martínez and N. Román-Roy, "Unified formalism for the generalized kth-order Hamilton-Jacobi problem", Int. J. Geom. Meth. Mod. Phys. 11(9) (2014) 1460037.
- [20] G.C. Constantelos, "On the Hamilton-Jacobi Theory with Derivatives of Higher Order", Nuovo Cimento B (11) 84(1) (1984) 91–101.
- [21] D. Dominici, J. Gomis, G. Longhi and J.M. Pons, "Hamilton-Jacobi Theory For Constrained Systems", J. Math. Phys. 25(8) (1984) 2439–2460.
- [22] A. Echeverría-Enríquez, A. Ibort, M.C. Muñoz-Lecanda and N. Román-Roy, "Invariant forms and automorphisms of locally homogeneous multisymplectic manifolds", J. Geom. Mech. 4(4) (2012) 397–419.
- [23] A. Echeverría-Enríquez, C. López, J. Marín-Solano, M.C. Muñoz-Lecanda and N. Román-Roy, "Lagrangian-Hamiltonian unified formalism for field theory", J. Math. Phys. 45(1) (2004) 360–380.
- [24] A. Echeverría-Enríquez, M.C. Muñoz-Lecanda and N. Román-Roy, "Geometry of Lagrangian firstorder classical field theories", *Fortschr. Phys.* 44(3) (1996) 235–280.
- [25] A. Echeverría-Enríquez, M.C. Muñoz-Lecanda and N. Román-Roy, "Multivector fields and connections: Setting Lagrangian equations in field theories", J. Math. Phys. 39(9) (1998) 4578–4603.
- [26] A. Echeverría-Enríquez, M.C. Muñoz-Lecanda and N. Román-Roy, "Multivector field formulation of Hamiltonian field theories: equations and symmetries", J. Phys. A: Math. Gen. 32(48) (1999) 8461–8484.
- [27] G. Esposito, G. Marmo and G. Sudarshan, From Classical to Quantum mechanics, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge 2004.
- [28] P.L. García, "The Poincaré–Cartan invariant in the calculus of variations", Symposia Mathematica XIV (Convegno di Geometria Simplettica e Fisica Matematica, INDAM, Rome, 1973), 219–246. Academic Press, London, 1974.
- [29] G. Giachetta, L. Mangiarotti and G. Sardanashvily, New Lagrangian and Hamiltonian methods in field theory, 1st ed., World Scientific Publishing Co. Inc., River Edge, NJ 1997.
- [30] H. Goldschmidt and S. Sternberg, "The Hamilton-Cartan formalism in the calculus of variations", Ann. Inst. Fourier 23(1) (1973), 203–267.

- [31] M.J. Gotay, J. Isenberg and J.E. Marsden, "Momentum maps and classical relativistic fields. I. Covariant theory", MSRI Preprints, arXiv:physics/9801019 [math-ph] (2004).
- [32] D. Iglesias-Ponte, M. de León and D. Martín de Diego, "Towards a Hamilton-Jacobi theory for nonholonomic mechanical systems", J. Phys. A: Math. Theor. 41(1) (2008) 015205.
- [33] J.V. José and E.J. Saletan Classical dynamics. A contemporary approach, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 1998.
- [34] O. Krupková, "Hamiltonian field theory", J. Geom. Phys. 43(2-3) (2002) 93-132.
- [35] O. Krupková and A. Vondra, "On some integration methods for connections on fibered manifolds", Proc. Conf. Opava, Silesian Univ. Opava, Math. Publ. 1 (1992) 89–101.
- [36] M. Leok and D. Sosa, "Dirac structures and Hamilton-Jacobi theory for Lagrangian mechanics on Lie algebroids", arXiv:1211.4561 [math-ph] (2012)
- [37] M. Leok, T. Ohsawa and D. Sosa, "Hamilton-Jacobi theory for degenerate Lagrangian systems with holonomic and nonholonomic constraints", J. Math. Phys. 53(7) (2012) 072905.
- [38] M. de León, J. Marín-Solano and J.C. Marrero, "A geometrical approach to classical field theories: a constraint algorithm for singular theories", New Developments in Differential Geometry (Debrecen, 1994), Eds. L. Tamassi and J. Szenthe, *Math. Appl.* **350** 291–312. Kluwer Acad. Publ., Dordrecht 1996.
- [39] M. de León, J.C. Marrero and D. Martín de Diego, "A geometric Hamilton-Jacobi theory for classical field theories", Variations, geometry and physics 129–140, Nova Sci. Publ., New York, 2009.
- [40] M. de León, J.C. Marrero and D. Martín de Diego, "Linear almost Poisson structures and Hamilton-Jacobi equation. Applications to nonholonomic mechanics", J. Geom. Mech. 2(2) (2010) 159–198.
- [41] M. de León, J.C. Marrero, D. Martín de Diego, M. Salgado and S. Vilariño, "Hamilton-Jacobi theory in k-symplectic field theories", Int. J. Geom. Methods Mod. Phys. 7(8) (2010) 1491–1507.
- [42] M. de León, D. Martín de Diego and M. Vaquero, "A Hamilton-Jacobi theory for singular Lagrangian systems in the Skinner and Rusk setting", Int. J. Geom. Methods Mod. Phys. 9(8) (2012) 1250074.
- [43] M. de León, D. Martín de Diego and M. Vaquero, "On the Hamilton-Jacobi theory for singular Lagrangian systems", J. Math. Phys. 54(3) (2013) 032902.
- [44] M. de León, D. Martín de Diego and M. Vaquero, "A Hamilton-Jacobi theory on Poisson manifolds", J. Geom. Mechs. 6(1) (2014) 121–140.
- [45] M. de León and S. Vilariño, "Hamilton-Jacobi theory in k-cosymplectic field theories", Int. J. Geom. Methods Mod. Phys. 11(1) (2014) 1450007.
- [46] P. Libermann and C.M. Marle, Symplectic geometry and analytical mechanics, Mathematics and its Applications 35. D. Reidel, Dordrecht, 1987.
- [47] G. Marmo, G. Morandi and N. Mukunda, "A geometrical approach to the Hamilton-Jacobi form of dynamics and its generalizations", *Riv. Nuovo Cimento* 13(8) (1990) 1–74.
- [48] G. Marmo, G. Morandi and N. Mukunda, "The Hamilton-Jacobi theory and the analogy between classical and quantum mechanics", J. Geom. Mech. 1(3) (2009) 317–355.
- [49] T. Ohsawa and A.M. Bloch, "Nonholomic Hamilton-Jacobi equation and integrability", J. Geom. Mech. 1(4) (2011) 461–481.
- [50] T. Ohsawa, A.M. Bloch and M. Leok, "Nonholonomic Hamilton-Jacobi theory via Chaplygin Hamiltonization", J. Geom. Phys. 61(8) (2011) 1263–1291.
- [51] T. Ohsawa, A.M. Bloch and M. Leok, "Discrete Hamilton-Jacobi theory", SIAM J. Control Optim. 49(4) (2011) 1829–1856.
- [52] P.D. Prieto-Martínez and N. Román-Roy, "A new multisymplectic unified formalism for second-order classical field theories", arXiv:1402.4087 [math-ph], 2014.
- [53] N. Román-Roy, "Multisymplectic Lagrangian and Hamiltonian formalisms of classical field theories", Symmetry Integrability Geom. Methods Appl. (SIGMA) 5 (2009) Paper 100.

- [54] H. Rund, The Hamilton-Jacobi theory in the calculus of variations: Its role in mathematics and statistics, D. Van Nostrand Co., London-Toronto, Ont.-New York, 1966.
- [55] E.J. Saletan and A.H. Cromer, *Theoretical Mechanics*, J. Wiley, New York, 1971.
- [56] G. Sardanashvily, Generalized Hamiltonian formalism for field theory. Constraint systems, World Scientific Publishing Co., Inc., River Edge, NJ, 1995.
- [57] D.J. Saunders, The geometry of jet bundles, London Mathematical Society, Lecture notes series 142, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, New York 1989.
- [58] D. Vey, "Multisymplectic formulation of vielbein gravity. I. De Donder-Weyl formulation, Hamiltonian (n-1)-forms", arXiv:1404.3546 [math-ph] (2014).
- [59] L. Vitagliano, "The Hamilton-Jacobi formalism for higher-order field theories", Int. J. Geom. Meth. Mod. Phys. 7(8) (2010) 1413–1436.
- [60] L. Vitagliano, "Hamilton-Jacobi difficties", J. Geom. Phys. **61**(10) (2011) 1932–1949.
- [61] H. Wang, "Symmetric Reduction and Hamilton-Jacobi Equation of Rigid Spacecraft with a Rotor", J. Geom. Symmetry Phys. 32 (2013) 87-111.
- [62] H. Wang, "Hamilton-Jacobi Theorems for Regular Controlled Hamiltonian System and Its Reductions", arXiv:1305.3457 [math.SG] (2013).